NEW ISSUE — BOOK-ENTRY ONLY

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Special Tax Counsel, interest on the 2010 Bonds
is not excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section
103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

ENERGY NORTHWEST
$155,805,000
Columbia Generating Station Electric Revenue Bonds, Series 2010-D
(Taxable Build America Bonds — Direct Payment)

Dated: Date of delivery Due: July 1, as shown below

The Columbia Generating Station Electric Revenue Bonds, Series 2010-D (Taxable Build America Bonds — Direct
Payment) (the “2010 Bonds”) are being issued to finance costs of acquiring fuel for the Columbia Generation Station and to
finance a portion of the costs of certain capital improvements to the Columbia Generating Station, as more fully described
herein. See “PURPOSE OF ISSUANCE” herein.

The 2010 Bonds will be issued in fully registered form, registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Registered Owner
and nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). DTC will act as securities depository for
the 2010 Bonds. Individual purchases will be made in book-entry form, in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples
thereof. Solong as Cede & Co. is the Registered Owner of the 2010 Bonds and nominee of DTC, references herein to holders
or Registered Owners shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds. Principal of the
2010 Bonds is payable at the designated office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Seattle, Washington,
as Trustee for the 2010 Bonds. Interest on the 2010 Bonds is payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 of each year,
commencing July 1, 2011. As long as Cede & Co. is the Registered Owner as nominee of DTC, payments on the 2010
Bonds will be made to such Registered Owner, and disbursement of such payments will be the responsibility of DTC
and DTC Participants as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 2010 BONDS—GENERAL—Book-Entry System:;
Transferability and Registration” and Appendix [—“BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM” herein.

The 2010 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as set forth herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 2010
BONDS—REDEMPTION” herein.

The 2010 Bonds are special revenue obligations of Energy Northwest, payable solely from the sources
described herein, including amounts derived pursuant to Columbia Net Billing Agreements with the United
States of America, Department of Energy, acting by and through the Administrator of the

BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

(“Bonneville”) from net billing credits and from cash payments from the Bonneville Fund, as described herein.
Bonneville’s obligations under the Net Billing Agreements are not general obligations of the United States of
America and are not secured by the full faith and credit of the United States of America. The 2010 Bonds are
payable as provided herein on a subordinated basis to the Prior Lien Bonds and do not constitute an obligation
of the State of Washington or of any political subdivision thereof, other than Energy Northwest. Energy
Northwest has no taxing power. The Columbia Generating Station is a separate project of Energy Northwest,
and the 2010 Bonds are payable solely from the revenues of the Columbia Generating Station. See “SECURITY
FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS” and Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION” herein.

MATURITY SCHEDULE
Year Interest
(July 1) Amount Rate Price CUSIP
2023 $ 23,425,000 5.61% 100% 29270CWK7
2024 132,380,000 5.71 100 29270CWJ0O

The 2010 Bonds are offered when, as, and if issued and received by the Underwriters, subject to the approval of
legality by Foster Pepper PLLC, Seattle, Washington, Bond Counsel to Energy Northwest, and to certain other
conditions. Certain tax matters will be passed upon by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Special Tax Counsel
to Bonneville. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for Energy Northwest by its General Counsel
and for Bonneville by its General Counsel and by its Special Counsel, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe
LLP. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by Fulbright & Jaworski
L.L.P.,, New York, New York, Counsel to the Underwriters. It is expected that the 2010 Bonds
will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC on or about December 22, 2010.

Citi Goldman, Sachs & Co. J.P. Morgan
BofA Merrill Lynch Prager, Sealy & Co., LLC

December 15, 2010
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by Energy Northwest or by the Underwriters to give
any information or to make any representations in connection with the issuance and sale of the 2010 Bonds, other than as
contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as
having been authorized by Energy Northwest or the Underwriters. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or
the solicitation of an offer to buy by, nor shall there be any sale of the 2010 Bonds to, any person in any jurisdiction in which
such offer, solicitation, or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such
jurisdiction.

The information set forth herein has been furnished by Energy Northwest and Bonneville and includes information
obtained from other sources which are believed to be reliable; however the information and expressions of opinion contained
herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall,
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of Energy Northwest or Bonneville
since the date hereof.

None of the information herein was provided by the Participants or the Trustee and none of such entities participated in
the preparation of this Official Statement. This Official Statement has not been submitted to such entities for review, comment or
approval.

This Official Statement contains statements which, to the extent they are not recitations of historical fact, may
constitute “forward-looking statements.” In this respect, the words “estimate,” “project,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“believe” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. A number of important factors affecting
Energy Northwest’s or Bonneville’s business and financial results could cause actual results to differ materially from those stated
in the forward-looking statements. Energy Northwest and Bonneville do not plan to issue any updates or revisions to the
forward-looking statements.

ELINT3 <

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: “The Underwriters
have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of; their respective responsibilities to
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do
not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.”

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE 2010 BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVERALLOT
OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 2010 BONDS AT
LEVELS ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

The CUSIP numbers are provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association
by Standard & Poor’s. The CUSIP numbers are not intended to create a database and do not serve in any way as a substitute for
CUSIP service. The CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience and reference only, and are subject to change. Neither
Energy Northwest nor the Underwriters take responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
$155,805,000

ENERGY NORTHWEST

Columbia Generating Station Electric Revenue Bonds, Series 2010-D
(Taxable Build America Bonds — Direct Payment)

INTRODUCTION

Energy Northwest furnishes this Official Statement, which includes the cover page hereof and the appendices hereto, in
connection with the sale of the 2010 Bonds (hereinafter defined). This Introduction is not intended to provide all information
material to a prospective purchaser of the 2010 Bonds and is qualified in all respects by the more detailed information set forth
elsewhere in this Official Statement. Unless otherwise specifically defined, certain capitalized terms used in this Introduction
have the meanings given to such terms elsewhere in this Official Statement.

Energy Northwest, a municipal corporation and a joint operating agency of the State of Washington, proposes to issue
$155,805,000 aggregate principal amount of Columbia Generating Station Electric Revenue Bonds, Series 2010-D (Taxable
Build America Bonds — Direct Payment) (the “2010 Bonds”).

The 2010 Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapters 39.46 and 43.52 of the Revised Code of Washington, as
amended (the “Act”) and Resolution No. 1042, adopted on October 23, 1997 (as amended and supplemented, the “Columbia
Electric Revenue Bond Resolution”) for the purpose of providing funds for acquiring fuel and to provide a portion of the costs of
certain additions and improvements to the Columbia Generating Station (“Columbia Generating Station” or “Columbia”). In
addition, Energy Northwest has indebtedness currently outstanding under Resolution No. 640, adopted on June 26, 1973 (as
amended and supplemented, the “Columbia Prior Lien Resolution”). Bonds issued pursuant to the Columbia Prior Lien
Resolution are referred to herein as the “Columbia Prior Lien Bonds,” and bonds issued pursuant to the Columbia Electric
Revenue Bond Resolution are referred to herein as the “Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds.”

Energy Northwest may issue bonds pursuant to the Act and Resolution No. 835, adopted on November 23, 1993 (as
amended and supplemented, the “Project 1 Electric Revenue Bond Resolution”). Energy Northwest has indebtedness currently
outstanding under Resolution No. 769, adopted on September 18, 1975 (as amended and supplemented, the “Project 1 Prior Lien
Resolution”). Bonds issued pursuant to the Project 1 Prior Lien Resolution are referred to herein as the “Project 1 Prior Lien
Bonds.” Bonds issued pursuant to the Project 1 Electric Revenue Bond Resolution are referred to herein as the “Project 1
Electric Revenue Bonds.” Energy Northwest is not issuing any Project 1 bonds at this time.

Energy Northwest may issue bonds pursuant to the Act and Resolution No. 838 adopted on November 23, 1993 (as
amended and supplemented, the “Project 3 Electric Revenue Bond Resolution,” and together with the Columbia Electric Revenue
Bond Resolution and the Project 1 Electric Revenue Bond Resolution, the “Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions™). Energy
Northwest has indebtedness currently outstanding under Resolution No. 775, adopted on December 3, 1975 (as amended and
supplemented, the “Project 3 Prior Lien Resolution,” and together with the Columbia Prior Lien Resolution and the Project 1
Prior Lien Resolution, the “Prior Lien Resolutions™). Bonds issued pursuant to the Project 3 Prior Lien Resolution are referred to
herein as the “Project 3 Prior Lien Bonds,” and together with the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds and the Project 1 Prior Lien Bonds,
are collectively referred to herein as the “Prior Lien Bonds.” Bonds issued pursuant to the Project 3 Electric Revenue Bond
Resolution are referred to herein as the “Project 3 Electric Revenue Bonds,” and together with the Columbia Electric Revenue
Bonds and Project 1 Electric Revenue Bonds are collectively referred to herein as the “Electric Revenue Bonds.” Energy
Northwest is not issuing any Project 3 bonds at this time.

The Prior Lien Bonds, the Electric Revenue Bonds, including the 2010 Bonds, and any bonds or notes issued pursuant
to the hereinafter defined Separate Subordinated Resolutions are collectively referred to herein as the “Net Billed Bonds.”

For additional information relating to the indebtedness to be refunded and other purposes of issuance, see “PURPOSE
OF ISSUANCE? in this Official Statement.

ENERGY NORTHWEST

Energy Northwest was organized in 1957 as the Washington Public Power Supply System. By resolution of its
Executive Board adopted on June 2, 1999, the Washington Public Power Supply System officially changed its name to Energy
Northwest. In 2009, Energy Northwest added three new members: Jefferson County and Lewis County Public Utility Districts
and the City of Centralia. In 2010, Energy Northwest added Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Oreille County as another
member. Energy Northwest now has 28 members, consisting of 23 public utility districts and the cities of Centralia, Port



Angeles, Richland, Seattle and Tacoma, all located in the State of Washington. Energy Northwest has the authority, among other
things, to acquire, construct and operate plants, works and facilities for the generation and transmission of electric power and
energy and to issue bonds and other evidences of indebtedness to finance the same.

Energy Northwest owns and operates a nuclear electric generating station, the Columbia Generating Station, with a net
design electric rating of 1,157 megawatts. Energy Northwest also owns and operates a hydroelectric facility, the Packwood Lake
Hydroelectric Project (“Packwood”), with a net design electric rating of 27.5 megawatts. Energy Northwest also owns and
operates the Nine Canyon Wind Project, which consists of 63 turbines with a maximum generating capacity of approximately 96
megawatts. In addition, Energy Northwest owns and has financial responsibility for four other nuclear electric generating
projects that have been terminated: Energy Northwest Nuclear Project No. 1 (“Project 1”), Energy Northwest Nuclear Project
No. 3 (“Project 3”) and Energy Northwest Nuclear Projects Nos. 4 and 5 (“Projects 4 and 5”). Projects 1 and 3 were terminated
in 1994, and Projects 4 and 5 were terminated in 1982. For discussions concerning the termination of Projects 1, 3, 4 and 5, see
“ENERGY NORTHWEST—PROJECT 1,” “-PROJECT 3,” and “—PROJECTS 4 and 5” in this Official Statement. Projects 1
and 3 and Columbia are collectively referred to herein as the “Net Billed Projects.” Each of Projects 1 and 3 and Columbia is
financed and accounted for as a separate utility system. Projects 4 and 5 were financed and accounted for as a single utility
system separate and apart from all other Energy Northwest projects. All of Energy Northwest’s projects are located in the State
of Washington. For additional information relating to Energy Northwest, see “ENERGY NORTHWEST” in this Official
Statement.

The United States of America, Department of Energy (“DOE”), acting by and through the Administrator of the
Bonneville Power Administration (“Bonneville”), has acquired the capability of Projects 1 and 3 and Columbia. As more fully
discussed under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS,”
Bonneville is obligated to pay Energy Northwest for such capability pursuant to Net Billing Agreements (hereinafter defined) for
Projects 1 and 3 and Columbia, with payments being made through a combination of credits against customer bills and cash
payments from the Bonneville Fund (hereinafter defined). Bonneville’s obligations to make such payments under the Net Billing
Agreements continue notwithstanding suspension or termination of any of Projects 1 or 3 or Columbia.

THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

The information under this heading has been derived from information provided to Energy Northwest by Bonneville.
For detailed information with respect to Bonneville, see Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION” in
this Official Statement.

Bonneville was created by Federal law in 1937 to market electric power from the Bonneville Dam and to construct
facilities necessary to transmit such power. Today, Bonneville markets electric power from 31 federally-owned hydroelectric
projects, most of which are located in the Columbia River Basin and all of which were constructed and are operated by the
United States Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps™) or the United States Bureau of Reclamation (the “Bureau’), and from
several non-federally-owned projects, including the Columbia Generating Station. Bonneville sells and/or exchanges power
under contracts with over 125 utilities in the Pacific Northwest and Pacific Southwest and with several industrial customers. It
also owns and operates a high voltage transmission system comprising approximately 75% of the bulk transmission capacity in
the Pacific Northwest.

Bonneville’s primary customer service area is the Pacific Northwest region, an area comprised of Oregon, Washington,
Idaho, western Montana and small portions of eastern Montana, California, Nevada, Utah and Wyoming (sometimes referred to
herein as the “Pacific Northwest,” the “Northwest,” the “Region,” or “Regional”). Bonneville estimates that this 300,000 square
mile service area has a population of approximately 12 million people. Electric power sold by Bonneville accounts for more than
one-third of the electric power consumed within the Region. Bonneville also exports power that is surplus to the needs of the
Region to the Pacific Southwest, primarily to California.

Bonneville is one of four regional Federal power marketing agencies within the DOE. Bonneville is required by law to
meet certain energy requirements in the Region and is authorized to acquire power resources, to implement conservation
measures and to take other actions to enable it to carry out its purposes. Bonneville is also required by law to operate and
maintain its transmission system and to provide transmission service to eligible customers and to undertake certain other
programs, such as fish and wildlife protection, mitigation and enhancement.

THE 2010 BONDS

The 2010 Bonds are special revenue obligations of Energy Northwest issued pursuant to the Columbia Electric
Revenue Bond Resolution. The 2010 Bonds are secured, on a subordinated basis to the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds, by a pledge
of all receipts, income and revenues derived by Energy Northwest from the ownership and operation of Columbia. The 2010
Bonds are secured on a parity with the Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds, and will be secured on a parity with any additional
bonds, notes or other obligations of Energy Northwest that are issued pursuant to the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond
Resolution or any Columbia Separate Subordinated Resolution described under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED
BONDS—ADDITIONAL INDEBTEDNESS.”



There are no restrictions on the issuance of debt under the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions or pursuant to the
Separate Subordinated Resolutions, so long as the Net Billing Agreements and the other Project agreements are in effect and no
event of default is existing under the applicable Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions. See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED
BONDS—ADDITIONAL INDEBTEDNESS” in this Official Statement.

Energy Northwest has covenanted that it will not issue any more Prior Lien Bonds or any other bonds, warrants or
other obligations that will rank on a parity with the pledge of and lien on the revenues created by the Prior Lien Resolutions.

The 2010 Bonds are secured on a subordinated basis to the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds from amounts derived pursuant
to Columbia Net Billing Agreements with and through Bonneville from net billing credits and from cash payments from the
Bonneville Fund, as described herein. The receipts, income and revenues derived from Columbia secure only the 2010 Bonds
and other Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds. Accordingly, the owners of the 2010 Bonds will have no claim on the receipts,
income and revenues securing any other Energy Northwest Project. For further information, see “SECURITY FOR THE NET
BILLED BONDS?” in this Official Statement.

For further information on the Net Billed Bonds outstanding as of October 31, 2010, see “ENERGY NORTHWEST—
ENERGY NORTHWEST INDEBTEDNESS” in this Official Statement.

NET BILLING AGREEMENTS

Under the Net Billing Agreements, the Participants in each Net Billed Project have contracted to purchase the
capability of that Net Billed Project and have agreed to provide Energy Northwest with funds necessary to meet the costs of that
Net Billed Project. These costs include the amounts that Energy Northwest is obligated to pay in each contract year into the
various funds provided for in the Prior Lien Resolution and Electric Revenue Bond Resolution related to such Net Billed Project
for debt service and for all other purposes of the Net Billed Project. The Net Billing Agreements also effected a simultaneous
assignment of the Project capability from the Participants to Bonneville and created an obligation of Bonneville to pay the
Participants (from net billing credits provided by Bonneville and from cash payments from the Bonneville Fund, as described
herein) for their respective shares of the costs of the Net Billed Projects. Thus, Bonneville is ultimately obligated to meet such
costs.

Under the Net Billing Agreements, payments to Energy Northwest generally are required to be made directly by the
Participants, not directly by Bonneville. Such payments by the Participants are to be made in accordance with each Participant’s
participation in the purchase of the capability of the Net Billed Project. Bonneville is required to pay for the capability of the Net
Billed Project assigned by the Participants to it by crediting (or net billing) Bonneville’s bills to Participants for power and other
services purchased by Participants from Bonneville by the amount of the payment required to be made by the Participants to
Energy Northwest. To the extent that the total amount of Bonneville’s bills to each Participant (and consequently the amount of
such credit available) over a contract year (July 1 to June 30) is less than the payment required to be made by the Participant to
Energy Northwest, Bonneville is obligated to pay the deficiency in cash to the Participant from the Bonneville Fund. In the
opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, under Federal statutes Bonneville may only make payments to the United States
Treasury from net proceeds; all cash payment obligations of Bonneville, including cash deficiency payments relating to Net
Billed Bonds and other operating and maintenance expenses, have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States
Treasury. Net proceeds are gross cash receipts remaining in the Bonneville Fund after deducting all of the costs paid by
Bonneville to operate and maintain the Federal System other than those used to make payments to the United States Treasury for:
(i) the repayment of the Federal investment in certain transmission facilities and the power-generating facilities at federally-
owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific Northwest; (ii) debt service on bonds issued by Bonneville and sold to the United
States Treasury; (iii) repayments of appropriated amounts to the Corps and the Bureau for certain costs allocated to power
generation at federally-owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific Northwest; and (iv) costs allocated to irrigation projects as are
required by law to be recovered from power sales.

Cash payments and the provision of credits by Bonneville and payments by Participants under each Net Billing
Agreement are required whether or not the related Net Billed Project is completed, operable or operating and notwithstanding the
suspension, interruption, interference, reduction or curtailment of Net Billed Project output or termination of the related Net
Billed Project, and such payments or credits are not subject to any reduction, whether by offset or otherwise, and are not
conditioned upon the performance or nonperformance by Energy Northwest, Bonneville or any Participant under the Net Billing
Agreements or any other agreement or instrument.

Bonneville’s obligations under the Net Billing Agreements are not general obligations of the United States of America
and are not secured by the full faith and credit of the United States of America.

As described under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING AND RELATED
AGREEMENTS—Direct Pay Agreements,” in 2006 Energy Northwest and Bonneville entered into an agreement with respect to
each Net Billed Project pursuant to which Bonneville pays at least monthly all costs for each Net Billed Project directly to
Energy Northwest. One effect of the Direct Payment Agreements is that each Participant pays Bonneville directly all costs
associated with the Participant’s contracts with Bonneville. The Direct Pay Agreements do not amend the Net Billing
Agreements. Although the payments to Energy Northwest under the Direct Pay Agreements are included under the respective
pledge of revenues for the related series of Net Billed Bonds, such agreements are not pledged to secure the payment of the



related series of Net Billed Bonds and are subject to termination and amendment solely upon mutual agreement of Bonneville
and Energy Northwest.

For further information as to the Net Billing Agreements, see “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET
BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS,” “LEGAL MATTERS” and Appendix G—‘SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF RELATED CONTRACTS” in this Official Statement. For information with respect to Bonneville, see
Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION” in this Official Statement.

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2010 BONDS
GENERAL

The 2010 Bonds are dated the date of their delivery, and mature on July 1 in the years and in the principal amounts
shown on the cover page of this Official Statement. The 2010 Bonds bear interest, payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year,
commencing July 1, 2011, at the rates shown on the cover page of this Official Statement. Interest on the 2010 Bonds will be
calculated based on a 360-day year, consisting of twelve 30-day months. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,
Seattle, Washington, has been appointed the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar for the 2010 Bonds (collectively, the
“Trustee”). For so long as the 2010 Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co. (as nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”)) or its registered assigns, payments of principal and interest shall be made in
accordance with the operational arrangements of DTC.

Book-Entry System; Transferability and Registration

The 2010 Bonds are available to the ultimate purchasers in book-entry form only, in denominations of $5,000 and
integral multiples thereof. Purchasers of the 2010 Bonds will not receive certificates representing their interests in such 2010
Bonds purchased, except as described in Appendix [—“BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM” in this Official Statement. DTC will act as
initial securities depository for the 2010 Bonds. As discussed in Appendix [—“BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM,” transfers of
ownership interests in the 2010 Bonds will be accomplished by book entries made by DTC and, in turn, by DTC Participants
acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds. Energy Northwest, the Trustee and any other person may treat the
Registered Owner of any 2010 Bond as the absolute owner of such 2010 Bond for the purpose of making payment thereof and for
all other purposes, and Energy Northwest and the Trustee shall not be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary, whether
such 2010 Bond shall be overdue or not. All payments of or on account of interest or principal to any Registered Owner of any
such 2010 Bond shall be valid and effectual and shall be a discharge of Energy Northwest and the Trustee in respect of the
liability upon such 2010 Bond, to the extent of the sum or sums paid.

When 2010 Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, Energy Northwest and the Trustee
shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant (as defined in Appendix [—“BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM”) or to
any person on behalf of whom a DTC Participant holds an interest in the 2010 Bonds with respect to (1) the accuracy of the
records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the 2010 Bonds, (2) the delivery to
any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a Registered Owner as shown on the bond register, of any notice with respect
to the 2010 Bonds, including any notice of redemption, (3) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a
Registered Owner as shown on the bond register, of any amount with respect to principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the
2010 Bonds, (4) the selection by DTC or any DTC Participant of any person to receive payment in the event of a partial
redemption of the 2010 Bonds, (5) any consent given or action taken by DTC as Registered Owner, or (6) any other matter.
Energy Northwest and the Trustee may treat and consider Cede & Co., in whose name each 2010 Bond is registered, as the
holder and absolute owner of such 2010 Bond for the purpose of payment, giving notices of redemption and other matters.

Discontinuation of Book-Entry Transfer System

If Energy Northwest determines to discontinue the book-entry system of transfer, Energy Northwest is required to
execute, authenticate and deliver at no cost to the Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds, 2010 Bonds in fully registered form, in
the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Thereafter, the principal of the 2010 Bonds shall be payable upon
due presentment and surrender thereof at the designated office of the Trustee, and interest on the 2010 Bonds will be payable by
check or draft mailed to the persons in whose names such 2010 Bonds are registered, at the address appearing upon the
registration books on the 15th day of the month next preceding an interest payment date; provided, however, that upon the written
request of a Registered Owner of at least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2010 Bonds outstanding, interest will
be paid by wire transfer on the date due to an account with a bank located in the United States. If the book-entry transfer system
for the 2010 Bonds is discontinued, registered ownership of any 2010 Bond may be transferred or exchanged by surrendering
such 2010 Bond to the Trustee, with the assignment form appearing on the 2010 Bond duly executed. The Trustee shall not be
required to transfer any 2010 Bond during the 15 days preceding an interest payment or redemption date.

DESIGNATION OF THE 2010 BONDS AS “BUILD AMERICA BONDS”

Energy Northwest expects to make irrevocable elections (i) to have Section S54AA of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “1986 Code”) apply to the 2010 Bonds so that the 2010 Bonds are treated as “Build America Bonds,” and



(ii) to have Subsection 54AA(g) of the 1986 Code apply to the 2010 Bonds so that Energy Northwest will be allowed a credit
payable by the United States Treasury to Energy Northwest pursuant to Section 6431 of the 1986 Code in an amount equal to
35% of the interest payable on the 2010 Bonds on each interest payment date. As a result of these elections, interest on the 2010
Bonds is not excludable from gross income of Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds for federal income tax purposes, and
Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds will not be allowed any federal tax credits as a result of their ownership of or receipt of
interest payments on the 2010 Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS.”

REDEMPTION
Optional Redemption

The 2010 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of Energy Northwest (with the approval of
Bonneville), in whole or in part, on any Business Day, at the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined herein) determined by
the Designated Investment Banker (as defined herein). Notwithstanding the foregoing, for so long as the 2010 Bonds are
registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, selection of the 2010 Bonds for redemption shall be in accordance with the
operational procedures of DTC then in effect.

The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” is the greater of (i) the issue price as shown on the cover page of this Official
Statement (but not less than 100% of the principal amount of the 2010 Bonds to be redeemed), or (ii) the sum of the present
values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the 2010 Bonds to be redeemed, not including any
portion of those payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the 2010 Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted
to the date on which such 2010 Bonds are to be redeemed on a semi-annual basis, assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve
30-day months, at the “Treasury Rate” (defined below) plus 35 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the 2010 Bonds
to be redeemed on the redemption date.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2010 Bond, the rate per annum, expressed
as a percentage of the principal amount, equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity or interpolated maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue (defined below), assuming that the Comparable Treasury Issue is purchased on the redemption date
for a price equal to the Comparable Treasury Price (defined below), as calculated by the Designated Investment Banker (defined
below).

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2010 Bond, the U.S. Treasury
security or securities selected by the Designated Investment Banker that has an actual or interpolated maturity comparable to the
remaining average life of the 2010 Bonds to be redeemed, and that would be utilized in accordance with customary financial
practice in pricing new issues of debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining average life of such 2010 Bonds to be
redeemed.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2010 Bond, (i) the most
recent yield data for the applicable U.S. Treasury maturity index from the Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 Daily Update
(or any comparable or successor publication) reported, as of 11:00 a.m. New York City time, on the Valuation Date; or (ii) if the
yield described in (i) above is not reported as of such time or the yield reported as of such time is not ascertainable, the average of
five Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for that redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotations, or if the Designated Investment Banker obtains fewer than five Reference Treasury Dealer
Quotations, the average of all such quotations.

“Designated Investment Banker” means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by Energy Northwest (with
the approval of Bonneville).

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means each of five firms, specified by Energy Northwest (with the approval of
Bonneville) from time to time, that are primary U.S. Government securities dealers in the City of New York (each, a “Primary
Treasury Dealer”); provided, however, that if any of them ceases to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, Energy Northwest will
substitute another Primary Treasury Dealer (with the approval of Bonneville).

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption
date for a particular 2010 Bond, the average, as determined by the Designated Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for
the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to Energy
Northwest, the Trustee and Bonneville by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:30 p.m. (New York City time) on the Valuation
Date.

“Valuation Date” means a date that is no earlier than four days prior to the date the redemption notice is to be mailed.
Extraordinary Optional Redemption

The 2010 Bonds are subject to redemption at any time prior to maturity at the option of Energy Northwest (with the
approval of Bonneville), in whole or in part, upon the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event, at a redemption price (the
“Extraordinary Optional Redemption Price”) equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the 2010 Bonds to be
redeemed, or (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the 2010
Bonds to be redeemed, not including any portion of those payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the



2010 Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted to the date on which the 2010 Bonds are to be redeemed, on a semi-annual basis,
assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, at the Treasury Rate (defined above) plus 100 basis points plus
accrued and unpaid interest on the 2010 Bonds to be redeemed to the redemption date.

An “Extraordinary Event” will have occurred if (a) Section 54AA or 6431 of the 1986 Code (as such Sections were
added by Section 1531 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, pertaining to “Build America Bonds™) is
modified or amended in a manner pursuant to which Energy Northwest’s 35% cash subsidy payment from the United States
Treasury Department is reduced or eliminated, or (b) guidance is published by the Internal Revenue Service or the United States
Treasury Department with respect to such Sections that places one or more substantive new conditions on the receipt by Energy
Northwest of such 35% cash subsidy payments and such condition(s) are unacceptable to Energy Northwest or Bonneville.

Partial Redemption

If less than all of the 2010 Bonds are to be redeemed, the 2010 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed are to be
selected by the Trustee or DTC, as applicable, in accordance with their standard procedures. The Columbia Electric Revenue
Bond Resolution provides that the portion of any 2010 Bonds of a denomination of more than $5,000 to be redeemed will be in
the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof and that in selecting portions of such 2010 Bonds for redemption,
the Trustee will treat each such 2010 Bonds as representing that number of such 2010 Bonds of $5,000 denomination that is
obtained by dividing the principal amount of such 2010 Bonds to be redeemed in part by $5,000.

The particular 2010 Bonds to be redeemed shall be determined by the Trustee, using such method as it shall deem fair
and appropriate. If the 2010 Bonds are registered in book-entry only form, and so long as DTC or a successor securities
depository is the sole registered owner of the 2010 Bonds, if less than all of a maturity of the 2010 Bonds are called for
redemption, the particular 2010 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata pass-through distribution
of principal basis in accordance with DTC procedures, provided that, so long as the 2010 Bonds are held in book-entry form, the
selection for redemption of such 2010 Bonds shall be made in accordance with the operational arrangements of DTC then in
effect. It is Energy Northwest’s intent that redemption allocations made by DTC, the DTC Participants or such other
intermediaries that may exist between Energy Northwest and the Beneficial Owners be made in accordance with the pro rata
pass-through distribution of principal basis described below. However, Energy Northwest can provide no assurance that DTC,
the DTC Participants or any other intermediaries will allocate redemptions among registered owners on such basis. If the DTC
operational arrangements do not allow for the redemption of the 2010 Bonds on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal
basis as discussed above, then the 2010 Bonds will be selected for redemption, in accordance with DTC procedures, by lot.

If the 2010 Bonds are not registered in book-entry only form, any redemption of less than all of a maturity of the 2010
Bonds shall be allocated among the registered owners of such 2010 Bonds as nearly as practicable in proportion to the principal
amounts of the 2010 Bonds owned by each registered owner, subject to the authorized denominations applicable to the 2010
Bonds. This will be calculated based on the following formula:

(principal amount to be redeemed) x (principal amount owned by registered owner)
(principal amount outstanding)

Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption of any 2010 Bond is to be given by the Trustee by first-class mail not less than 30 days nor more
than 60 days before the redemption date to the Registered Owners of the 2010 Bonds which are to be redeemed at their last
addresses shown on the registration books for the 2010 Bonds. Such notice shall be deemed conclusively to be received by the
Registered Owners of the 2010 Bonds which are to be redeemed, whether or not such notice is actually received. Mailing of such
notice of redemption shall not be a condition precedent to such redemption, and failure to mail any such notice or any defect
therein shall not affect the validity of the redemption proceedings for the 2010 Bonds being redeemed. Notice of redemption
having been given as described above, unless cancelled as described below, the 2010 Bonds called for redemption shall become
due and payable on the redemption date specified in such notice and interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and after the
redemption date, if money sufficient for the redemption of the 2010 Bonds to be redeemed, together with interest thereon to the
redemption date, is held by the Trustee for such 2010 Bonds on the redemption date and the 2010 Bonds (or such portions
thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the applicable resolutions. Energy Northwest may cancel notice
of an optional redemption prior to the designated redemption date by giving written notice of such cancellation to all parties who
were given notice of redemption in the same manner as such notice was given.

For so long as a book-entry system is in effect with respect to the 2010 Bonds, the Trustee will mail notices of
redemption to DTC or its nominee or its successor, and, if less than all of the 2010 Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, DTC
or its successor and Participants and Indirect Participants (as such terms are defined in Appendix [—‘BOOK-ENTRY
SYSTEM?”) will determine the particular ownership interests of 2010 Bonds to be redeemed. Any failure of DTC or its successor
or a Participant or Indirect Participant to do so, or to notify a Beneficial Owner of a 2010 Bond of any redemption, will not affect
the sufficiency or the validity or the redemption of 2010 Bonds.



Neither Energy Northwest, the Trustee, nor the Underwriters can give any assurance that DTC, the Participants or the
Indirect Participants will distribute such redemption notices to the Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds, or that they will do so
on a timely basis.

Open Market Purchases
Energy Northwest has reserved the right to purchase any 2010 Bonds on the open market at any time and at any price.
DEFEASANCE

The liens, pledges, charges, trusts, covenants and agreements of Energy Northwest made or provided for in the
Columbia Electric Revenue Bond Resolution shall be fully discharged and satisfied as to any 2010 Bond, and such 2010 Bond
shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding under the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond Resolution, when payment of principal
of and premium, if any, on such 2010 Bond, plus interest on such principal to the date thereof shall have been made or shall have
been provided for by irrevocably depositing with the Trustee or a separate paying agent for such 2010 Bond, in trust, and
irrevocably appropriating and setting aside exclusively for such payment, either (1) moneys sufficient to make such payment, or
(2) specified “defeasance obligations” maturing or redeemable at the option of the owner thereof, as to principal and interest in
such amount and at such times as will assure the availability of sufficient money to make such payment, together with all
necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the Trustee and the paying agent pertaining to such 2010 Bond.
Defeasance obligations are defined in RCW 39.53 and include direct obligations of the United States and certain obligations of
United States agencies and instrumentalities and others as defined under “Government Obligations” in Appendix H-1. See
Appendix H-1—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS AND
THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS—Defeasance (Article XI)” for a discussion of
defeasance of the 2010 Bonds.

If Energy Northwest defeases any 2010 Bond, such 2010 Bond may be deemed to be retired and “reissued” for
federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance. In that event, the Beneficial Owner of the 2010 Bond will
recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized from the deemed sale, exchange or
retirement (less any accrued qualified stated interest which will be taxable as such) and the Beneficial Owner’s adjusted
tax basis in the 2010 Bond. See “TAX MATTERS.”

PURPOSE OF ISSUANCE

The 2010 Bonds are being issued to finance costs of acquiring fuel for the Columbia Generating Station, to finance a
portion of the costs planned to be incurred during fiscal years 2011, 2012 and 2013 for certain capital improvements at Columbia,
and to pay costs of issuance relating to the 2010 Bonds. To meet future needs for fuel for the Columbia Generating Station
reactor, Energy Northwest expects to purchase approximately $62,000,000 of uranium in calendar year 2010. The planned
capital improvements expected to be financed in part by the 2010 Bonds of approximately $10,000,000, $51,000,000 and
$50,000,000 respectively for fiscal years 2011, 2012 and 2013 at Columbia include: various computer system upgrades; plant
fire detection system upgrade; reactor manual control system upgrade; plant license extension; replacement of the main
condenser; replacement of radiation monitors; replacement of moisture separator re-heater tube bundles; replacement of main
generator voltage regulator; replacement of main transformer; spent fuel storage; construction or replacement of numerous other
pumps, motors, valves and piping; and replacement of various pieces of equipment.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Principal 0f 2010 BOMNAS ....cvovviiiiiieieieeieie ettt sttt et e st et esteesaesse e st ebessaesseeseensesseenseeneensensaensens $_155.805.000
Total $§ 155,805,000
USES OF FUNDS

ACQUISTHON OF FUCL ...ttt e s e et s e et e st e esbesbeeseessasssesseessessesssanseessensesseans $ 61,615,330
Capital Improvements 92,623,098
COSES OF ISSUAICE ...vvinvieuiieiieiiiciieie et ettt ettt et et e et ebeettebeetsebeestesbeessessaessasseassassasssensesssessesssassesenssasenss 1,566,572
TOTAL ..ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt et e st e s e s b et e s et e s es e st et es s b ene s et e st e st et e st b e st b et et esensebene s et e s etensesenen $ 155,805,000



SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS
PLEDGE OF REVENUES AND PRIORITY

The 2010 Bonds are special revenue obligations of Energy Northwest issued under and pursuant to the Columbia
Electric Revenue Bond Resolution and are secured by a pledge of the receipts, income and revenues derived by Energy
Northwest from the ownership of Columbia, which pledge is subject, so long as any of the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds remain
outstanding ($150,200,000 of which were outstanding as of October 31, 2010), to the lien and pledge of the Columbia Prior Lien
Resolution. The 2010 Bonds are a charge on the receipts, income and revenues of Columbia subordinate to the payments to be
made into the Bond Fund, the Fuel Fund and the Reserve and Contingency Fund established pursuant to the Columbia Prior Lien
Resolution and payments required to be made under the Columbia Prior Lien Resolution with respect to Energy Northwest’s cost
of operating and maintaining Columbia, and amounts required for the payment of taxes, assessments and other governmental
charges or payments in lieu thereof. The 2010 Bonds are also secured by a pledge of the proceeds of the sale of Columbia
Electric Revenue Bonds, pending application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond
Resolution, and the Debt Service Fund created pursuant to the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond Resolution, including the
investments, if any, therein. Under the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond Resolution, the 2010 Bonds will be secured on a parity
with any bonds, notes or other obligations heretofore or hereafter issued by Energy Northwest under the Columbia Electric
Revenue Bond Resolution and other obligations of Energy Northwest issued pursuant to any Columbia Separate Subordinated
Resolution. There were outstanding as of October 31, 2010, $2,177,255,000 principal amount of Columbia Electric Revenue
Bonds.

As of October 31, 2010, there were $41,070,000 Project 1 Prior Lien Bonds outstanding. There were outstanding as of
October 31, 2010, $1,698,765,000 principal amount of Project 1 Electric Revenue Bonds.

As of October 31, 2010, there were $288,555,000 Project 3 Prior Lien Bonds outstanding. There were outstanding as
of October 31, 2010, $1,349,160,000 principal amount of Project 3 Electric Revenue Bonds.

Energy Northwest has covenanted with the owners of the Electric Revenue Bonds that it will not issue any more Prior
Lien Bonds or any other bonds, warrants or other obligations that will rank on a parity with the pledge of and lien on the revenues
created by the related Prior Lien Resolution.

Amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Columbia Net Billing Agreements entered into among Energy
Northwest, Bonneville and the Columbia Participants (which amounts are ultimately derived from net billing credits provided by
Bonneville and from cash payments from the Bonneville Fund) are the primary source of payment for the 2010 Bonds, subject to
the payments required in connection with the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds as described in the following sentence. So long as any
of the Columbia Prior Lien Bonds remain outstanding, after making the monthly payments and deposits required by the
Columbia Prior Lien Resolution, Energy Northwest is obligated to pay to the Trustee for the Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds
into the related Debt Service Fund, out of amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Columbia Net Billing Agreements,
amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds,
including the 2010 Bonds. See “—NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS” below.

Amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Project 1 Net Billing Agreements entered into among Energy
Northwest, Bonneville and the Project 1 Participants (which amounts are ultimately derived from net billing credits provided by
Bonneville and from cash payments from the Bonneville Fund) are the primary source of payment for any Project 1 bonds,
subject to the payments required in connection with the Project 1 Prior Lien Bonds as described in the following sentence. So
long as any of the Project 1 Prior Lien Bonds remain outstanding, after making the monthly payments and deposits required by
the Project 1 Prior Lien Resolution, Energy Northwest is obligated to pay to the Trustee for the Project 1 Electric Revenue Bonds
into the related Debt Service Fund, out of amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Project 1 Net Billing Agreements,
amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Project 1 Electric Revenue Bonds.
See “—NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS” below. There are no Project 1 Electric Revenue Bonds being issued
at this time.

Amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Project 3 Net Billing Agreements entered into among Energy
Northwest, Bonneville and the Project 3 Participants (which amounts are ultimately derived from net billing credits provided by
Bonneville and from cash payments from the Bonneville Fund) are the primary source of payment for any Project 3 bonds,
subject to the payments required in connection with the Project 3 Prior Lien Bonds as described in the following sentence. So
long as any of the Project 3 Prior Lien Bonds remain outstanding, after making the monthly payments and deposits required by
the Project 3 Prior Lien Resolution, Energy Northwest is obligated to pay to the Trustee for the Project 3 Electric Revenue Bonds
into the related Debt Service Fund, out of amounts paid to Energy Northwest pursuant to the Project 3 Net Billing Agreements,
amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Project 3 Electric Revenue Bonds.
See “—NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS” below. There are no Project 3 Electric Revenue Bonds being issued
at this time.

Bonneville may make only such expenditures from the Bonneville Fund as shall have been included in budgets
submitted annually to Congress. Bonneville includes in its annual budget submittal to Congress an amount sufficient to cover its
obligations under the Net Billing Agreements, including the payment of debt service on the Net Billed Bonds. Bonneville may



make such expenditures without further appropriation and without fiscal year limitation, but subject to such specific directives or
limitations on use of the Bonneville Fund as may be included by Congress in appropriation acts. The Bonneville Fund is a
continuing appropriation available exclusively to Bonneville for the purpose of making cash payments to cover Bonneville’s
expenses. All receipts, collections and recoveries of Bonneville in cash from all sources are deposited in the Bonneville Fund.
For a more complete discussion of the Bonneville Fund, see Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER
ADMINISTRATION-BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—The Bonneville Fund” in this Official Statement.

The 2010 Bonds are separately secured from any Project 1 bonds or Project 3 bonds and are not general obligations of
Energy Northwest. The owners of the 2010 Bonds will have no claim on the revenues or funds of any other Project of Energy
Northwest. No Bondholder has a claim on the assets of any Project.

The 2010 Bonds do not constitute an obligation of the State of Washington or of any political subdivision thereof, other
than Energy Northwest. Energy Northwest has no taxing power.

See Appendix H-1—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND
RESOLUTIONS AND THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS.”

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

For a description of the events of default and remedies applicable to the Electric Revenue Bonds, including the 2010
Bonds, see Appendix H-I—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND
RESOLUTIONS AND THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS—Events of Default and
Remedies.”

Under each Prior Lien Resolution, the happening of one or more of the following events constitutes an Event of
Default: (i) default in the performance of any obligation with respect to payments into the respective Revenue Fund; (ii) default
in the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, or default for 30 days in the payment of interest on any of the respective
Prior Lien Bonds or any sinking fund installment for any of the respective Prior Lien Bonds; (iii) default for 90 days in the
observance and performance of any other of the covenants, conditions and agreements of Energy Northwest in the respective
Prior Lien Resolution; (iv) the sale or conveyance of any properties of the respective Net Billed Project (except as permitted by
the respective Prior Lien Resolution) or the voluntary forfeiture of any license, franchise, permit or other privilege necessary or
desirable in the operation of such Project; and (v) certain acts related to the insolvency or bankruptcy of Energy Northwest. Both
the applicable Prior Lien Bond Fund Trustee and the holders of not less than 20% in aggregate principal amount of the respective
Prior Lien Bonds then outstanding under the respective Prior Lien Resolution have the right to accelerate the maturity of such
Prior Lien Bonds after an Event of Default occurs under such Resolution. See Appendix H-2—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE PRIOR LIEN RESOLUTIONS—Events of Default; Remedies.”

Under each Prior Lien Resolution, the covenants referred to in clause (iii) of the preceding paragraph include the
following, among others: (a)completing construction of the respective Net Billed Project at the earliest practicable time,
operating such Project and the business in connection therewith in an efficient manner and at reasonable cost, maintaining such
Project in good condition and making all necessary and proper repairs, renewals and replacements, and (b) maintaining and
collecting rates and charges for capability, power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, furnished or
supplied through such Project which will be adequate, whether or not the generation or transmission of power by such Project is
suspended, interrupted or reduced for any reason whatsoever, to provide revenues sufficient, among other things, to pay the
expenses of operating and maintaining such Project and the debt service on the related Prior Lien Bonds. See Appendix H-2—
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE PRIOR LIEN RESOLUTIONS—Certain Covenants.”

If the maturity of Prior Lien Bonds or Electric Revenue Bonds, including the 2010 Bonds, were accelerated by the
applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee or the holders of the requisite principal amount of such bonds after an Event of Default
under the respective Prior Lien Resolution or Electric Revenue Bond Resolution, no assurance can be given that the principal
amount of the accelerated Prior Lien Bonds or Electric Revenue Bonds would be payable currently as a cost under the terms of
the Net Billing Agreements related to such Net Billed Project. See “NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—
Payment Procedures” and “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—LIMITATIONS ON REMEDIES” for a discussion
of the limitations of certain remedies.

If Bonneville and the Participants were obligated only to provide funds to meet the scheduled amounts due on the
respective Prior Lien Bonds and not the amounts due upon acceleration, moneys intended to be applied to the payment of the
respective Electric Revenue Bonds would be applied by the applicable Prior Lien Bond Fund Trustee to payment of such Prior
Lien Bonds, and the Electric Revenue Bonds would not be paid until such Prior Lien Bonds ceased to be outstanding or the Event
of Default giving rise to such acceleration were cured.

See Appendix H-2—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE PRIOR LIEN RESOLUTIONS” for further
information.

Payments and the provision of credits by Bonneville and payments by Participants under the Net Billing Agreements
relating to the Net Billed Projects that are required to be made to Energy Northwest to pay the principal of and interest on the
outstanding Net Billed Bonds issued for the related Net Billed Project are required to be made notwithstanding the occurrence of



an Event of Default. If an Event of Default occurs under the related Prior Lien Resolution, whether or not such Event of Default
gives rise to an acceleration of the Prior Lien Bonds outstanding under such Resolution, Energy Northwest is required under such
Resolution to pay all revenues of such Project thereafter received by it upon demand to the applicable Prior Lien Bond Fund
Trustee until all such Prior Lien Bonds have been paid in full or such Event of Default has been cured, whichever occurs first. In
such event, money intended to be applied to the payment of related Electric Revenue Bonds would be paid instead to the
applicable Prior Lien Bond Fund Trustee and such Electric Revenue Bonds would not be paid until such Prior Lien Bonds have
been paid in full or such Event of Default has been cured, whichever occurs first.

LIMITATIONS ON REMEDIES

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions and Prior Lien Resolutions,
payment of the principal of and interest on the 2010 Bonds may be accelerated. Any action to compel payment for money
damages or to accelerate payment would be subject to the limitations on legal claims and remedies against public bodies under
Washington law. The right to accelerate payments by a Washington municipality has not been tested by any Washington court.
Any remedies available to Bondholders are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions, which are in turn often subject to
discretion and delay and can be expensive and time-consuming to obtain. If Energy Northwest fails to comply with its covenants
under the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions or to pay principal of or interest on the 2010 Bonds, there can be no assurance that
available remedies will be adequate to fully protect the interest of the owners of the 2010 Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE
NET BILLED BONDS—EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES” for a discussion of possible limits of amounts payable
under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements in the event of acceleration of the Columbia Net Billed Bonds.

In addition to the limitations on remedies in the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions, the rights and obligations under
the 2010 Bonds may be limited by and are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws relating
to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles, and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate
cases. The opinion to be delivered by Foster Pepper PLLC, as Bond Counsel, concurrently with the issuance of the 2010 Bonds
will be subject to such limitations. See Appendix D-1—“PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL” and
Appendix D-2—“PROPOSED FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL.”

NO RESERVE ACCOUNT

There is no reserve account securing repayment of the 2010 Bonds. In the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions, Energy
Northwest has reserved the right to create a reserve account to secure a separate series of Electric Revenue Bonds.

ADDITIONAL INDEBTEDNESS

The Electric Revenue Bonds are subordinate to the Prior Lien Bonds. In each Electric Revenue Bond Resolution,
Energy Northwest has reserved the right to issue, upon satisfaction of certain conditions set forth therein, additional bonds or
notes under the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions or under one or more separate resolutions (“Separate Subordinated
Resolutions”) of the Executive Board creating a pledge of and lien on the receipts, income and revenues derived from the related
Project of equal rank with the pledge and lien created by such Electric Revenue Bond Resolution in favor of the Electric Revenue
Bonds. There are no restrictions on or conditions to issuing debt on a parity with the Electric Revenue Bonds under the Electric
Revenue Bond Resolutions, including the 2010 Bonds, pursuant to Separate Subordinated Resolutions, other than that the Net
Billing Agreements and other Project agreements must be in effect and no event of default may exist under the applicable Electric
Revenue Bond Resolution.

Conditions to the issuance of additional bonds pursuant to the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions are described in
Appendix H-1—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS AND
THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS.”

Each of the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions permits the use of certain credit facilities to secure the payment of the
related Electric Revenue Bonds and the incurrence by Energy Northwest of reimbursement obligations of the type referred to in
such Electric Revenue Bond Resolution to reimburse the issuer of a credit facility. Each of the Electric Revenue Bond
Resolutions also permits the use of interest rate exchange agreements or similar agreements. Such reimbursement obligations or
obligations of Energy Northwest under such interest rate exchange agreements, including any termination payments owed by
Energy Northwest, may be secured on a parity with the lien created by the Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions in favor of the
related Electric Revenue Bonds. See Appendix H-1—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC
REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS AND THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS.”

For information regarding the amount of bonds and other obligations of Energy Northwest outstanding under the
Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions and Separate Subordinated Resolutions, see “ENERGY NORTHWEST—ENERGY
NORTHWEST INDEBTEDNESS.”

NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS
General

Energy Northwest sold the entire capability of Project 1 to 104 publicly-owned utilities and rural electric cooperatives
(the “Project 1 Participants”) under net billing agreements (as amended, the “Project I Net Billing Agreements”). Energy
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Northwest sold the entire capability of the Columbia Generating Station to 94 publicly-owned utilities and rural electric
cooperatives (the “Columbia Participants”) under net billing agreements (as amended, the “Columbia Net Billing Agreements”).
Energy Northwest sold the entire capability of its ownership share of Project 3 to 103 publicly-owned utilities and rural electric
cooperatives (the “Project 3 Participants,” and collectively with the Project 1 Participants and the Columbia Participants, the
“Participants”) under net billing agreements (as amended, the “Project 3 Net Billing Agreements,” which, together with the
Project 1 Net Billing Agreements and the Columbia Net Billing Agreements, are collectively referred to as the “Net Billing
Agreements”). Under the Net Billing Agreements, each Participant assigned its share of the capability of the Net Billed Project
to Bonneville. Each of the Participants is a customer of Bonneville. Many of the Participants are Participants in more than one
Net Billed Project. See Appendix F—ENERGY NORTHWEST PARTICIPANT UTILITY SHARE OF FISCAL YEAR 2011
BUDGETS?” for a list of Participants and their respective shares of the Projects’ Fiscal Year 2011 Budgets.

Under the Net Billing Agreements, in payment for the share of the capability of each Net Billed Project purchased by
each Participant, such Participant is obligated to pay Energy Northwest an amount equal to its share of Energy Northwest’s costs
for such Net Billed Project, less amounts payable from sources other than the related Net Billing Agreements, all as shown on the
Participant’s Billing Statement referred to below under “NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—Payment
Procedures.” Bonneville is obligated to pay this amount to such Participant by providing net billing credits against the amounts
such Participant owes Bonneville under the Participant’s power sales and other contracts with Bonneville and by making the cash
payments described below (subject to the limitations described herein under Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER
ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—The Bonneville Fund”). Each Participant is obligated to
pay Energy Northwest an amount equal to the amount of such credits and cash payments as payment on account of its obligations
to pay for its share of the Net Billed Project capability.

The Net Billing Agreements provide for cash payments and the provision of credits by Bonneville and payments by
Participants whether or not the related Net Billed Project is completed, operable or operating and notwithstanding the suspension,
interruption, interference, reduction or curtailment of the Net Billed Project output or termination of the related Net Billed
Project, and such payments or credits are not subject to any reduction, whether by offset or otherwise, and are not conditioned
upon the performance or nonperformance by Energy Northwest, Bonneville or any Participant under the Net Billing Agreements
or any other agreement or instrument.

The Net Billing Agreements require each Participant to pay Energy Northwest the amount set forth in its Billing
Statement or accounting statement. Each Participant is required to make payments to Energy Northwest only from revenues
derived by the Participant from the ownership and operation of its electric utility properties and from payments made by
Bonneville under the Net Billing Agreements. Each Participant has covenanted that it will establish, maintain and collect rates or
charges for power and energy and other services furnished through its electric utility properties which shall be adequate to
provide revenues sufficient to make required payments to Energy Northwest under the Net Billing Agreements and to pay all
other charges and obligations payable from or constituting a charge and lien upon such revenues.

The authority of all of the Participants to enter into the Net Billing Agreements was affirmed in 1985 by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in City of Springfield v. Washington Public Power Supply System, et. al (“the
Springfield Case”). The United States Supreme Court denied a petition for a writ of certiorari. In upholding the Net Billing
Agreements, the court in the Springfield Case found that the Net Billing Agreements are contracts for the purchase of electricity
because the Net Billing Agreements place the dry hole risk on Bonneville and not on the Participants and because the Participants
will receive either electricity or a cash refund equal to their payments to Energy Northwest. For a discussion of Bond Counsel’s
opinion with respect to the enforceability of the Net Billing Agreements, see “LEGAL MATTERS.” For a summary of certain
provisions of the Net Billing Agreements, see Appendix G—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF RELATED
CONTRACTS.”

Pending the receipt of the ruling in the Springfield Case, Energy Northwest and Bonneville entered into certain
Assignment Agreements for each of Project 1, Columbia and Project3 (the “Assignment Agreements”). For additional
information with respect to the Assignment Agreements, see “NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—Assignment
Agreements” and Appendix G—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF RELATED CONTRACTS.”

By letter dated August 1, 1989 (the “1989 Letter Agreement”), Bonneville agreed with Energy Northwest that, in the
event any Participant shall be unable for any reason, or shall fail or refuse, to pay to Energy Northwest any amount due from such
Participant under its Net Billing Agreement for which a net billing credit or cash payment to such Participant has been provided
by Bonneville, Bonneville will be obligated to pay the unpaid amount in cash directly to Energy Northwest, unless payment of
such unpaid amount is made in a timely manner pursuant to the Net Billing Agreements.

As described under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING AND RELATED
AGREEMENTS—Direct Pay Agreements,” Energy Northwest and Bonneville executed an agreement with respect to each Net
Billed Project pursuant to which Bonneville agrees to monthly pay all costs for each Net Billed Project directly to Energy
Northwest and each Participant pays Bonneville directly all costs associated with the Participant’s contracts with Bonneville.
Although the payments to Energy Northwest under the Direct Pay Agreements are included under the respective pledge of
revenues for the related series of Net Billed Bonds, such agreements are not pledged to secure the payment of the related series of
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Net Billed Bonds and are subject to termination and amendment solely upon mutual agreement of Bonneville and Energy
Northwest.

All payments required to be made by Bonneville under the Net Billing Agreements, the Assignment Agreements, the
1989 Letter Agreement and the Direct Pay Agreements are to be made from the Bonneville Fund or other funds legally available
therefor. See “THE BONNEVILLE FUND” below.

Bonneville’s obligations under the Net Billing Agreements are not general obligations of the United States of America
and are not secured by the full faith and credit of the United States of America.

Payment Procedures

The Columbia Net Billing Agreements provide for the adoption by Energy Northwest of an Annual Budget, which, as
amended from time to time, shall make provision for all Columbia costs, including but not limited to, the amounts which Energy
Northwest is required to pay in each contract year (July 1 to June 30) into the various funds provided for in the Columbia Prior
Lien Resolution and the Columbia Electric Revenue Bond Resolution for debt service and all other purposes. The Annual
Budget also includes the source of funds proposed to be used. The Annual Budget is submitted to Bonneville and to the
Participants’ Review Board established under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements and becomes effective 30 days after
submitted unless it is disapproved by Bonneville or unless a recommendation or modification proposed by the Participants’
Review Board is not accepted by Energy Northwest. In the event of a dispute, the matter is referred to a Project Consultant as
described in Appendix G—*SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF RELATED CONTRACTS—The Project
Agreements.” Energy Northwest prepares a Billing Statement for that contract year for each Columbia Participant. The Billing
Statement shows such Participant’s share of the Annual Budget for Columbia less amounts payable from sources other than the
Columbia Net Billing Agreements. The Annual Budget and Billing Statements may be amended during a contract year, if
necessary. As described below, each Participant makes monthly payments to Energy Northwest in satisfaction of the amounts
due under its Billing Statement.

In the month preceding the beginning of each contract year and in each month thereafter, Bonneville renders a bill to
each Participant for power and other services under the Participant’s power sales and other contracts with Bonneville. In the first
month of the contract year, that bill shows an offsetting credit equal to the full amount of such bill to the extent of the
Participant’s share of the costs of Columbia. Within 30 days of receiving the monthly bill from Bonneville reflecting such credit,
the Participant must pay Energy Northwest an amount equal to the credit for Columbia received from Bonneville. In each month
thereafter during the contract year, such crediting by Bonneville and such payments to Energy Northwest by such Participant
continue until the credits received by such Participant equal the total amount shown on such Participant’s Billing Statement. The
effect of this payment procedure is that amounts due Bonneville from the Participants (up to the Participants’ obligations to
Energy Northwest as shown on their Billing Statements) are required to be paid by the Participants to Energy Northwest rather
than to Bonneville.

Project 1 and Project 3 have been terminated and, in accordance with the Net Billing Agreements for such Projects, the
related Net Billing Agreements terminated except for those provisions that provide for the billing and payment of the costs of
such Net Billed Project, including all amounts which Energy Northwest is required under the related Electric Revenue Bond
Resolution or Prior Lien Resolution to pay each year into the various funds for debt service and all other purposes, and the
crediting of the proceeds of the disposition of the assets of such terminated Net Billed Project in reduction of such costs. The
costs for each Net Billed Project after termination include all of Energy Northwest’s accrued costs and liabilities resulting from
Energy Northwest’s ownership, construction, operation (including cost of fuel) and maintenance of and renewals and
replacements to the terminated Project and all other Energy Northwest costs resulting from its ownership of such Project and the
salvage, discontinuance, decommissioning and disposition or sale thereof and all amounts which Energy Northwest is required
under the related Electric Revenue Bond Resolution or Prior Lien Resolution to pay in each year into the various funds for debt
service and all other purposes. The Columbia Net Billing Agreements have the same termination provision.

Since Project 1 and Project 3 have been terminated, Energy Northwest is required under each of the Project 1 Net
Billing Agreements and Project 3 Net Billing Agreements to provide monthly accounting statements to Bonneville and to each
Project 1 Participant and Project 3 Participant of all costs associated with such termination. The monthly accounting statements
are required to credit against such costs all amounts received by Energy Northwest from the disposition of assets of Project 1 and
Project 3. The Project 1 Net Billing Agreements provide that such monthly accounting statements shall continue until all
Project 1 Net Billed Bonds have been paid or funds are set aside for their payment or the final disposition of Project 1, whichever
is later. The Project 3 Net Billing Agreements provide that such monthly accounting statements shall continue until all Project 3
Net Billed Bonds have been paid or funds are set aside for their payment or the final disposition of Project 3, whichever is later.
If the monthly accounting statements show that such costs exceed such credits, each Project 1 Participant and Project 3
Participant, as the case may be, is required to pay its portion of such excess costs to Energy Northwest. The payments are to be
made at times and in amounts sufficient to discharge on a current basis the Project 1 Participant’s share or Project 3 Participant’s
share, as the case may be, of the amount which Energy Northwest is required to pay into the various funds provided in the related
Electric Revenue Bond Resolution or Prior Lien Resolution for debt service and all other purposes.
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In the event of a termination of the Columbia Generating Station, Energy Northwest is required under the Columbia
Net Billing Agreements to provide monthly accounting statements to Bonneville and to each Columbia Participant of all costs
associated with such termination in the manner discussed above for Project 1 and Project 3.

Post Termination Agreements

Bonneville and Energy Northwest have entered into Post Termination Agreements with respect to Projects 1 and 3,
each dated June 14, 1994 (the “Post Termination Agreements”), which, among other things, facilitate the administration,
budgeting and billing procedures with respect to such Projects. Nothing in the Post Termination Agreements impairs or prevents
Energy Northwest from including in the monthly accounting statements with respect to each such Project all costs and obligations
of Energy Northwest as discussed above.

Assignment of Participant Shares

If Bonneville determines that a Participant’s payment obligations to Bonneville under its power sales and other
contracts will not equal or exceed the Participant’s payment obligations during a contract year under its Net Billing Agreement
and, in the opinion of Bonneville and the Participant, such deficiency is expected to continue for a significant period, Bonneville
is required under the related Net Billing Agreement to use its best efforts to assign such Participant’s share of capability in the
Net Billed Project (and the associated benefits and obligations) to other Participants in the Net Billed Project or to other
Bonneville customers to the extent necessary to eliminate such Participant’s net billing deficiency. The Net Billed Project
capability so assigned would then be included by Bonneville under net billing arrangements with such other Participant or
customer.

If Bonneville were unable to arrange for such assignments, the Participant would be required to make such assignment
to other Participants pro rata. The other Participants would be obligated to accept such assignments to the extent required to
eliminate such deficiency. Such mandatory assignments to any Participant may not exceed 25% of that Participant’s original
share of the Net Billed Project capability without the consent of that Participant. In addition, no such mandatory assignment may
be made if it would cause the estimate of that Participant’s obligation to Energy Northwest to exceed the estimate of the credits
available to it from Bonneville, as estimated by Bonneville. Bonneville has made voluntary payments directly to Energy
Northwest on behalf of Participants prior to reassigning their shares to eliminate net billing deficiencies. See “NET BILLING
AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—Voluntary Payments by Bonneville to Energy Northwest on Behalf of Participants.”

The Net Billing Agreements provide that if reassignments cannot be made in amounts sufficient to bring into balance
the respective dollar obligations of Bonneville and a Participant and an accumulated balance in favor of such Participant from a
previous contract year is expected by Bonneville to be carried for an additional contract year, Bonneville is obligated to pay the
balance. Any subsequent monthly net balances that exceed the amount of Bonneville’s bill for that month will be paid to such
Participant by Bonneville as cash deficiency payments, subject to the limitations described herein under Appendix A—“THE
BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—The Bonneville Fund.” The
Participants are obligated to pay to Energy Northwest the amounts received from Bonneville within 30 days.

Voluntary Payments by Bonneville to Energy Northwest on Behalf of Participants

In 1979 and 1980, Bonneville and Energy Northwest entered into agreements with a large portion of the Participants
(representing between roughly 70-80% of the capability of each Project, depending on the Project) relating to payments to
Energy Northwest under the Net Billing Agreements. These agreements (“Voluntary Payment Agreements”) provide that
Bonneville, prior to making a reassignment of a Participant’s share, may (but is not required to) pay directly to Energy
Northwest, for the account of the Participant, the amount by which the Participant’s obligation to Energy Northwest exceeds the
billing credits allowed or estimated to be allowed to the Participant during the contract year. Under the Voluntary Payment
Agreements, the related Participants agreed that they would not seek payment from Bonneville for any amounts so paid to Energy
Northwest. In the case of Participants that have not signed Voluntary Payment Agreements, Bonneville has nonetheless made a
number of similar voluntary payments to Energy Northwest on their behalf. When Bonneville does so it notifies the related
Participants by letter that it has made such voluntary payments to Energy Northwest. See Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE
POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met”
for more information. Because of these payments, no reassignments of Participants’ shares or deficiency payments by
Bonneville to Participants have been necessary. These payments have also assisted in managing the cash flow requirements of
Energy Northwest.

Assignment Agreements

Pursuant to the Assignment Agreements, Energy Northwest assigned to Bonneville any rights to the capability of any
of the Net Billed Projects that Energy Northwest may obtain as a result of a reversion of a Participant’s share of such capability
to Energy Northwest or by any other means. For example, in the event that it were judicially determined that any Participant is
not obligated pursuant to the Net Billing Agreements to pay for any interest in Project capability which Bonneville obtains
pursuant to the Assignment Agreements, Bonneville agreed to pay directly to Energy Northwest the amounts that would have
been payable by the Participant under the Net Billing Agreements for such Project capability. For a summary of certain
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provisions of the Assignment Agreements, see Appendix G—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF RELATED
CONTRACTS.”

Direct Pay Agreements

Energy Northwest and Bonneville entered into an agreement with respect to each Net Billed Project (“Direct Pay
Agreements”) pursuant to which, beginning May 2006, Bonneville pays at least monthly all costs for each Net Billed Project,
including debt service on the Net Billed Bonds, directly to Energy Northwest. Each Participant pays directly to Bonneville all
costs associated with its power sales and other contracts with Bonneville instead of making such payments to Energy Northwest.
The Net Billing Agreements provide that Energy Northwest is to bill budgeted costs less amounts payable from sources other
than the Net Billing Agreements to Participants. Direct payments received from Bonneville under the Direct Pay Agreements are
considered a source other than the Net Billing Agreements and, therefore, the Net Billing Agreements were not amended. In the
Direct Pay Agreements, Energy Northwest agrees to promptly bill each Participant its share of the costs of the respective Project
under the Net Billing Agreements if Bonneville fails to make a payment when due under the Direct Pay Agreements. Although
the payments to Energy Northwest under the Direct Pay Agreements are included under the respective pledge of revenues for the
related series of Net Billed Bonds, such agreements are not pledged to secure the payment of the related series of Net Billed
Bonds and are subject to termination and amendment solely upon mutual agreement of Bonneville and Energy Northwest. If the
Direct Pay Agreements were terminated, Bonneville and Energy Northwest would return to the payment procedures described
under “Payment Procedures” above. See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—PLEDGE OF REVENUES AND
PRIORITY,” and Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL
OPERATIONS—Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met.”

Other Net Billing Obligations

In addition to the net billing obligations in connection with the Net Billed Projects, Bonneville has net billing
obligations to certain Participants in connection with that portion of the project capability associated with the 30% share of the
terminated Trojan Nuclear Project owned by the City of Eugene, Oregon, acting by and through the Eugene Water and Electric
Board. The credits and payments received by each Participant from Bonneville in each month under all of that Participant’s
agreements providing for net billing are required by the Net Billing Agreements to be allocated pro rata among all of the
Participants’ net billing obligations.

Bonneville is authorized to enter into additional contracts providing for net billing or similar credits. The Net Billing
Agreements provide that Bonneville and each Participant shall not enter into any agreement providing for net billing if
Bonneville estimates that, as a result of such agreement, the aggregate of its billings to such Participant will be less than 115% of
Bonneville’s net billing obligations to such Participant under all agreements between Bonneville and such Participant providing
for net billing. Bonneville has no present plans to enter into new agreements requiring net billing with Participants.

THE BONNEVILLE FUND

The Bonneville Fund is a continuing appropriation available exclusively to Bonneville for the purpose of making cash
payments to cover Bonneville’s expenses, including its cash payments to provide for that amount, if any, due under the Net
Billing Agreements which is not paid from net billing credits. All receipts, collections and recoveries of Bonneville in cash from
all sources are deposited in the Bonneville Fund. For a more complete discussion of the Bonneville Fund, see Appendix A—
“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—The Bonneville Fund.”

Bonneville may make expenditures from the Bonneville Fund, which are required to have been included in
Bonneville’s annual budget submitted to Congress, without further appropriation and without fiscal year limitation but subject to
such specific directives or limitations as may be included in appropriations acts, for any purpose necessary or appropriate to carry
out the duties imposed upon Bonneville pursuant to law, including making any cash payments required under the Net Billing
Agreements.

Net billing credits reduce Bonneville’s cash receipts by the amount of the credits. Thus, costs of the Net Billed
Projects, to the extent covered by net billing credits, can be met without regard to amounts in the Bonneville Fund.

Bonneville is required to make certain annual payments to the United States Treasury. These payments are subject to
the availability of net proceeds, which are gross cash receipts remaining in the Bonneville Fund after deducting all of the costs
paid by Bonneville to operate and maintain the Federal System (as defined in Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER
ADMINISTRATION?), other than those used to make payments to the United States Treasury for: (i) the repayment of the
Federal investment in certain transmission facilities and the power generating facilities at federally-owned hydroelectric projects
in the Pacific Northwest; (ii) debt service on bonds issued by Bonneville and sold to the United States Treasury; (iii) repayments
of amounts appropriated to the Corps and the Bureau for costs allocated to power generation at federally-owned hydroelectric
projects in the Pacific Northwest; and (iv) costs allocated to irrigation projects as are required by law to be recovered from power
sales. Bonneville met its fiscal year 2010 payment responsibility to the United States Treasury in full and on time.

For various reasons, Bonneville’s revenues from the sale of electric power and other services may vary significantly
from year to year. In order to accommodate such fluctuations in revenues and to assure that Bonneville has sufficient revenues to
pay the costs necessary to maintain and operate the Federal System, all cash payment obligations of Bonneville other than to the
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United States Treasury, including cash deficiency payments relating to Net Billed Bonds and other operating and maintenance
expenses, have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States Treasury. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General
Counsel, under Federal statutes, Bonneville may only make payments to the United States Treasury from net proceeds; all other
cash payments of Bonneville, including cash deficiency payments relating to Net Billed Bonds and other operating and
maintenance expenses, have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States Treasury for the costs described in (i)
through (iv) in the preceding paragraph.

The requirement to pay the United States Treasury exclusively from net proceeds would result in a deferral of United
States Treasury payments if net proceeds were not sufficient for Bonneville to make its payments in full to the United States
Treasury. Such deferrals could occur in the event that Bonneville were to receive less revenue or if Bonneville’s costs were
higher than expected. Such deferred amounts, plus interest, must be paid by Bonneville in future years. Bonneville has made all
payments to the United States Treasury in full and on time since 1984.

Because Bonneville’s payments to the United States Treasury may be made only from net proceeds, payments of other
Bonneville costs out of the Bonneville Fund have a priority over its payments to the United States Treasury. Thus, the order in
which Bonneville’s costs are met is as follows: (1) Net Billed Project costs and Trojan Nuclear Project costs to the extent
covered by net billing credits, (2) cash payments out of the Bonneville Fund to cover all required payments incurred by
Bonneville pursuant to law, including net billing cash payments and payments under the Direct Pay Agreements, but excluding
payments to the United States Treasury, and (3) payments to the United States Treasury. The costs of the Net Billed Projects are
currently covered through the Direct Pay Agreements rather than by net billing credits.

For further information, see Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met.” For a discussion of certain direct payments by
Bonneville for Federal System operations and maintenance, which payments would reduce the amount of deferrable
appropriations obligations Bonneville would otherwise be responsible to repay, see Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE
POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Direct Funding of Federal System Operations
and Maintenance Expense.”

Bonneville’s obligation under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements is to pay an amount equal to the costs of Columbia
less any other funds which are required to be specified in the Annual Budget as payable from sources other than the payments to
be made under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements. Similar language is found in the Net Billing Agreements for Project 3 and
Project 1. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, this provision would permit Bonneville to make payments on account
of debt service on all Net Billed Bonds for a Net Billed Project directly to the applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee. Such
payment would be made only pursuant to an agreement with the applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee requiring Bonneville to
make such payment directly to the applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee on or before the date such amounts would be
required to be paid by Energy Northwest to the applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee under the applicable Net Billed
Resolution. Bonneville has no present intention of undertaking such actions. The effect of such an agreement would be to
reduce the amount of costs included in the Annual Budget for the Net Billed Project to be paid under the Net Billing Agreements
by the amount of the debt service payable directly by Bonneville to the applicable Bond Fund Trustee or Trustee.

For further information see Appendix A—“THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS.”

ENERGY NORTHWEST
GENERAL

Energy Northwest, a municipal corporation and a joint operating agency of the State of Washington, was organized in
January 1957 pursuant to the Act. Energy Northwest was formerly known as Washington Public Power Supply System. The
name was officially changed to Energy Northwest on June 2, 1999. Energy Northwest has authority, among other things, to
acquire, construct and operate plants, works and facilities for the generation of and transmission of electric power and energy and
to issue bonds and other evidences of indebtedness for such purposes. Energy Northwest has the power of eminent domain, but
is specifically precluded from the condemnation of any plants, works or facilities owned and operated by any city, public utility
district or investor-owned utility. Energy Northwest has no taxing power.

Energy Northwest owns and operates Columbia and Packwood, which are currently in operation, and have net design
electric ratings of 1,157 megawatts and 27.5 megawatts, respectively. Energy Northwest also owns and operates the Nine
Canyon Wind Project, which has a maximum generating capacity of approximately 96 megawatts. Energy Northwest had four
nuclear electric generating projects that have been terminated: Projects 1, 3, 4 and 5. For discussions concerning the termination
of Projects 1, 3,4 and 5, see “—Project 1,” “—Project 3” and “—Projects 4 and 5.”

Each of Energy Northwest’s projects is treated and accounted for by Energy Northwest as a separate utility system,
with the exception of Projects 4 and 5, which together comprised a single utility system. Under Washington law, a joint
operating agency may create separate special funds for each of its utility systems and Energy Northwest has done so. The
resolutions of Energy Northwest pursuant to which its various series of bonds are issued provide that the income, receipts and
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revenues of each utility system are pledged solely to the payment of obligations incurred in connection with that utility system.
See Appendix C—“AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ENERGY NORTHWEST PROJECTS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED JUNE 30, 2010~ for the audited financial statements of each of Energy Northwest’s projects, including the report of the
independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has
not participated in the preparation or performed any procedures related to this Official Statement.

ENERGY NORTHWEST INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets forth the principal amounts of revenue bonds and refunding revenue bonds issued by Energy
Northwest and outstanding as of October 31, 2010.

ENERGY NORTHWEST REVENUE BONDS
OUTSTANDING AS OF OCTOBER 31, 2010

REVENUE BONDS PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
PROJECT 1:
Prior Lien Refunding Revenue Bonds ...........ccocoveeiiiniiiiinice $ 41,070,000
Electric Revenue Refunding Bonds ...........ceeeeieeiirinieniecieneeiesiceieie s 1,698,765,000
TOTAL PROJECT 1 $ 1,739,835,000
COLUMBIA:
Prior Lien Refunding Revenue Bonds ..........ccocceecieniniininienicnicnenieienens $ 150,200,000
Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds...........coeceriiinineiiniiiiceee 2,177,255,000
TOTAL COLUMBIA $ 2,327,455,000
PROIJECT 3:
Prior Lien Refunding Revenue Bonds ..........ccoceeeievinieniniienenieceieieeeens $ 288,555,000 (V
Electric Revenue Refunding Bonds 1,349,160,000
TOTAL PROJECT 3 $ 1,637,715,000
TOTAL NET BILLED REVENUE BONDS $ 5,705,005,000
Nine Canyon Wind Project Revenue Bonds @ ...........cccoooovvvivivroeeerceeescenan $ 140,765,000

[€)) Includes $163,663,460 accreted value of Compound Interest Bonds for Project 3, as of July 1, 2010.
2) Bonneville is not a party to any agreements that secure payment of the Nine Canyon Wind Project Revenue Bonds.

In 2000, Bonneville presented to Energy Northwest a proposal for a “Debt Optimization Program.” The Debt
Optimization Program involved extending the final maturities of outstanding Columbia Net Billed Bonds coming due prior to
2013 through a series of refunding bond issues. Implementing the Debt Optimization Program was intended to provide
Bonneville with cash flow flexibility in funding planned capital expenditures, allow Bonneville to advance the amortization of
Bonneville’s United States Treasury debt. Bonneville manages its overall debt portfolio to meet the objectives of:
(1) minimizing the cost of debt to Bonneville’s rate payers; (2) maximizing Bonneville’s access to its lowest cost capital sources
to meet future capital needs and minimize costs to rate payers; and (3) maintaining sufficient financial flexibility to meet
Bonneville’s financial requirements. See “THE BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION—BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL
OPERATIONS—Debt Optimization Program” in Appendix A. In 2000, Energy Northwest, in response to the Bonneville
proposal, adopted a Refunding Plan, which essentially adopted the Debt Optimization Program as proposed by Bonneville. In
2001, at Bonneville’s request to increase the scope of the Debt Optimization Program, Energy Northwest revised such 2000
Refunding Plan to increase the average life of outstanding Projects 1 and 3 Net Billed Bonds by extending the maturity of such
Projects 1 and 3 Net Billed Bonds for any future refinancing of such bonds. An additional objective of the Refunding Plan is to
advance refund outstanding, noncallable Net Billed Bonds when deemed appropriate by Energy Northwest and Bonneville. A
number of the Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds reflected in the previous table also were issued as part of the Debt
Optimization Program or Refunding Plan.

Bonneville and Energy Northwest currently do not expect to undertake future Energy Northwest debt refundings for the
purpose of implementing the Debt Optimization Program. However, Bonneville and Energy Northwest do expect to undertake
future refundings which extend maturities of outstanding Net Billed Bonds.
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Energy Northwest currently has a membership of 28, consisting of 23 public utility districts and the cities of Centralia,
Port Angeles, Richland, Seattle and Tacoma, all located in the State of Washington. Any public utility district and any municipal
entity within the State of Washington authorized to engage in the business of generating or distributing electricity may join
Energy Northwest.

Energy Northwest has its principal office in Richland, Washington. The Board of Directors of Energy Northwest is
comprised of 28 utility members, one from each of the member utilities. Pursuant to the Act, the powers and duties of the Board
of Directors are limited to (i) final authority on any decision to acquire, construct, terminate or decommission any power plants,
works and facilities, except that once such a final decision is made with respect to a nuclear power plant, the Executive Board has
authority to make all subsequent decisions regarding such plant; (ii) the election and removal of, and establishment of salaries
for, the five members of the Executive Board selected from among the members of the Board of Directors; and (iii) the selection
of three of the six members of the Executive Board who are outside directors. All other powers and duties of Energy Northwest,
including but not limited to the authority to sell any power plant, works and facilities, are vested in the Executive Board.

The Act provides that five of the members of the Executive Board of Energy Northwest are elected by the Board of
Directors from among its members and six are outside directors representative of policy makers in business, finance or science,
or having expertise in the construction or management of facilities such as those owned by Energy Northwest. Three of these six
outside directors are selected by the Board of Directors and three by the Governor of the State of Washington subject to
confirmation by the Washington State Senate.

The five members of the Executive Board who are elected from among the Board of Directors serve for four-year terms
and may be removed by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. The other members of the Executive Board serve for four-year
terms and may be removed by the Governor of the State of Washington for incompetence, misconduct or malfeasance in office;
provided, however, the three members appointed by the Governor may be removed without cause prior to their confirmation with
the consent of the Washington State Senate. The Chief Executive Officer and other staff of Energy Northwest serve at the will of
the Executive Board.

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Present Executive Board members are listed below.

Name Occupation Term Expires
Sid W. Morrison, Chairman Retired Executive June 2013
Jack Janda, Assistant Chairman Public Utility District Commissioner June 2014
Kathleen Vaughn, Secretary Public Utility District Commissioner June 2014
David Remington, Assistant Secretary Financial Consultant June 2012
K.C. Golden Executive June 2009*
Dan G. Gunkel Public Utility District Commissioner June 2014
Lawrence Kenney Retired Organized Labor Executive June 2010*
Skip Orser Retired Nuclear Executive June 2014
Will Purser Public Utility District Commissioner June 2014
Lori Sanders Public Utility District Commissioner June 2014
Tim Sheldon Washington State Senator June 2012

* K.C. Golden and Lawrence Kenney are considered members of the Executive Board until reappointed, or either of their
appointments are rescinded or another member is appointed by the Governor of the State of Washington.

MANAGEMENT

The following is a list of certain key senior staff of Energy Northwest.

Name Position Nuclear Industry Experience
Mark E. Reddemann Chief Executive Officer 32 years
Brad J. Sawatzke Vice President, Nuclear Generation/Chief Nuclear Officer 29 years
Dale K. Atkinson Vice President, Employee Development/Corporate Services 33 years
Sudesh K. Gambhir Vice President, Engineering 32 years
John W. Baker Vice President, Energy/Business Services 39 years
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EMPLOYEES

Energy Northwest currently employs approximately 1,205 employees. Of these employees, 322 are members of the
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (“IBEW?”), 148 are members of the United Steel Workers (“USW”) and seven
are members of the Hanford Atomic Metal Trades Council (“HAMTC”) unions. The IBEW union members comprise the
Administrative, Nuclear, Travelers and Plant bargaining groups; the USW union members constitute the Security Force
bargaining group; and the HAMTC union members comprise part of the Standards Lab Instrument Technicians. All of the
collective bargaining agreements will expire in the fall of 2012. A no-strike clause is included in each of the agreements. Energy
Northwest considers labor relations to be satisfactory.

INVESTMENT POLICY

Energy Northwest invests its funds in accordance with the authority provided by the Prior Lien Resolutions and the
Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions, and its investment policy covers all funds and investment activities under the direct authority
of Energy Northwest.

Investment securities purchased consist generally of obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which
is unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America or other investment securities permitted by the related Net Billed
Resolutions and Prior Lien Resolutions. The current investment policy does not permit the purchase of leveraged or derivative-
based investments.

For further information on the types of investments in which Energy Northwest is permitted to invest its funds, see
Appendix H-1—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS AND
THE SUPPLEMENTAL ELECTRIC REVENUE BOND RESOLUTIONS—Investment of Funds (Section 508)” and
Appendix H-2—“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE PRIOR LIEN RESOLUTIONS—Other Funds Established
by the Prior Lien Resolutions; Flow of Revenues.”

THE COLUMBIA GENERATING STATION
Description

Columbia is an operating nuclear electric generating station located about 160 miles southeast of Seattle, Washington,
near Richland, Washington on the DOE’s Hanford Reservation. The site has been leased from DOE for a term of 50 years
commencing July 1, 1972, with options to extend the lease for two consecutive ten-year periods.

Columbia commenced commercial operation in 1984 and has a net design electric rating of 1,157 megawatts.
Columbia consists of a General Electric Company-designed boiling water reactor and nuclear steam supply system, a
Westinghouse turbine-generator and the necessary transformer, switching and transmission facilities to deliver the output to the
transmission facilities of the Federal System located in the vicinity of Columbia. Bonneville has acquired the entire capability of
Columbia under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements. See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING
AND RELATED AGREEMENTS.”

Columbia consists of the following structures: the reactor building, the radioactive waste building, the turbine-
generator building, the diesel generator building, the service building, six mechanical-draft evaporative cooling towers, the
circulating water pumphouse and the river makeup water pumphouse. Makeup water to replace evaporative losses is obtained
from the Columbia River by means of three makeup water pumps. Emergency power is supplied to Columbia by diesel
generators sized to sustain all essential plant loads without the need for outside power sources. Columbia also includes the
Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation facility. For additional information concerning the Independent Spent Fuel Storage
Installation facility, see “ENERGY NORTHWEST—THE COLUMBIA GENERATING STATION—Nuclear Fuel” below.

Columbia also includes the plant engineering center and other office and support facilities located adjacent to the main
plant, the plant support facility located one mile southwest of the main plant and various administrative service buildings located
in Richland, Washington, approximately ten miles from the site.

Low-level radioactive waste generated at Columbia is disposed of at a commercial facility located on the Hanford
Reservation.

Management Discussion of Operations

All the power from Columbia is sold at cost to Bonneville through the Columbia Net Billing Agreements. Energy
Northwest has a maintenance, operating, fuel and capital budget for Columbia of $408 million for the 2011 fiscal year, which
ends on June 30, 2011.

The cost of production, using industry standard methodology (such cost calculation methodology includes general,
administration and capital costs, but excludes debt service, taxes, depreciation and decommissioning costs), of Columbia
electricity is budgeted at $55.18 per megawatt-hour for the 2011 fiscal year. This cost is higher than the $34.32 per megawatt-
hour for the 2010 fiscal year because the 2010 fiscal year did not include a refueling outage. The next scheduled outage will be
in May 2011. Energy Northwest continues to place a high priority on cost-containment.
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On May 8, 2009 the plant was shut down due to a decrease in pressure on the main generator and loss of seal oil. The
plant remained down for the planned refueling outage, which was scheduled to begin May 9, 2009. Since reconnecting to the
Federal System grid on June 24, 2009, the plant has been shut down four additional times, for a total of 45 days offline. The
causes of these shutdowns were due to a main turbine lube oil leak, an electrical fault and fire, repair of a limit switch
malfunction, and a hydraulic leak in the digital electro-hydraulic control system. The plant has run continuously since
reconnection to the Federal System grid on November 14, 2009.

Energy Northwest continues to focus on plant reliability and availability and increasing gross plant capacity as the
primary factors to reduce the cost of power. Initiatives to reduce losses of generation, such as reducing outage length and
reducing or eliminating the occurrences of forced outages, are continually being evaluated and implemented.

To increase the regional value of the plant’s generating capability over time, engineers continue to work on a proposal
to renew Columbia’s 40-year operating license by 20 years, from 2023 to 2043. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”)
established a protocol to handle license renewal applications and has granted numerous such requests since 2000. The final
Columbia License Renewal Application was submitted in January 2010.

Operating Performance

Columbia received a full operating license in March 1984, commenced commercial operation in December 1984, and
has been in operation since that time. Since commencing commercial operation, Columbia has operated at a cumulative capacity
factor of 72.4% and has generated 181,553,255 megawatt hours (net of station use) of electric power through September 2010.
However, in the past nine calendar years ending December 31, 2009, the cumulative capacity factor has been 87.1%.

Successful implementation of employee performance enhancement initiatives at Columbia has produced significant
positive results in plant performance. The three best generating fiscal years at Columbia since commencing commercial
operation have been in the last seven years. Columbia produced 8,124 million kilowatt hours of electric power in fiscal year
2010, as compared to 7,725 million kilowatt hours in fiscal year 2009. Generation increased 5.2% from fiscal year 2009 due to
the off year of the two-year refueling and maintenance outage cycle. Generation was lower than anticipated for a non-outage
year due to an electrical fire impacting August and September generation along with down powers in October and November to
allow for valve and hydraulic leak repairs.

Annual Costs

Annual costs for Columbia are derived from the audited financial statements for fiscal years ended June 30, 2009 and
2010 and are shown below. The information is developed on a cost basis with depreciation calculated on the straight-line method
by major components based on expected useful life.

Statement of Operations'”

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cost Category FY 2009 FY 2010
Operations, Maintenance and Overhead............cccocooveieiiiiiininecne $282,503 $204,973
NUCLEAr FUEL ... 27,118 35,433
Spent Fuel Disposal FEe......cviveriiviieriiiieiieieie e 7,380 7,655
GENETAtION TAXES.....uviiiieiieiieiie ettt s et eeeaaeesenaeeas 3,137 3,708
DeCOMMUSSIONING....cuverueetieiieierieeiieiieie sttt sttt see e sbe e nee 6,457 6,766
Depreciation and AMOItIZAtION .........ceeervieieriereerieeieieneeeese e seeenees 77,063 75,883
INvestment INCOME ........ccververieriieieie ettt (1,993) ( 475)
Interest Expense and Discount AMOTrtization ...........c.cceeevereeneenennnenne 118,981 115,430
Other EXpense/(REVENUE)........ccuevierieriieiieiieierieeieeeeesie e ( 888) (1,298)

Total Costs $519,758 $448,075

Net Generation (GWhs) (unaudited) 7,725 8,124®

(1) Amounts derived from audited Energy Northwest financial statements.
(2) The increase in generation from fiscal year 2009 to fiscal year 2010 was due to the off year of the two-year refueling and maintenance
outage cycle.

Capital Improvements

Energy Northwest has been making capital improvements to Columbia since it began commercial operation. Prior to
2003, these additional capital expenditures at Columbia were funded through the Columbia Net Billing Agreements, without
borrowings by Energy Northwest. Since 2003, Energy Northwest has funded some or all of its additional capital expenditures at
Columbia through the issuance of Columbia Electric Revenue Bonds.
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In fiscal year 2010, Energy Northwest spent $67.6 million on capital improvements at Columbia. Energy Northwest
expects to spend $96.6 million on capital improvements at Columbia in fiscal year 2011, $51 million in fiscal year 2012 and $50
million in fiscal year 2013. The capital improvements at Columbia are expected to include various computer system upgrades;
plant fire detection system upgrade; reactor manual control system upgrade; plant license extension; replacement of the main
condenser (the fiscal year 2009 Columbia Generating Station long-range plan estimated that the cost of the main condenser
project would be $95 million over three years); replacement of the radiation monitors; replacement of moisture separator re-
heater tube bundles; replacement of main generator voltage regulator; replacement of main transformer; spend fuel storage;
construct or replace numerous other pumps, motors, valves and piping; and replacement of various pieces of equipment. A
portion of the 2010 Bonds is expected to finance certain of the cost of these capital improvements in fiscal years 2011, 2012 and
2013.

Nuclear Regulatory Commission Actions

The NRC is a Federal agency that regulates the design, construction, licensing and operation of nuclear power plants.
Once a plant is licensed, one of the major activities of the NRC is the inspection of plant management and operation. The NRC
develops policies and administers programs for inspecting licensees to ascertain whether they are complying with NRC
regulations, rules, orders and license provisions. The NRC has the authority to suspend, revoke or modify the operating license
of commercial nuclear plants to correct deficiencies.

Energy Northwest’s activities related to operation and support of Columbia, like those of other licensed nuclear plant
operators, are periodically inspected by the NRC. In addition, the NRC normally maintains two on-site resident inspectors who
monitor plant activities on a day-to-day basis.

In addition to the day-to-day resident inspector activities, the NRC assesses the performance of nuclear plant operators,
including Columbia, by a process known as the Reactor Oversight Process (the “ROP”). The ROP is built upon a framework
directly linked to the NRC’s mission to protect public health and safety. The framework includes seven cornerstones of safety.
Within each cornerstone, a broad sample of information on which to assess plant operator performance in risk-significant areas is
gathered. The information is collected from plant performance indicator data submitted by the plant operator and from NRC risk-
informed baseline inspections.

The ROP calls for focusing inspections on activities where the potential risks are greater, applying greater regulatory
attention to facilities with performance problems and reducing regulatory attention of facilities that perform well, using objective
measurements of the performance of nuclear power plants whenever possible, giving the nuclear industry and the public timely
and understandable assessments of plant performance, avoiding unnecessary regulatory burdens of nuclear facilities and
responding to violations of regulations in a predictable and consistent manner that reflects the safety impact of the violations.

To monitor these seven cornerstones, the NRC assigns colors of Green, White, Yellow or Red to specific performance
indicators and inspection findings. For performance indicators, a Green coding indicates performance within an expected
performance level in which the related cornerstone objectives are met; White coding indicates performance outside an expected
range of nominal utility performance but related cornerstone objectives are still being met; Yellow coding indicates related
cornerstone objectives are being met, but with a minimal reduction in safety margin; and Red coding indicates a significant
reduction in safety margin in the area measured by that performance indicator. For inspection findings, Green findings are
indicative of issues that, while they may not be desirable, represent very low safety significance. White findings indicate issues
that are of low to moderate significance. Yellow findings are issues that are of substantial safety significance. Red findings
represent issues that are of high safety significance with a significant reduction in safety margin. For the Second Quarter of
2010, the reactor safety and radiation safety cornerstones had only Green findings. All performance indicators were also Green.
The Safeguards (Physical Protection) cornerstone information is not publicly available.

Results from the monitored cornerstones are compiled and published quarterly in the NRC’s Reactor Oversight Process
Action Matrix Summary at www.nrc.gov. The Safeguards (Physical Protection) cornerstone performance indicators and
inspection findings are not integrated into the Action Matrix Summary. The Action Matrix Summary reflects overall plant
performance, which is based on defined performance indicators and inspection findings. Individual plant performance is
segregated into one of five performance columns.

Best performing plants are included in the Licensee Response Column where routine (baseline) inspection and staff
interaction is the norm. The next level of performance is the Regulatory Response Column, which includes plants that have no
more than two White inputs in different Cornerstones of safe operation. Plants in this column are subject to NRC inspection
follow-up of utility corrective actions. There are three remaining Response Columns, including the Unacceptable Performance
Column, which includes plants that are not permitted to operate.

The NRC's Second Quarter 2010 Regulatory Oversight Process Summary lists 84 plants, including Columbia, in the
Licensee Response Column, 11 plants in the Regulatory Response Column, 9 plants in the Degraded Cornerstone Column, and
no plants in the next two lower columns, including the Unacceptable Performance Column. Because of Columbia's position in
the Licensee Response Column, the NRC is currently planning to conduct only baseline inspections.
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Institute of Nuclear Power Operations

The nuclear electric industry created the Institute of Nuclear Power Operations (“INPO”) in 1979. The INPO mission
is to promote the highest levels of safety and reliability in the operation of nuclear power plants. All United States utilities that
operate commercial nuclear power plants are INPO members. INPO conducts plant evaluations of all United States plants,
including Columbia, approximately every two years.

INPO completed a peer evaluation in October 2010 of Columbia's performance from October 2008 through September
2010. The evaluation found plant performance is acceptable and noted a number of strengths and accomplishments, as well as
areas for improvement. Improvement areas include human performance, leadership and equipment reliability. Energy
Northwest's Pride in Performance initiative was put in place in late-2009 to help drive these improvements. See “—Management
Discussion of Operations.”

Permits and Licenses

Energy Northwest has obtained all permits and licenses required to operate Columbia, including an NRC operating
license which expires in 2023. Energy Northwest has applied to the NRC for a renewed operating license. NRC accepted the
application and is currently conducting its review. If approved as expected, the renewed license will extend operation to 2043.
See “Nuclear Regulatory Commission Actions” above for a discussion of NRC inspection activities related to Columbia.

A site certification agreement for Columbia was executed with the State of Washington in May 1972. The site
certification requires Energy Northwest, among other things, to monitor the environmental effects of plant construction and plant
operation, comply with standards set for the consumption and discharge of water and for discharges to the air, and develop an
effective emergency plan. The state has also issued a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit and
the necessary Certificate of Water Right. The Certificate of Water Right expires when use ceases. The NPDES permit is
effective until May 2011 and is renewable for five-year terms thereafter. The Washington State Department of Natural
Resources has entered into a lease with Energy Northwest for that portion of the bed of the Columbia River which encompasses
the plant intake and discharge facilities. The Corps has issued a permit for construction and maintenance of the completed river
facilities.

Nuclear Fuel

The supply of nuclear fuel assemblies requires four basic activities prior to insertion of the fuel assemblies into a
nuclear reactor. These activities are acquisition of uranium concentrates, conversion of the uranium concentrates to uranium
hexafluoride, enrichment of the uranium hexafluoride and fabrication of the enriched uranium in the form of uranium oxide
pellets into finished fuel assemblies.

Fabrication services for the 2009 through 2013 reloads will be provided pursuant to a contract with Global Nuclear
Fuels — Americas, LLC.

Columbia operates on a 24-month fuel cycle. A 24-month fuel cycle eliminates the need for refueling outages every
year and results in increased average generation.

To meet the enriched uranium requirements for the reload fuel assemblies, Energy Northwest purchases uranium in
various forms and holds them in inventory until needed for fuel fabrication.

Energy Northwest has a contract with DOE that requires DOE to accept title and dispose of spent nuclear fuel. For this
future service, Energy Northwest pays a quarterly fee based on about one mill per kilowatt-hour of net electricity generated and
sold from Columbia ($6.54 million for the 12 months ended June 30, 2010). To permanently store the spent fuel from the
nation’s nuclear plants, DOE is evaluating proposed sites for a repository. Although courts ruled that DOE has an obligation to
begin taking title to the spent fuel no later than January 31, 1998, currently, there is no known date established when DOE will
fulfill this legal obligation and begin accepting spent nuclear fuel. Once DOE begins to accept spent fuel, it will accept the oldest
spent fuel first, on a national basis. Because Columbia is a relatively young plant, DOE does not plan to accept any spent fuel
from Columbia during the first ten years of repository operation. See “—NET BILLED PROJECTS LITIGATION AND
CLAIMS - Energy Northwest v. United States of America.”

Energy Northwest has completed the Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (“ISFSI”) project, which is a
temporary dry cask storage facility which is intended to store spent fuel until the DOE completes its plan for a national
repository. ISFSI will store the spent fuel in commercially available dry storage casks on a concrete pad at the Columbia site.
The ISFSI facility can be expanded in increments to accommodate future spent fuel discharges when necessary.

Decommissioning

The NRC has defined decommissioning as actions taken which result in the release of the property for unrestricted use
and termination of the nuclear power plant operating license. Currently, the nuclear industry recognizes three alternative
methods (decontamination, safe storage and entombment) to decommission a nuclear power plant. Energy Northwest’s
decommissioning plan is based on the safe storage method of decommissioning. Safe storage entails placing and maintaining the
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nuclear facility in a condition that allows it to be safely stored and subsequently decontaminated to levels that permit release for
unrestricted use. The NRC requires that this deferred decontamination period be no longer than 60 years.

Energy Northwest’s current estimate of Columbia decommissioning costs is approximately $877.0 million (in 2009
dollars). This estimate is based on the NRC minimum amount required to demonstrate reasonable financial assurance for a
boiling water reactor with the power level of Columbia. Additionally, site restoration requirements for Columbia are governed
by the site certification agreements between Energy Northwest and the State of Washington and regulations adopted by the
Washington Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council. Energy Northwest’s estimate of Columbia’s site restoration costs is
approximately $107.1 million (in 2009 dollars).

The current decommissioning funding plan requires annual deposits to a fund through fiscal year 2024, the end of
Columbia’s current operating license with the NRC. The plan assumes that such deposits will grow at a 2% real rate of return
and that Columbia will be placed in an approximately 60-year safe storage until 2085, at which time decontamination and
dismantling will be completed. Over the life of the fund, deposits and the earnings related to the reinvestment thereof are
expected to provide sufficient funds to cover the cash flow requirements to decommission Columbia. This plan will be re-
examined every two years and modified, if necessary, to assure that the projected fund balance complies with the then current
estimates and NRC requirements. Payments to the decommissioning trust fund have been made since 1985, and the balance of
cash and investment securities in the fund as of August 31, 2010, totaled approximately $139 million. A separate fund has been
established for site restoration. The balance of this fund as of August 31, 2010, totaled approximately $21 million. These
amounts are held in external accounts administered by Bonneville.

Insurance

Energy Northwest maintains a risk management and insurance program which incorporates a combination of self-
insurance, commercial insurance and nuclear property and liability insurance. Energy Northwest’s basic risk management
philosophy is to pay normal and expected losses from revenues and to purchase insurance to cover catastrophic losses. Energy
Northwest, as a licensee of the NRC, is subject to retrospective premiums for nuclear liability and property insurance on
Columbia. Claims relating to Columbia, Project 1 or Project 3 that are not covered by insurance are paid from revenues under the
related Project Net Billing Agreements.

Commercial liability insurance is purchased to cover all Energy Northwest premises and operations. This insurance
provides coverage for injury or damage arising from non-nuclear accidents or occurrences. Energy Northwest maintains nuclear
insurance in accordance with regulatory and Energy Northwest risk management policies.

Nuclear liability insurance covers third party damages arising out of a nuclear incident. Federal law limits public
liability for claims resulting from any nuclear incident to $12.595 billion under the Price-Anderson Act, as an amendment to the
Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (as amended, “Price-Anderson”).

In accordance with Price-Anderson, Energy Northwest has secured the maximum available insurance of $375 million
in coverage for Columbia’s public liability exposure. The remaining $12.22 billion of exposure is funded by the Secondary
Financial Protection Program, available through assessments by the federal government in case of a nuclear accident. Under
Price-Anderson, all nuclear reactor licensees can be assessed a maximum charge per reactor per incident. The maximum
assessment for each nuclear operator per reactor per incident is $117.5 million, payable at no more than $17.5 million per reactor
per incident per year (this assessment is payable under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements). The maximum deferred premium
per reactor and the yearly assessment per reactor for each nuclear incident will be adjusted for inflation every five years. The next
inflation adjustment should occur no later than October 29, 2013.

Nuclear property damage and decontamination liability insurance requirements are met through a combination of
commercial nuclear insurance policies purchased by Energy Northwest and Bonneville. The total amount of insurance purchased
is currently $2.75 billion. The deductible for this coverage is $5 million per occurrence. Additionally, Bonneville purchases
business interruption coverage, which pays $3.5 million per week, following a 12 week deductible period for the first year, and
then for the next 110 weeks pays 80% of this amount for a maximum indemnification of $490 million. The limits of liability and
policy coverage for Columbia meet all legal requirements for a nuclear power production facility and are consistent with that
purchased by other nuclear utilities relative to similar circumstances and exposures.

PACKWOOD LAKE HYDROELECTRIC PROJECT

Energy Northwest owns and operates Packwood, a hydroelectric generating facility which is capable of generating 26
megawatts of electricity. Packwood is located near the town of Packwood in Lewis County, Washington, approximately 75 miles
southeast of Seattle, Washington. Packwood was granted a FERC operating license on March 1, 1960, and began commercial
operation in June 1964. The initial FERC license has a duration of 50 years and expired on February 28, 2010. Based on the
existing FERC licensing process, Energy Northwest initiated relicensing efforts in fiscal year 2005 and an application requesting
a new 50-year license was submitted to FERC in April 2008. Energy Northwest anticipated receiving a decision by FERC in the
spring of 2010, but is still awaiting the decision. The plant will continue to run under its initial license until FERC’s decision is
rendered.
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In fiscal year 2010, production at Packwood totaled 86,070 net megawatt hours, down 13.4% from the previous year
due to lower water availability. Fiscal year 2010 was near the 30 year average annual generation for the facility of 86,970
megawatt-hours. The electric power produced at the facility is expected to generate enough revenues to pay all Packwood costs.

Until October 2002, the electric power produced at the facility was sold to Bonneville for distribution to the original 12
public utilities who are the Packwood participants. The Packwood participants are required to pay their share of the annual
budget of the project, which includes debt service on the Packwood bonds, whether or not the project is producing power or
capable of producing power. Public Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County (“Snohomish PUD”) is purchasing all the base
energy output of Packwood from the other participants and sells the excess on the open market. The contract with Snohomish
PUD is for the period October 2008 to October 2011.

NINE CANYON WIND PROJECT

Energy Northwest owns and operates the Nine Canyon Wind Project, a wind energy project, which is capable of
generating 95.9 megawatts of electricity. The project is located on leased land near Kennewick, Washington. The 49 wind
turbines of the Nine Canyon Wind Project have a power generating capacity of 1,300 kilowatts each and there are an additional
14 wind turbines with 2,300 kilowatts of power generating capacity each. The turbines were manufactured by Siemens Power
Generation, Inc. (previously BONUS Energy A/S). The project is a separate system of Energy Northwest and the bonds are
secured by, and payable solely from, the revenues derived by Energy Northwest under power purchase agreements executed with
public utility purchasers. The purchasers are required to pay their share of the annual budget of the project, which includes debt
service on the related bonds, whether or not the project is operating or capable of operating. Power costs for the project billed to
the purchasers ranged from 6.3 cents per kilowatt hour to 7.1 cents per kilowatt hour during fiscal year 2010.

In fiscal year 2010, the Nine Canyon Wind Project produced 226,730 net megawatt-hours of electricity compared to
226,270 net megawatt-hours in fiscal year 2009.

PROJECT 1

Project 1 is a partially completed nuclear electric generating project located about 160 miles southeast of Seattle,
Washington, on DOE’s Hanford Reservation, approximately one and one-half miles east of Columbia, and was terminated in
May 1994. The Project 1 Project Agreement and the Project 1 Net Billing Agreements ended upon termination of Project 1,
except for certain provisions relating to billing and payment processes. See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—
NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—Payment Procedures” in this Official Statement. The Project 1 Post
Termination Agreement facilitates the administration, budgeting and payment processes post termination. After termination,
Energy Northwest offered to sell assets in the form of uninstalled operating equipment and construction materials since there was
no market for the sale of Project 1 in its entirety. Certain of these assets have been sold.

Energy Northwest has been planning for the demolition of Project 1 and restoration of the site. In addition to funding
for the payment of debt service on Project 1 Net Billed Bonds, funding has continued for administrative efforts associated with
asset sales and planning for the demolition and site restoration activities for Project 1. Sources of funding are derived through the
Project 1 Net Billing Agreements. The Project 1 Post Termination Agreement requires Bonneville to fund this site remediation
plan for Projects 1 and 4. The cost for both sites’ remediation is estimated at $22.5 million in calendar year 2009 dollars.
Bonneville has placed funds in an external interest-bearing account in order to have sufficient funds for the eventual final
remediation.

PROJECT 3

Project 3 is a partially complete nuclear electric generating project located in southeastern Grays Harbor County,
Washington, approximately 70 miles southwest of Seattle, Washington, and was terminated in June 1994. The Project 3 Project
Agreement and the Project 3 Net Billing Agreements ended upon termination of Project 3, except for certain provisions relating
to billing and payment processes. See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING AND RELATED
AGREEMENTS—Payment Procedures” in this Official Statement. The Project 3 Post Termination Agreement facilitates the
administration, budgeting and payment processes post termination.

After termination, Energy Northwest offered to sell assets in the form of uninstalled operating equipment and
construction materials in light of the fact that there was no market for the sale of Project 3 in its entirety. During 1995, a group
from Grays Harbor County, Washington, interested in local economic development, formed the Satsop Redevelopment Project.
The Satsop Redevelopment Project is a coalition of governments established by inter-local agreement between Grays Harbor
County, the Port of Grays Harbor and Public Utility District No. 1 of Grays Harbor County. In 1999, Energy Northwest
transferred the Project 3 site properties and facilities (other than the Satsop combustion turbine site) to such local public agencies
for purposes of economic development. In connection with that transfer, these local public agencies assumed responsibility for
any required site remediation. The Satsop combustion turbine site was sold in 2001 to Duke Energy Grays Harbor LLC for $10
million.
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PROJECTS 4 AND 5§

Projects 4 and 5 were terminated in January 1982. The Project 4/5 Bonds went into default on July 22, 1983. After
extended litigation and ultimate settlement, all trusts created under the resolution authorizing the Project 4/5 Bonds were
terminated, and Energy Northwest and the trustee under the resolution were released from all of their obligations thereunder.

ENERGY/BUSINESS SERVICES

More than a decade ago, Energy Northwest set out to develop new sources of electricity generation and provide energy
and environmental related services to meet the needs of its member utilities and the region. Since 1992, Energy Northwest has
provided a wide range of chemical analysis and environmental monitoring services to utility, municipal, commercial, and nuclear
customers. Energy Northwest is a founding member of NoaNet, offering access to a fiber-optic cable network licensed from
Bonneville and other broadband providers. Energy Northwest is actively investing in emerging technologies through its support
of the Applied Process Engineering Laboratory, currently in its twelfth year of operation.

FUTURE RESOURCES

Energy Northwest has executed a joint development agreement for the Radar Ridge Wind Project (the “Radar Ridge
Wind Project”) with Public Utility Districts No. 1 of Clallam and Grays Harbor Counties, Public Utility District No. 3 of Mason
County and Public Utility District No. 2 of Pacific County for a site in Pacific County near Naselle, Washington. Public Utility
Districts No. 1 of Clallam and Grays Harbor Counties have publicly announced their intention to cease participation and Energy
Northwest has begun seeking substitute utilities. Energy Northwest has entered into a 40-year lease with the Department of
Natural Resources that will support up to 27 multi-megawatt wind turbines and has submitted a request to Bonneville to
interconnect the Radar Ridge Wind Project at its Naselle 115kV substation as a network expansion. An Interconnection
Feasibility Study determined that up to 82 megawatts of existing electrical capacity is available at this location without system
upgrade. Public Utility District No. 2 of Pacific County has committed to develop a project substation, collection, distribution
and transmission facilities to serve the Radar Ridge Wind Project and will own, operate and maintain this infrastructure for the
life of the project. Project development has progressed to the permitting stage, with approvals expected by December 2011.

Energy Northwest holds an option to lease approximately 16 acres at the Port of Kalama for a potential natural gas
project. Development options for the natural gas power plant on this site are being assessed.

NET BILLED PROJECTS LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The following is a discussion of litigation and claims relating to the Net Billed Projects to which Energy Northwest is a
party:

Energy Northwest v. United States of America. This is an action filed by Energy Northwest against the United States
of America (the “Government”) in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims in January 2004 for breach of contract and breach of implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing. On June 13, 1983, Energy Northwest entered into a written contract with the United
States for disposal of spent nuclear fuel (“SNF”) and high-level radioactive waste. The Government, in its contract, agreed to
accept and dispose of the SNF beginning not later than January 31, 1998. The Government failed to meet its obligation. Energy
Northwest seeks recovery of damages for, among other things, substantial costs resulting from the Government’s breach of
contract, including but not limited to (1) the costs to investigate, design, license, and construct alternative storage facilities and to
purchase and load casks to store SNF at those facilities; and (2) the operations, maintenance, and security costs Energy Northwest
will incur to store SNF at Columbia beyond the time that the Government would have removed all the SNF had it not breached
the contract. On January 30, 2006, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims ruled that the Government breached its contract with Energy
Northwest as of January 31, 1998, when it failed to begin accepting SNF from the nuclear utility industry on that date. Trial
occurred in February 2009; and in February 2010, the Court awarded Energy Northwest damages in the amount of $56,859,345.
The Government filed a notice of appeal on April 26, 2010; and the appeal is in process. The outcome of the appeal and the
extent of the damages award cannot be predicted at this time.

LEGAL MATTERS

The approving opinion of Foster Pepper PLLC, Bond Counsel to Energy Northwest, as to the legality of the 2010
Bonds will be in substantially the form appended hereto in Appendix D-1—“PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND
COUNSEL.” The opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Special Tax Counsel, as to the status of the interest on the
2010 Bonds for federal income tax purposes will be in substantially the form appended hereto in Appendix E—“PROPOSED
FORM OF OPINION OF SPECIAL TAX COUNSEL.”

Bond Counsel will also render a supplemental opinion with respect to the validity and enforceability of the Columbia
Net Billing Agreements and the Columbia Assignment Agreements. As to the due authorization, execution and delivery of such
Columbia Net Billing Agreements and the Columbia Assignment Agreements by Bonneville and certain other matters relating to
Bonneville, Bond Counsel will rely on the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel. In rendering its opinion with respect to the
Columbia Net Billing Agreements, Bond Counsel will assume, among other things, (1)the due incorporation and valid
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organization and existence as a municipality, publicly owned utility or rural electric cooperative, as applicable, of each Columbia
Participant, (2) the due authorization by such Columbia Participant of the requisite governmental or corporate action, as the case
may be, and due execution and delivery of the Columbia Net Billing Agreements to which such Columbia Participant is a party
and that all assignments of any Columbia Participants’ obligations under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements were properly
made, and (3) with respect to the Columbia Participants’ obligations under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements, no conflict or
violations under applicable law. In rendering its opinion as to the enforceability of the Columbia Net Billing Agreements against
the Columbia Participants, Bond Counsel will assume the continued obligations of Bonneville, and performance by Bonneville of
its obligations under, the Columbia Net Billing Agreements and Columbia Assignment Agreements, and such opinion will not
address the effect on the enforceability against the Columbia Participants if Bonneville is no longer obligated under the Columbia
Net Billing Agreements and Columbia Assignment Agreements or of nonperformance thereunder by Bonneville. The
assumption in the prior sentence will not affect Bond Counsel’s opinion as to the enforceability of the Columbia Net Billing
Agreements and Columbia Assignment Agreements against Bonneville. In the event a Columbia Participant’s obligations under
the Columbia Net Billing Agreements are no longer enforceable against such Columbia Participant, it is the opinion of Bond
Counsel that Bonneville is obligated under the Columbia Net Billing Agreements, the Columbia Assignment Agreements and the
1989 Letter Agreement to pay to Energy Northwest the amounts required to be paid by such Columbia Participant under the
Columbia Net Billing Agreement. A copy of the proposed form of supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel is appended hereto in
Appendix D-2—“PROPOSED FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL.”

See “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—NET BILLING AND RELATED AGREEMENTS—
Assignment Agreements” for a discussion of Bonneville’s agreement to pay directly to Energy Northwest certain amounts that
are not paid by a Columbia Participant and for a discussion of certain of Bonneville’s obligations under the Columbia
Assignment Agreements.

Certain legal matters, including the enforceability against Bonneville of the Columbia Net Billing Agreements and the
Columbia Assignment Agreements, will be passed upon for Bonneville by its General Counsel and by its Special Counsel,
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, New York, New York.

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by Fulbright & Jaworski L.L.P., New York, New York,
Counsel to the Underwriters.

TAX MATTERS

At closing, Special Tax Counsel is expected to deliver its opinion, based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations,
rulings and court decisions, that interest on the 2010 Bonds is not excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes
under Section 103 of the 1986 Code. Special Tax Counsel is expected to express no opinion regarding any other tax
consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the 2010 Bonds.

If Energy Northwest defeases any 2010 Bond, such 2010 Bond may be deemed to be retired and “reissued” for
federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance. In that event, the Beneficial Owner of the 2010 Bond will
recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized from the deemed sale, exchange or
retirement (less any accrued qualified stated interest which will be taxable as such) and the Beneficial Owner’s adjusted
tax basis in the 2010 Bond. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 2010 BONDS—DEFEASANCE.”

CIRCULAR 230 DISCLAIMER

Investors are urged to obtain independent tax advice regarding the 2010 Bonds based upon their particular
circumstances. The tax discussion above regarding the 2010 Bonds was not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used,
for the purposes of avoiding taxpayer penalties. The advice was written to support the promotion or marketing of the 2010
Bonds.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The Employees Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and the Code generally prohibit
certain transactions between a qualified employee benefit plan under ERISA or tax-qualified retirement plans and individual
retirement accounts under the Code (collectively, the “Plans”) and persons who, with respect to a Plan, are fiduciaries or other
“parties in interest” within the meaning of ERISA or “disqualified persons” within the meaning of the Code. All fiduciaries of
Plans should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the consequences of any investment in the 2010 Bonds.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“S&P”)
and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) have assigned the 2010 Bonds the ratings of Aaa, AA and AA, respectively. Ratings were applied for

-25-



by Energy Northwest and certain information was supplied by Energy Northwest and Bonneville to such rating agencies to be
considered in evaluating the 2010 Bonds. Such ratings reflect only the respective views of such rating agencies, and an
explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained only from the rating agency furnishing the same. There is no
assurance that any or all of such ratings will be retained for any given period of time or that the same will not be revised
downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agency furnishing the same if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any
such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the 2010 Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriters have jointly and severally agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase the 2010 Bonds from
Energy Northwest and to make a bona fide public offering of such 2010 Bonds at not in excess of the public offering prices (or
yields corresponding to such prices) set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement. Aggregate underwriters’
compensation under the bond purchase contract for the 2010 Bonds is $899,407. The Underwriters’ obligations are subject to
certain conditions precedent contained in the bond purchase contracts and they will be obligated to purchase all of such 2010
Bonds being sold under the applicable bond purchase contract if any such 2010 Bonds are purchased. The 2010 Bonds may be
offered and sold to certain dealers, banks and others (including underwriters and other dealers depositing such 2010 Bonds into
investment trusts) at prices lower than such initial offering prices and such initial offering prices may be changed from time to
time by the Underwriters of the 2010 Bonds.

Citigroup Inc., parent company of Citigroup Global Markets Inc., one of the underwriters of the 2010 Bonds, has
informed Energy Northwest and Bonneville that it has entered into a retail brokerage joint venture with Morgan Stanley. As part
of the joint venture, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will distribute municipal securities to retail investors through the financial
advisor network of new broker-dealer, Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. This distribution arrangement became effective on
June 1, 2009. As part of this arrangement, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC
for its selling efforts with respect to the 2010 Bonds.

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JPMS”), one of the underwriters of the 2010 Bonds, has informed Energy Northwest and
Bonneville that it has entered into negotiated dealer agreements (each, a “Dealer Agreement”) with each of UBS Financial
Services Inc. (“UBSFS”) and Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“CS&Co.”) for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings,
including the 2010 Bonds, at the original issue prices. Pursuant to each Dealer Agreement, each of UBSFS and CS&Co. will
purchase the 2010 Bonds from JPMS at the original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to
any 2010 Bonds that such firm sells.

The Underwriters have provided the following information to Energy Northwest for inclusion in this Official
Statement. The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities,
which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, principal
investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. Certain of the Underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from
time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various investment banking services for the Energy Northwest and
Bonneville, for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses. In the ordinary course of their various business
activities, the Underwriters and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt
and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (which may include bank loans and/or credit
default swaps) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short positions in
such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of the Energy
Northwest and Bonneville.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Rule 15¢2-12”), Energy Northwest and
Bonneville will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to be dated the date of delivery of the 2010 Bonds, for the benefit
of the owners and Beneficial Owners of the 2010 Bonds, to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to
Energy Northwest (the “Energy Northwest Annual Information”), certain financial information and operating data relating to
Bonneville (the “Bonneville Annual Information” and, together with Energy Northwest Annual Information, the “Annual
Information”) and to provide timely notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events with respect to the 2010 Bonds.
Energy Northwest Annual Information is to be provided not later than December 31 of each year, commencing with the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2011. The Bonneville Annual Information is to be provided not later than March 31 of each year,
commencing with the fiscal year ended September 1, 2010. The Annual Information and notices of aforesaid enumerated events
will be filed by Energy Northwest with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”). Currently, the information
filed with the MSRB is available to the public without charge through its Electronic Municipal Market Access system
(“EMMA”). Energy Northwest and Bonneville have complied with all previous undertakings with respect to Rule 15¢2-12. The
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nature of the information to be provided in the Annual Information and the notices of such events is set forth in Appendix J—
“SUMMARY OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.”

INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM

Under the State Constitution, the voters of the State have the ability to initiate legislation and modify existing
legislation through the powers of initiative and referendum, respectively. The initiative power in Washington may not be used to
amend the State Constitution. Initiatives and referenda are submitted to the voters upon receipt of a petition signed by at least 8%
(initiative) and 4% (referenda) of the number of voters registered and voting for the office of Governor at the preceding regular
gubernatorial election. Any law approved in this manner by a majority of the voters may not be amended or repealed by the
Legislature within a period of two years following enactment, except by a vote of two-thirds of all the members elected to each
house of the Legislature. After two years, the law is subject to amendment or repeal by the Legislature in the same manner as
other laws. Any such initiatives or referenda could affect the laws governing Energy Northwest. There have been several state
initiatives involving energy issues, including a recent one requiring certain electric utilities to obtain a percentage of their
electricity from renewable resources.

MISCELLANEOUS

The references, excerpts and summaries contained herein of the Prior Lien Resolutions, Electric Revenue Bond
Resolutions, the Net Billing Agreements, the Columbia Project Agreement, the Assignment Agreements, the Post Termination
Agreements and any other documents or agreements referred to herein do not purport to be complete statements of the provisions
of such documents or agreements, and reference should be made to such documents or agreements for a full and complete
statement of all matters relating to the 2010 Bonds, the basic agreements securing the 2010 Bonds and the rights and obligations
of the holders thereof. Copies of the forms of the Prior Lien Resolutions, Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions, Net Billing
Agreements, the Columbia Project Agreement, Assignment Agreements and the Post Termination Agreements and other reports,
documents, agreements and studies referred to herein and in the Appendices hereto are available upon request at the office of
Energy Northwest in Richland, Washington.

The authorizations, agreements and covenants of Energy Northwest are set forth in the Prior Lien Resolutions and
Electric Revenue Bond Resolutions, and neither this Official Statement nor any advertisement of the 2010 Bonds is to be
construed as a contract with the holders of such 2010 Bonds. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters
of opinion or estimates, whether or not expressly so identified, are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact.

Bonneville has furnished the information herein relating to it.

ENERGY NORTHWEST

By: /s/_Sid W. Morrison
Chairman, Executive Board

By: /s/ Richard A. Bresnahan
Authorized Officer
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APPENDIX A

BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

The information in this Appendix A has been furnished to Energy Northwest (“Energy Northwest” or, the “Issuer”) by
Bonneville for use in the Official Statement, dated December 15, 2010, furnished by the Issuer (the “Official
Statement”) with respect to its Columbia Generating Station Electric Revenue Bonds, Series 2010-D (Taxable Build
America Bonds — Direct Payment) (the “Series 2010 Bonds”). (The Columbia Generating Station is described in the
Official Statement under “ENERGY NORTHWEST.” The Columbia Generating Station and Energy Northwest’s
Project 1 and Project 3 are referred to collectively in this Appendix A as the “Net Billed Projects.”) Such information is
not to be construed as a representation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Underwriters. The Issuer has not
independently verified such information and is relying on Bonneville’s representation that such information is accurate
and complete. At or prior to the time of delivery of the Series 2010 Bonds, Bonneville will certify to the Issuer that the
information in this Appendix A, as well as information pertaining to Bonneville contained elsewhere in the Official
Statement, is true and correct and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material
fact necessary in order to make the statements in this Appendix A and in the Official Statement pertaining to
Bonneville, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

GENERAL

Bonneville was created by an act of Congress in 1937 to market electric power from the Bonneville Dam located on the
Columbia River and to construct facilities necessary to transmit such power. Congress has since designated Bonneville
to be the marketing agent for power from all of the Federally-owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific Northwest.
Bonneville, whose headquarters are located in Portland, Oregon, is one of four regional Federal power marketing
agencies within the United States Department of Energy (“DOE”). Many of Bonneville’s statutory authorities are
vested in the Secretary of Energy, who appoints, and acts by and through, the Bonneville Power Administrator. Some
other authorities are vested directly in the Bonneville Power Administrator.

Bonneville’s primary enabling legislation includes the following Federal statutes: the Bonneville Project Act of 1937
(the “Project Act”); the Flood Control Act of 1944 (the “Flood Control Act”); Public Law 88-552 (the “Regional
Preference Act”); the Federal Columbia River Transmission System Act of 1974 (the “Transmission System Act”); and
the Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act of 1980 (the “Northwest Power Act”). Bonneville now
markets electric power from 31 Federal hydroelectric projects, most of which are located in the Columbia River basin
and all of which are owned and operated either by the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”) or the United
States Bureau of Reclamation (“Reclamation”). Bonneville also has acquired on a long-term basis and markets power
from several non-Federally-owned and -operated projects, including the Columbia Generating Station, an operating
nuclear generating station owned by Energy Northwest and having a rated capacity of approximately 1,150 megawatts.
(Although the rated capacity of Columbia Generation Station is 1,150 megawatts, Bonneville assumes 1,130 megawatts
for long-range planning purposes.) In addition, firm energy from transfers, exchanges, and purchases comprise the
remaining portion of Bonneville’s electric power resources. Not taking into account estimated power lost through the
transmission of electricity from generation sites to load sites (“line losses”), Bonneville estimates that the foregoing
projects and contracts have an expected aggregate output in the current operating year of about 10,756 annual average
megawatts (defined below) under median water conditions and about 8,478 annual average megawatts under low water
conditions. (Bonneville’s “Operating Year” runs from August 1 through July 31. By contrast, its “Fiscal Year” runs
from October 1 through September 30.) (Annual average megawatts are the number of megawatt-hours of electric
energy used, transmitted, or produced over the course of one year and each annual average megawatt is equal to 8,760
megawatt-hours.)

Bonneville sells, purchases, and exchanges firm power, seasonal surplus energy (which is also referred to as
“secondary” or “non-firm” energy), peaking capacity, and related power services. Bonneville also constructed, owns,
operates, and maintains a high voltage transmission system (the “Federal Transmission System”) comprising
approximately three-fourths of the bulk transmission capacity in the Pacific Northwest. Bonneville uses this
transmission capacity to deliver power to its customers and makes transmission capacity available to other utilities,
owners of generation projects, and power marketers. Bonneville’s primary customer service area is the Pacific
Northwest region of the United States, encompassing the states of Idaho, Oregon, and Washington, parts of western
Montana, and small parts of western Wyoming, northern Nevada, northern Utah, and northern California (the “Pacific
Northwest” or “Region”). Bonneville estimates that the population of the 300,000 square-mile service area is
approximately 12 million people. Electric power sold by Bonneville accounts for more than one-third of the electric
power consumed within the Region.



Bonneville markets a large portion of this power to over 125 publicly-owned and cooperatively-owned utilities
(“Preference Customers™”) at wholesale, meaning for resale by the utilities to end-use consumers in the Region.
Bonneville also has contracts to sell power for direct consumption to several Federal agencies and a small number of
companies (“Direct Service Industries” or “DSIs”) located in the Region. Bonneville is also required by law to
exchange power with qualifying utilities to meet their residential and small farm electric power loads within the
Region. The operation of this program, referred to as the “Residential Exchange Program,” has resulted and is expected
to continue to result in substantial payments by Bonneville to the exchanging utilities. The primary participants in the
Residential Exchange Program have been and are investor-owned utilities in the Region (the “Regional IOUs”), of
which there are six. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power
Services—Residential Exchange Program.”

The Transmission System Act placed Bonneville on a self-financing basis, meaning that Bonneville pays its costs from
revenues it receives from the sale of power and the provision of transmission and other services, which Bonneville
provides at rates that seek to produce revenues that recover Bonneville’s costs, including certain payments to the
United States Treasury. Bonneville’s rates for the foregoing services are subject to approval by the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) on the basis that, among other things, they recover Bonneville’s costs. See
“MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Bonneville Ratemaking and
Rates.” Bonneville may also issue and sell bonds to the United States Treasury and use the proceeds thereof to fund
certain activities established under Federal law.

In 1996, after certain national regulatory initiatives to promote competition in wholesale power markets were
announced, Bonneville separated its power marketing function from its transmission system operation and electric
system reliability functions. While Bonneville is a single legal entity, it conducts its business as two business units:
“Power Services” and “Transmission Services.” See “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Non-discriminatory
Transmission Access and Separation of Power Services and Transmission Services.”

Bonneville’s cash receipts from all sources, including from both transmission and power services, must be deposited in
the Bonneville Power Administration Fund (the “Bonneville Fund”), which is a separate fund within the United States
Treasury and which is available to pay Bonneville’s costs. In accordance with the Transmission System Act,
Bonneville must make expenditures from the Bonneville Fund as “shall have been included in annual budgets
submitted to Congress, without further appropriation and without fiscal year limitation, but within such specific
directives or limitations as may be included in appropriation acts, for any purpose necessary or appropriate to carry out
the duties imposed upon [Bonneville] pursuant to law.”

Bonneville is required to make certain payments to the United States Treasury. These payments are subject to the
availability of net proceeds, which are gross cash receipts remaining in the Bonneville Fund after deducting all of the
costs paid by Bonneville to operate and maintain the Federal Columbia River Power System (“Federal System”) other
than payments to the United States Treasury for: (i) the repayment of the Federal investment in certain transmission
facilities and the power generating facilities at Federally-owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific Northwest;
(ii) debt service on bonds issued by Bonneville and sold to the United States Treasury; (iii) repayments of appropriated
amounts to the Corps and Reclamation for certain costs allocated to power generation at Federally-owned hydroelectric
projects in the Pacific Northwest; and (iv) costs allocated to irrigation projects as are required by law to be recovered
from power sales. Bonneville met its payment responsibility to the United States Treasury of $864.1 million (including
$38.5 million in principal payments in advance of due dates under the Debt Optimization Program as described in this
Appendix A) in full and on time for Bonneville’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 (“Fiscal Year 2010”).
Bonneville has made all payments to the United States Treasury in full and on time since 1984. For more information,
see “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Debt Optimization Program” and “Order in Which Bonneville’s
Costs Are Met.”

For various reasons, Bonneville’s revenues from the sale of electric power and other services may vary significantly
from year to year. In order to accommodate such fluctuations in revenues and to assure that Bonneville has sufficient
revenues to pay the costs necessary to maintain and operate the Federal System, all cash payment obligations of
Bonneville, including cash deficiency payments, if any, under the Net Billing Agreements, and cash payments, if any,
under the 1989 Letter Agreement and the Direct Pay Agreements, and other operating and maintenance expenses have
priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States Treasury. For a description of the Net Billing Agreements,
see the Official Statement under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS.” For a description of the
1989 Letter Agreement, see the Official Statement under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED
BONDS—Net Billing and Related Agreements—General.” For a description of the Direct Pay Agreements, see the
Official Statement under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—Net Billing and Related
Agreements—Direct Pay Agreements” and see, in this Appendix A, “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—
Direct Pay Agreements.” In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, under Federal statutes, Bonneville may make
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payments to the United States Treasury only from net proceeds; all other cash payments of Bonneville, including cash
deficiency payments, if any, under the Net Billing Agreements, cash payments, if any, under the 1989 Letter
Agreement, cash payments, if any, under the Direct Pay Agreements, and other operating and maintenance expenses,
have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States Treasury for the costs described in (i) through (iv) in
the preceding paragraph. See the Official Statement under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED
BONDS.”

The requirement to pay the United States Treasury exclusively from net proceeds would result in a deferral of United
States Treasury payments if net proceeds were not sufficient for Bonneville to make its payments in full to the United
States Treasury. Such deferrals could occur in the event that Bonneville were to receive less revenue or if Bonneville’s
costs were higher than expected. Such deferred amounts, plus interest, must be paid by Bonneville in future years.

CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE
Current Regional Power Sales

Fiscal Year 2011 is the final year of the long-term power sales agreements under which Bonneville currently sells
power to Preference Customers (the “Current Preference Contracts”). Under these agreements, Bonneville estimates
that the aggregate Preference Customer load placed on Bonneville in Operating Year 2011 will be about 6,990 annual
average megawatts. Federal agency, Reclamation, and DSI loads are forecast to be about 574 annual average
megawatts in aggregate, and other Bonneville exports and intra-regional contract obligations are forecast to be about
1,176 annual average megawatts in aggregate.

Under the Current Preference Contracts, Bonneville provides three basic types of power service, primarily to meet the
Preference Customers’ own requirements in the Region: (i) Block power, which is power provided in pre-determined
amounts at pre-determined times to meet the customers’ requirements, (ii) Requirements service, which is power
provided as necessary to meet a customer’s loads, and (iii) Slice of the System, which is a proportionate amount of
power if, as, and when generated by the Federal System (a portion of the Slice product is sold as requirements power,
to the extent that Federal System generation meets the Slice customers’ loads, and a portion of the Slice product is sold
as surplus power, to the extent that generation exceeds the Slice customers’ loads). Requirements service may be either
“Full Requirements” service, meaning that Bonneville is responsible for meeting all of the customer’s electric power
loads, or “Partial Requirements” service, meaning that Bonneville is responsible for meeting all of the customer’s
electric power loads to the extent not met by electric power that the customer has otherwise committed to meeting its
loads. All Slice and most Block power is currently sold together as a single integrated power product called
“Slice/Block.”

With respect to service to DSIs, Bonneville is authorized to sell them power but has no statutory obligation to do so.
Bonneville currently has separate power sales agreements in effect with two DSIs. One sale provides for Bonneville to
deliver 320 annual average megawatts to Alcoa, Inc. (“Alcoa”), an aluminum industry DSI, through May 26, 2012. The
other provides for Bonneville to sell about 20 annual average megawatts to a non-aluminum industry DSI through May
31, 2011. See “—Regional Power Sales in the Period after Fiscal Year 2011—Power Sales to DSIs,” and
“BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—DSI Service ROD Litigation.”

While Bonneville is directed by law to do so under certain circumstances, Bonneville does not currently, nor does
Bonneville expect to, sell Regional IOUs power for their requirements until at least Fiscal Year 2020. See “—Regional
Power Sales in the Period after Fiscal Year 201 1—Requirements Power Sales to Regional IOUs.” Bonneville also sells
Full Requirements power to eight Federal agencies to meet their loads, which Bonneville estimates are about 126
annual average megawatts in Operating Year 2011.

Bonneville sells electric power for Regional load requirements at rates that recover Bonneville’s cost of providing such
service. Bonneville sells power to Preference Customers and Federal agencies, in each case for their requirements, at
“Priority Firm Rates” (or “PF Preference Rates”). This is Bonneville’s lowest-cost, statutorily-designated, power rate
class. PF Rates include separate rate schedules for specific types of service provided to Preference Customers and
Federal agencies, and the related rate levels vary depending on the costs of such services. Bonneville provides DSI
service at the Industrial Firm Power Rate (or “IP Rate”). For a discussion of Bonneville’s currently applicable power
rates, see “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Power
Rates for Fiscal Years 2010 through 2011.”
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Regional Power Sales in the Period after Fiscal Year 2011

In anticipation of the expiration at the end of Fiscal Year 2011 of the Current Preference Contracts and other
agreements, Bonneville and its customers engaged in a “Regional Dialogue” to determine the character of Bonneville’s
long-term power sales commitments in the Region and Bonneville’s long-term role in meeting Regional power needs.
The Regional Dialogue led to new, long-term power sales and related contracts that specify the types of power service
Bonneville will provide to Regional customers and address how Bonneville will implement a policy direction of
limiting its power sales, at the lowest cost-based rates consistent with sound business principles, to roughly the output
of existing Federal System generating resources. In the past, when Bonneville augmented Federal System resources
with market or other generating resources, the costs of these typically more expensive purchases were melded with the
Federal System’s low, embedded cost power, creating power rates that masked both the real value of then-existing
Federal System power and the incremental costs of meeting load growth. This cost-melding effect created incentives
for Preference Customers to place incremental load growth on Bonneville and exposed Bonneville to certain associated
risks relating to obtaining electric power to meet the incremental loads.

Power Sales to Preference Customers

In December 2008, Bonneville and each of its Preference Customers entered into contracts for power service by
Bonneville for the 17 years from Fiscal Year 2012 through Fiscal Year 2028 (“New Long-Term Preference
Contracts”). Under these agreements, Bonneville will provide “Load Following” service, which includes the effective
equivalent of Full Requirements and Partial Requirements service and Slice/Block. All Load Following service and
most of the Slice/Block will be provided to meet the related customer’s net requirements loads, which, in general, are
the customer’s native loads (loads within its service territory) that are served other than with the non-Federal System
resources designated by the customer as being used to serve the customer’s native loads. In aggregate, sales of the Slice
component of Slice/Block under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts represent about 27.0 percent of Federal
System generation. By contrast, Bonneville currently sells about 22.6 percent of the Federal System generation as Slice.

Each contract for Load Following service subjects the customer to a payment commitment under which it is required to
pay for power tendered by Bonneville. If a customer’s net requirements decline, however, the customer’s purchase
obligation from Bonneville is reduced commensurately. For Slice/Block, the customers’ obligations and rights to
purchase power are similarly capped by their net requirements. If their net requirements decline, the Block portion is
reduced first.

To implement the policy direction of meeting incremental loads at rates reflecting the associated costs, the New Long-
Term Preference Contracts restrict the power that Preference Customers may purchase in aggregate at “Tier 1 PF
Rates,” in general, to an amount equal to the generating output of the currently existing Federal System. Tier 1 PF
Rates will reflect, in general, the low, embedded costs of the existing Federal System. Power for “Tier 2 Loads,”
meaning any net requirements load placed on Bonneville by a customer in excess of its right to purchase at Tier 1 PF
Rates, will be sold at “Tier 2 PF Rates” that recover the cost to Bonneville of acquiring the incremental electric power
needed to meet Tier 2 Loads. Bonneville expects that Tier 1 PF Rates will be lower than Tier 2 PF Rates because the
embedded cost of power of the existing Federal System will likely be lower than the cost of new resources obtained to
meet Tier 2 Loads and allocated for recovery in Tier 2 PF Rates.

Each Preference Customer’s right to purchase power at Tier 1 PF Rates will be determined based in part on the
proportion that its net requirement bears to all Preference Customers’ net requirements placed on Bonneville in a
defined period prior to Fiscal Year 2011. The amount of power a customer may purchase at Tier 1 PF Rates may
change based on a number of events. For example, if the capability of Federal System resources, including the
Columbia Generating Station, were to decrease, the amount of power a Preference Customer is to receive at Tier 1
Rates would decrease proportionately, although, in such a case, the ongoing costs of the related facilities (to the extent
allocable to recovery in power rates) would nonetheless be recovered in Tier 1 PF Rates.

A key element of the New Long-Term Preference Contracts is the establishment of the basic features of a long-term
rate design methodology (“Tiered Rates Methodology”) for periodically determining the applicable PF Rates
throughout the term of the new contracts. The Tiered Rates Methodology defines the costs that will be allocated to
Tier 1 PF Rates and Tier 2 PF Rates. The costs to be recovered under Tier 1 PF Rates include the costs assigned to
power rates for the Net Billed Projects (some Net Billed Project debt service costs are assigned to be recovered in
transmission rates), Federal System fish and wildlife costs, electric power conservation programs, limited possible
amounts of power augmentation tied to the transition to the new Long-Term Preference Contracts, power benefits to be
provided to DSIs (if any), and Residential Exchange Program benefits. Under the Tiered Rates Methodology, a
majority of revenues from Bonneville’s sales of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy derived from Tier 1 Federal
System resources are allocated to non-Slice Tier 1 PF Rates. (Slice customers will receive about 27 percent of the
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actual seasonal surplus (secondary) energy derived from Tier 1 Federal System resources, as provided in the Slice
agreements, and, therefore, do not receive the benefits of the revenues that Bonneville receives from its own sales of
seasonal surplus (secondary) energy.) See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—Long-Term Regional Dialogue Contracts,
Policies and Records of Decision.”

The purchase of power from Bonneville for Tier 2 Loads will be made on a take-or-pay basis for the specified amount
of power.

Under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts, Preference Customers may define before specified dates of election,
the extent, if any, to which Bonneville will meet their Tier 2 Loads. Preference Customers have committed to place 20
annual average megawatts of Tier 2 Loads on Bonneville in Fiscal Year 2012 and 57 annual average megawatts in
Fiscal Year 2013. For Fiscal Year 2014, Tier 2 Load commitments are fixed for customers that will purchase Block
service for their Tier 2 Loads (about 2 annual average megawatts); however, the commitments in Fiscal Year 2014 for
those receiving Load Following service for Tier 2 Loads will not be determined until Fiscal Year 2012. Preference
Customers are required on or before September 30, 2011, to commit to the amount of Tier 2 Loads they will place on
Bonneville in the five fiscal years commencing with Fiscal Year 2015. Similar Tier 2 elections and advance notice to
Bonneville are required in the five fiscal years beginning with Fiscal Year 2020, and the four fiscal years beginning
with Fiscal Year 2025.

For a more detailed description of the New Long-Term Preference Contracts, see “POWER SERVICES—Certain
Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Bonneville’s Obligation to Meet Certain Firm
Power Requirements in the Region—New Long-Term Preference Contracts.”

Power Sales to DSIs

Coincident with developing the New Long-Term Preference Contracts and Tiered Rates Methodology, Bonneville
proposed to provide DSIs with economic benefits from low-cost Federal System power. Bonneville also proposed to
recover the net cost of any DSI service from Tier 1 PF Rates. Bonneville interprets recent court rulings to require that
any decision to provide DSI service be supported by an analysis demonstrating that the sale(s) will result in neutral or
positive benefits to Bonneville. For this reason, Bonneville is unable to predict the level of service that it may make
available to DSIs on a long-term basis. Bonneville has agreed with one DSI to provide 320 annual average megawatts
under a conditional extension of an existing contract. The extension is conditioned on, among other things, it being
consistent with then-applicable court precedent regarding Bonneville’s service to DSIs, and a determination by
Bonneville that the costs that it will incur to meet its obligations under the contract will not exceed certain specified
cost caps. Bonneville could, if it ultimately agrees to the extension, provide the related DSI with power through as late
as May 26, 2018, depending on a number of factors. Bonneville is currently negotiating to extend the sale of about 20
annual average megawatts to a non-aluminum company DSI up to September 30, 2013.

Bonneville’s service to DSIs is and has been the subject of recent litigation. The United States Court of Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit (“Ninth Circuit Court”), which is a federal appeals court with limited original jurisdiction over many
matters relating to Bonneville, has issued two separate opinions that concluded that certain prior power sales by
Bonneville to a DSI were not consistent with Bonneville’s governing laws. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—DSI
Service ROD Litigation.”

Requirements Power Sales to Regional IOUs

Bonneville is required by law to offer to sell power to meet each Regional IOU’s net requirements loads in the Region
meaning, a Regional IOU’s loads in the Region that are not met by the Regional IOU with its own designated power
supplies. In late summer 2008, Bonneville offered requirements contracts to the Region’s IOUs. Four of the six
Regional IOUs executed the contracts. In November 2009, all four of the Regional IOUs that executed long-term
contracts elected not to purchase requirements power from Bonneville until at least Fiscal Year 2020. At the end of
Fiscal Year 2016, the utilities will elect whether or not to purchase requirements power for Fiscal Years 2020 through
2028. Any requirements power provided by Bonneville under these contracts would be priced at the “New Resources
Rate.” This rate would in effect reflect the marginal cost to Bonneville of acquiring power to meet the loads plus
certain other costs. Bonneville believes that it is unlikely, unless circumstances change, that Regional I0Us will place
substantial loads, if any, on Bonneville under the Regional IOU long-term requirements contracts because (i) there is
no reason to expect that Bonneville’s cost to meet such loads, as reflected in the New Resources Rate, would be
significantly lower than the Regional IOUs’ cost to meet such loads, (ii) the Regional IOUs are financially motivated to
make investments in new generating facilities in order to obtain shareholder returns, (iii) most of the Regional IOUs
have state-mandated renewable resource purchase obligations and would have to be assured that such obligations are
addressed in any power purchases from Bonneville, (iv) the Regional IOUs would not be able to control directly the
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terms and costs of the new resources Bonneville would obtain to meet the loads, and (v) the New Resources Rate bears
additional costs of statutory rate protection afforded to Preference Customers, thereby likely making the rate
uneconomic compared to market alternatives.

To implement the Residential Exchange Program, Bonneville has entered into long-term Residential Purchase and Sale
Agreements (“Long-Term RPSA”) for Fiscal Year 2012 through Fiscal Year 2028 with three of the Regional IOUs and
expects to enter into Long-Term RPSAs with at least two of the three other Regional IOUs prior to Fiscal Year 2012.
Under these agreements, an equal amount of electric power is exchanged with each participating Regional 10U, so
there is no net power sold by Bonneville. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting
Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.”

Loads and Resources Expectations

Bonneville expects that, in aggregate, its total power sales obligations will be about 8,740 annual average megawatts in
Operating Year 2011. Of these loads: (i) the aggregate of Preference Customer, Federal agency, and DSI loads are
forecast to be about 7,564 annual average megawatts, and (ii) other Bonneville exports and intra-regional contract
obligations are forecast to be about 1,176 annual average megawatts. By contrast, Bonneville estimates that the Federal
System will be able to produce, under certain assumptions of historically low river flows, about 8,239 annual average
megawatts in Operating Year 2011. (The estimate also takes into account power purchases and estimates of energy
losses from transmitting power from generation sources to loads.) Thus, given the expected resources and loads,
Bonneville now anticipates that it has an energy deficit of 501 annual average megawatts in Operating Year 2011 under
the assumptions of historically low river flows. Bonneville expects to meet the energy deficit with hydroelectric
generation that would be expected to occur in all but historically low river flow years, and, if necessary, through power
purchases and other transactions. Operating Year 2011 energy deficits are higher than typical in part because of a
scheduled, extended maintenance outage at the Columbia Generating Station. Bonneville’s current analysis of Federal
System generating resources also includes non-project-specific power purchases from power marketers and utilities and
certain contract purchases that are tied to specific non-Federal generating resources. See “POWER SERVICES—
Description of the Generation Resources of the Federal System.” In addition, given expected resources and loads,
Bonneville now anticipates that it will have an energy deficit of 285 annual average megawatts in Operating Year 2019
under assumptions of historically low river flows and numerous other factors. There is substantial uncertainty in
forecasting long-term loads and resources.

In September 2010, Bonneville issued its final 2010 Resource Program. The program systematically evaluated
Bonneville’s need for new power resources in light of changes and potential changes in demands on existing system
resources through Operating Year 2019. The Resource Program concluded that Bonneville will be able to meet its
projected power sales and related commitments by undertaking an aggressive conservation implementation program
and by relying on short- and mid-term energy purchases for certain periods of the year to cover potential peak demands
and low hydro-generation periods. While Bonneville may make targeted, small-scale, long-term generating resource
acquisitions, Bonneville does not believe that it will need to acquire substantial new, long-term resources apart from the
conservation program, through at least Operating Year 2019. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other
Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Bonneville’s Obligation to Meet Certain Firm Power Requirements in
the Region—Bonneville’s Resource Program and Bonneville’s Resource Strategies for the Post-2011 Period.”

Achieving the aggressive conservation program targets will mean substantial investment by Bonneville over the next
several years. In Fiscal Year 2010, Bonneville developed a capital forecast for conservation investment. The forecast
estimates that the aggregate conservation investment by Bonneville in the ten years beginning with Fiscal Year 2012
will be $1.6 billion, with annual investment ranging from $104 million in Fiscal Year 2012 to $190 million in Fiscal
Year 2021. In contrast to conservation funding approaches used by Bonneville in the last ten years, Bonneville will no
longer rely on the provision of rate discounts to Preference Customers for conservation measures that they undertake
and will not expense conservation that is directly funded by Bonneville. Thus, Bonneville expects to rely on Treasury
borrowing and/or third party debt to fund its conservation investment. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and
Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Electric Power Conservation,” and “BONNEVILLE
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Bonneville’s Capital Program.” The foregoing forecast of future conservation
investment by Bonneville is subject to change and actual investment may differ, perhaps substantially, from such
forecast.

Residential Exchange Program and Proposed Settlement Agreement

Bonneville is participating in settlement discussions among numerous Regional parties to resolve Residential Exchange
Program issues through Fiscal Year 2028. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting
Bonneville’s Power Services—The Residential Exchange Program,” and “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—Residential
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Exchange Program Litigation.” Under the current schedule, the parties will present a draft settlement agreement to
Bonneville by December 17, 2010, and parties other than Bonneville will sign the agreement shortly thereafter.
Beginning on December 17, 2010, Bonneville will commence formal review of the settlement agreement and make a
final decision regarding approval of the settlement in June 2011 on the basis of whether the proposal is consistent with
the provisions of law related to the Residential Exchange Program as interpreted in applicable court precedent and
whether the Bonneville Administrator determines, based on the record evidence, that the settlement otherwise merits
his approval. Bonneville’s process for establishing power and transmission rates for the two fiscal years beginning
October 1, 2011 (the “2012-2013 Rate Period”) is scheduled so that Bonneville will be positioned to make a final
power rate proposal regardless of whether a final settlement of the Residential Exchange Program is reached or whether
Bonneville ultimately approves such a settlement. See “—Proposed Rates for the 2012-2013 Rate Period.”

Under the settlement principles, Bonneville would set Residential Exchange Program benefits and related payments to
Regional IOUs from Fiscal Year 2012 through Fiscal Year 2028. The benefit levels for Regional IOUs would be $259
million in each of Fiscal Years 2012 and 2013, gradually increasing to $280 million in Fiscal Year 2028. For Fiscal
Years 2012 through 2016, however, actual Residential Exchange Program payments to Regional IOUs would be
reduced by $77 million per year to recoup past Residential Exchange Program overpayments to the Regional IOUs
(such amounts are referred to elsewhere in this Appendix A as “Lookback Amounts”). See “POWER SERVICES—
Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.” Thus,
actual aggregate payments by Bonneville to Regional IOUs under the settlement agreement in Fiscal Years 2012 and
2013 would be $182 million per year. Bonneville would also provide to qualifying Preference Customers amounts
equal to the Lookback Amounts to make such customers whole for the past overpayments to Regional IOUs with
respect to the Residential Exchange Program.

Proposed Rates for the 2012-2013 Rate Period

FERC has approved Bonneville’s power and transmission rates for the two fiscal years ending September 30, 2011 (the
“2010-2011 Final Rates”). See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s
Power Services—Power Rates for Fiscal Years 2010 through 2011”7 and “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—
Bonneville’s Transmission and Ancillary Services Rates.” Starting with customer workshops in March 2010,
Bonneville began its process for establishing power and transmission rates for the 2012-2013 Rate Period. Bonneville
published its initial proposal for power rates (the “Initial Power Rate Proposal”) on November 19, 2010, and expects to
publish its initial proposal for transmission rates (the “Initial Transmission Rate Proposal”) on December 17, 2010.
Thereafter a formal rate proceeding will follow, culminating in the submission by Bonneville of final proposed rates
and related records of decision (the “2012-2013 Final Power and Transmission Rate Proposal”) to FERC by the end of
July 2011. Final FERC approval of rate proposals typically takes over a year from the date filed. For a discussion of
proposed transmission and related rates for the 2012-2013 Rate Period, see “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—
Bonneville’s Transmission and Ancillary Services Rates.”

With respect to all rates for the 2012-2013 Rate Period, Bonneville proposes to continue to adhere to Bonneville’s
policy and practice of establishing rates that achieve a 95 percent probability of meeting Bonneville’s scheduled United
States Treasury payment responsibility on time and in full over the entire two-year rate period. (This equates to about a
97.5 percent probability per year of meeting its scheduled United States Treasury scheduled payment responsibility.)
Bonneville’s Treasury payments are payable from “net proceeds,” meaning amounts in the Bonneville Fund remaining
after payment of Bonneville’s non-federal payment obligations, including amounts, if any, under the Net Billing
Agreements. See “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met.”

With respect to power rates in particular, the Initial Power Rate Proposal will for the first time employ Tiered Rates.
See “—Regional Power Sales in the Period after Fiscal Year 2011—Power Sales to Preference Customers.”

With regard to tools to manage risks related to recovering all costs during the rate period, the proposed power rates
would continue the use of (i) “base rates” for Regional power sales that are set at levels Bonneville believes to be
sufficient to yield a reasonably high probability of sufficient net revenues (as discussed above, Bonneville establishes
rates that achieve a 95% probability of meeting Bonneville’s scheduled United States Treasury payment responsibility),
and (ii) a rate level adjustment mechanism (the “Cost Recovery Adjustment Clause” or “CRAC”) that allows power
rate levels to be reset at the beginning of the first year of the rate period and one time in the middle of the two year rate
period, in each case according to costs and revenues. If Power Services’ expected fiscal year-end annual net revenues
are forecast to drop below negative $168 million in Fiscal Year 2012 or Fiscal Year 2013, Bonneville may increase
power rates in the next fiscal year by up to $300 million without a full rate proceeding. (Bonneville currently uses
“accumulated modified net revenues” as the measure for determining whether a CRAC will trigger. See “POWER
SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Power Rates for Fiscal
Years 2010 through 2011—Revenue Recovery Risk Mitigation.”) Under the Initial Power Rate Proposal, Bonneville
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would also utilize updated versions of the “NFB” and “NFB Emergency Surcharge,” which would enable Bonneville to
recover additional amounts during the 2012-2013 Rate Period to address unexpected costs that could arise from
Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) litigation relating to the Federal System. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain
Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Power Rates for Fiscal Years 2010 through 2011~
and “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and
Wildlife—Endangered Species Act.”

In addition, the Initial Power Rate Proposal is based on the availability of funds, if needed during the rate period, under
Bonneville’s $750 million short-term line of credit with the United States Treasury to cover certain expenses. See
“BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Banking Relationship between the United States Treasury and
Bonneville.” The risk mitigation tools underlying the Initial Power Rate Proposal also include relying on reserves in the
Bonneville Fund. While all amounts in the Bonneville Fund are available to pay Bonneville’s costs without regard to
whether such costs are Power Services costs or Transmission Services costs, some reserves are derived from Power
Services rates and operations and some are derived from Transmission Services rates and operations. (As of the end of
Fiscal Year 2010, about $232 million in reserves were derived from Power Services rates and operations and $607
million were derived from Transmission Services rates and operations.) Because power rates are to be established to
recover the costs of power operations and transmission rates are to be established to recover the cost of transmission
operations, if Bonneville were to use Transmission Services-derived reserves to pay Power Services’ costs, use of the
Transmission Services’ reserves would be treated as a loan to Power Services, with the requirement that Power
Services repay the loan as soon as reasonably possible, including through adjustments to power rates.

In part based on the foregoing risk tools and numerous assumptions regarding expected financial reserves as of the
beginning of the 2012-2013 Rate Period, costs, expenses, and revenues (including forecasts of revenues from seasonal
surplus (secondary) power sales and purchased power expense in the current fiscal year and during the 2012-2013 Rate
Period), Bonneville’s Initial Power Rate Proposal would increase PF Rate levels over rates currently in effect for
similar service under the 2010-2011 Final Rates. An exact comparison of the proposed rate levels and current rate
levels is complicated because of the change to tiered rates. To compare rate levels, the average Tier 1 net cost
represents a close approximation of the average PF Rate under the 2010-2011 Final Rates. The average Tier 1 net cost
in the Initial Power Rate Proposal represents about an 8.3 percent increase over the 2010-2011 Rate Period average PF
Preference Rate (excluding transmission charges), an increase from approximately $26.82 per megawatt hour to $29.05
per megawatt hour. The Initial Power Rate Proposal assumes that the Residential Exchange Program settlement
negotiations will succeed. If a settlement is not reached, the average PF Preference Rate increase would be slightly
higher at about 8.5 percent above prior rates. These rate level estimates reflect the proposed rate level determinations
only and do not incorporate bill credits or payments to Preference Customers to remedy the effects of Bonneville’s past
overpayment of Residential Exchange Program benefits. See “—Residential Exchange Program and Proposed
Settlement Agreement,” and “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power
Services—Power Rates for Fiscal Years 2012 through 2013,” and “—Residential Exchange Program.” Under the Initial
Power Rate Proposal, Bonneville anticipates that average Tier 2 Rates will be between $46 and $49 per megawatt hour
in the 2012-2013 Rate Period.

With respect to the Residential Exchange Program, Bonneville will initiate a proceeding to determine whether to adopt
the 2010 Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreement. See “—Residential Exchange Program and Proposed
Settlement Agreement.” The proceeding will also establish a record to implement the Program if during the rate period
the settlement is not adopted. In either event, the Administrator’s determination will be incorporated into the 2012-2013
Final Power Rate Proposal. The Initial Power Rate Proposal identifies that the Residential Exchange Program benefits
for Regional IOUs in the 2012-2013 Rate Period will be approximately $259 million per fiscal year, although actual
benefit payments by Bonneville to Regional IOUs will be reduced by $77 million in offsets that Bonneville uses to
recoup past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits to the Regional 10Us. See “POWER
SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange
Program.”

The IP Rate level for DSI service in the Initial Power Rate Proposal represents about a 5.4 percent increase over the
2010-2011 Rate Period, an increase from approximately $34.59 per megawatt hour (excluding transmission charges)
under the 2010-2011 Final Rates to $36.46 per megawatt hour (excluding transmission charges). Under the rate
proposal, if a Residential Exchange Program settlement is not reached, the average IP Rate would be about $38.71 per
megawatt hour (excluding transmission charges), or an 11.9 percent increase over the 2010-2011 Final Rates. The IP
Rate is a rate for power that is provided to DSIs in the same amount all hours of all days.

The primary reasons for the proposed power rate increase are expectations of increased operations and maintenance
costs, including at Columbia Generating Station, increased fish and wildlife costs, increased electric power
conservation costs, and increased operations and maintenance expense at the Federally-owned hydro-projects of the
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Federal System. The Initial Power Rate Proposal reflects Bonneville’s expectations and assumptions when developing
the Initial Power Rate Proposal. Bonneville’s final proposed power rates, rate features, and rate levels could differ,
perhaps substantially, from the Initial Power Rate Proposal.

Fiscal Year 2010 Financial Results

In Fiscal Year 2010, Bonneville made its scheduled United States Treasury payments on time and in full for the 27th
consecutive year. Bonneville finished the fiscal year with financial reserves of $1.114 billion, which is a decline of
about 18 percent from the prior fiscal year. Bonneville had modified net revenues of negative $164 million in Fiscal
Year 2010, which was a $23 million improvement from Bonneville’s modified net revenues of negative $187 million in
Fiscal Year 2009. Power Services had modified net revenues of negative $296 million and Transmission Services had
modified net revenues of $132 million in Fiscal Year 2010. “Modified net revenues” are a non-GAAP performance
measure and are calculated as net revenues from operations less (i) the effects of the Debt Optimization Program and
other debt management actions relating to Energy Northwest, and (ii) unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815 (formerly, the Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”). Bonneville
believes that under circumstances in effect during Fiscal Year 2010 and immediately preceding years, modified net
revenues were a better reflection of Bonneville’s financial results than standard accounting determinations of net
revenues. However, modified net revenues may not be comparable to similarly titled measure of other companies and
this measure is not intended to be a substitute for the net revenues from operations. For a description of ASC 815, see
footnote 5 to the table “Federal System Statement of Revenues and Expenses” under “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL
OPERATIONS.”

Bonneville’s modified negative net revenues for two consecutive years and related decline in reserves resulted from a
number of factors primarily relating to increased expense, including increased purchase power expense caused by low
water conditions, and reduced revenues from sales of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy caused by lower
hydroelectric generation arising from low water conditions and lower prices arising from the slowing economy. See
“BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Management Discussion of Operating Results—Fiscal Year 2010.”

POWER SERVICES

Bonneville’s Power Services is responsible for marketing the electric power of the Federal System, providing oversight
to electric power resources of the Federal System, and purchasing and exchanging Federal System power. Power
Services was responsible for about $2.2 billion (excluding “bookouts” from settlements other than by the physical
delivery of power) in revenues, or 75 percent, of Bonneville’s total revenues from external customers (and excluding
revenues otherwise arising from inter-functional transactions between Bonneville’s Transmission Services and Power
Services) in Fiscal Year 2010.

Description of the Generation Resources of the Federal System
Generation

Bonneville has statutory obligations to meet certain electric power loads placed on it by certain Regional customers.
See “—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Bonneville’s Obligation to Meet
Certain Firm Power Requirements in the Region.” To meet these loads, Bonneville relies on an array of power
resources and power purchases, which, together with the Bonneville-owned Federal Transmission System and certain
other features, constitute the Federal System. The Federal System includes those portions of the Federal investment in
the Regional hydroelectric projects that have been allocated by Federal law or policy to power generation. Such
projects were constructed and are operated by the Corps or Reclamation. The Federal System also includes power from
non-Federally-owned generating resources, including but not limited to the Columbia Generating Station, and contract
purchases from and other arrangements with power suppliers.

Bonneville defines “firm power” as electric power that is continuously available from the Federal System during
adverse water conditions to meet Federal System firm loads. The amount of firm power that can be produced by the
Federal System and marketed by Bonneville is based on assumptions related to a low-water period on record for the
Columbia River basin referred to as “Critical Water.” Firm power can be relied on to be available when needed. Firm
power has two components: peaking capacity (measured in megawatts) and firm energy (measured in average
megawatts). Peaking capacity refers to the generating capability to serve particular loads at the time such power is
demanded. This is distinguishable from firm energy, which refers to an amount of electric energy that is reliably
generated over a period of time. Bonneville has estimated that in Operating Year 2011 (August 1, 2010 through July
31, 2011), the total Federal System would be capable of producing about 8,478 annual average megawatts of firm
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energy under low water conditions and not accounting for line losses. This generation includes about 6,684 annual
average megawatts from Reclamation and Corps hydro projects, about 937 annual average megawatts from Columbia
Generating Station and other non-Federally owned resources (including co-generation, renewable, and non-utility
generation projects), and about 857 annual average megawatts of firm energy from power purchases, exchanges, and
non-Federal Canadian Entitlement receipts, See the following table “Operating Federal System Projects for Operating
Year 2011.”

Federal Hydro Generation

The share of hydropower from Federally-owned hydroelectric projects for Operating Year 2011 is estimated to be
approximately 81 percent of Bonneville’s total firm power supply. Bonneville also has acquired a small amount of
power from non-Federally-owned hydroelectric projects. Bonneville’s large resource base of hydropower results in
operating and planning characteristics that differ from those of major utilities that lack a substantial hydropower base.
See the table entitled “Operating Federal System Projects for Operating Year 2011.”

The amount of electric power produced by a hydropower-based system such as the Federal System varies with annual
precipitation and weather conditions. This variability has led Bonneville to classify power it has available into two
types, firm power and seasonal surplus (secondary) energy, described below, that are based on certainty of occurrence.

The Federal System is primarily a hydropower system in which the peaking capacity exceeds Federal System peaking
loads and power reserve requirements in most months and in most water years. Bonneville estimates that in most
months of an operating year and under most water and load conditions its peaking capacity, for long-term planning
purposes, will meet or exceed its requirements for the next ten years. Bonneville expects this excess of peaking
capacity to persist, because as Bonneville acquires or augments to balance annual and seasonal firm energy needs with
new resources or purchases, these resource additions will also contribute more peaking capacity. At this time,
Bonneville’s resource planning focuses primarily on the need to develop sufficient firm energy resources to meet firm
energy loads. In contrast, most utilities with coal-, gas-, oil-, and nuclear-based generating systems must focus their
resource planning on having enough peaking capacity to meet peak loads. As additional non-power requirements are
placed on the Federal System hydroelectric operations and as peak load obligations grow, it may become necessary for
Bonneville to plan for additional peaking capacity resources or purchases to meet peak loads.

Bonneville markets most of its energy on a firm basis. However, the amount of energy that the Federal System can
produce varies from month to month and depends on a number of factors, including weather conditions, stream-flows,
storage conditions, flood control needs, and fish and wildlife requirements.

In general, for long-term planning purposes Bonneville estimates the amount of electric power it will need to meet
loads above the expected Federal System firm power generated under Critical Water. For ratemaking and financial
planning purposes, however, Bonneville takes into account the amount of electric power it expects to have available to
market based on water conditions that reflect average circumstances. The energy that Bonneville has to market above
Critical Water assumptions in a specified period is referred to as seasonal surplus (secondary) energy. The amount of
seasonal surplus energy generated by the Federal System depends primarily on precipitation and reservoir storage
levels, thermal plant performance (the Columbia Generating Station), and other factors. For Operating Year 2011, the
Federal System is estimated to generate seasonal surplus (secondary) energy of 1,210 annual average megawatts,
assuming average water conditions (median water flows). In years with high water conditions (high water flows) the
amount of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy could be as much as 2,135 annual average megawatts. In low water
years, the amount of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy generated by the Federal System could be quite small or not
available at all.

The Corps and Reclamation operate the Federally-owned hydroelectric projects of the Federal System to serve multiple
statutory purposes. These purposes may include flood control, irrigation, navigation, recreation, municipal and
industrial water supply, fish and wildlife protection, and power generation. Non-power purposes have placed
requirements on operation of the reservoirs and have thereby limited hydropower production. Bonneville takes into
account the non-power requirements and other factors in assessing the marketable power from these projects.

These requirements change the shape, availability, and timeliness of Federal hydropower to meet load. The information
in the following table estimates the operation of the Federal System under the Pacific Northwest Coordination
Agreement (“PNCA”). The PNCA defines the planning and operation of Bonneville, U.S. Pacific Northwest utilities,
and other parties with generating facilities within the Region’s hydroelectric system. The hydro-regulation study
incorporated measures, including but not limited to: (i) measures under the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric
Administration Fisheries (“NOAA Fisheries”) biological opinions relating to the operation of the Federal System on the
Columbia River and Snake River and tributaries and related court-ordered operations; (ii) the United States Fish and



Wildlife Service (“Fish and Wildlife Service”) biological opinions relating to operation of certain Snake River and
Columbia River and tributary dams; and (iii) operations described in the Northwest Power and Conservation Council’s
Fish and Wildlife Program. These measures include flow augmentation for juvenile fish migration in the Snake and
Columbia Rivers in the spring and summer, mandatory spill requirements at the Lower Snake and Columbia River
dams to provide for non-turbine passage routes for juvenile fish migrants, and additional flows for Kootenai River
white sturgeon in the spring. As new biological opinions and similar non-power requirements are introduced to the
hydropower system, those changes will be reflected, as and when appropriate, in estimates of the availability of Federal
hydropower under all water conditions. See “—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power
Services—Fish and Wildlife—The Endangered Species Act.”

Other Power Resources and Contract Purchases

The balance of the Federal System includes, among other resources, power from the Columbia Generating Station,
which has the largest capacity for energy production of the non-Federal resources of the Federal System. See Footnote
10 in the following table “Operating Federal System Projects for Operating Year 2011.” In addition, Bonneville has a
number of power purchase contracts that are not tied to specific generating resources. Bonneville projects that it will
continue to have long-term contracts for power purchases, exchanges, and non-Federal Canadian Entitlement receipts
that provide roughly 857 annual average megawatts.

Operating Federal System Projects for Operating Year 2011

In all years, the energy generating capability of the Federal System’s hydroelectric projects depends upon the amount
of water flowing through such facilities, the physical capacity of the facilities, stream-flow requirements pursuant to
biological opinions, and other operating limitations. Bonneville utilizes a 70-year record of river flows based on the
period from 1929-1998 for planning purposes. During this period, low water conditions (“Low Water Flows”) occurred
in 1936-37, median water conditions (“Median Water Flows”) occurred in 1957-58, and high water conditions (“High
Water Flows”) occurred in 1973-74. Bonneville estimates the energy generating capability of Federal System
hydroelectric projects in a given operating year by assuming that these historical water conditions were to occur in that
operating year and making adjustments in the expected generating capability to reflect the current physical capacity
operating limitations and current stream flow requirements. Energy generation estimates are further refined to reflect
factors unique to the subject operating year such as initial storage reservoir conditions.

The following table shows, for Operating Year 2011, the Federal System January capacity (“Peak Megawatts” or “Peak
MW?”) and energy capability using Low Water Flows, Median Water Flows, and High Water Flows. The same
forecasting procedures are also used for non-Federally-owned hydroelectric projects. Thermal projects, the output of
which does not vary with river flow conditions, are estimated using current generating capacity, plant capacity factors,
and maintenance schedules.

(The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally)



Operating Federal System Projects for Operating Year 2011

January

Initial. No. of _ Capacity Maximum Median Firm
Project Year_ in Geperatmg (Peak Energy Energy Energy
Service Units MW)(2) (aMW)(3) (aMW)(4)  (aMW)(5)
United States Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) Hydro Projects
Grand Coulee incl. Pump Turbine 1941 33 6,192 2,813 2,393 1,827
Hungry Horse 1952 4 379 154 104 83
Other Reclamation Projects(6) _16 _125 _ 182 _ 171 _ 126
1. Total Reclamation Projects 53 6,696 3,149 2,668 2,036
United States Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) Hydro Projects
Chief Joseph(7) 1955 27 2,535 1,331 1,342 1,060
John Day 1968 16 2,484 1,213 1,075 781
The Dalles w/o Fishway(8) 1957 24 2,074 900 805 589
Bonneville 1938 20 1,052 581 557 404
McNary 1953 14 1,127 653 645 487
Lower Granite 1975 6 930 357 282 192
Lower Monumental 1969 6 923 419 310 192
Little Goose 1970 6 928 388 296 194
Ice Harbor 1961 6 693 267 249 167
Libby 1975 5 579 294 226 184
Dworshak 1974 3 445 284 202 148
Other Corps Projects(9) _ 20 235 334 _ 300 _ 250
2. Total Corps Projects 153 14,005 7,021 6,289 4,648

3. Total Reclamation and Corps Projects

(line 1+ line 2) 206 20,701 10,170 8,957 6,684
Non-Federally-Owned Projects
Columbia Generating Station(10) 1984 1 1,130 785 785 785
Other Non-Federal Hydro Projects(11) 7 23 62 46 41
Other Non-Federal Projects(12) _ 11 _ 58 111 111 _ 111
4. Total Non-Federally-Owned Projects 19 1,211 958 942 937
Federal Contract Purchases
S IT,ziilh]:;’e':(‘g)‘“e Contract n/a 1,017 857 857 857
Total Federal System Resources
6. Total Federal System Resources
(line 3 + line 4 + line 5) 225 22,929 11,985 10,756 8,478

Source: 2010 Pacific Northwest Loads and Resources Study, Bonneville, May 2010.
" Operating Year 2011 is August 1, 2010, through July 31, 2011. Discrepancies from the figures portrayed in

the “2010 Pacific Northwest Loads and Resources Study” are due to rounding.

@ January capacity is the maximum generation to be produced under Low Water Flows in megawatts of

capacity. January is a benchmark month for the system peaking capability because of the potential for high

peak loads during January due to winter weather. Bonneville further reduces estimates of its hydro peaking

capacity to reflect that the hydro system has more machine capacity in its generating units than fuel (river

flows) available to operate all units on a continuous basis.

@ Maximum energy capability is the estimated amount of hydro energy to be produced using High Water Flows

for energy in average megawatts. The hydro-regulation study incorporates measures prescribed by the NOAA



Fisheries biological opinions relating to the Columbia River and tributaries and court-ordered operations; the
Fish and Wildlife Service biological opinion for the Snake River and Columbia River dams; operations
described in the Council’s Fish and Wildlife Program; and other fish mitigation measures. If and to the extent
the effects of new biological opinions or other measures to protect fish and wildlife are different than those
assumed in the 2010 Pacific Northwest Loads and Resources Study, such changes will be reflected in future
hydro-regulation studies. See ‘“—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power
Services—Fish and Wildlife—The Endangered Species Act.”

Median energy capability is the estimated amount of hydro energy to be produced using Median Water Flows
for energy, in average megawatts.

“4)

©®  Firm energy capability is the estimated amount of hydro energy to be produced using Low Water Flows for

energy, in average megawatts.
©®  Other Reclamation Projects include: Palisades (1957), Anderson Ranch (1950), Chandler (1956), Green
Springs (1960), Minidoka (1909), Black Canyon (1925), Boise Diversion (1908), and Roza (1958).
Chief Joseph is assumed to have slightly less generation under high water flows than median water flows
because of modeling assumptions that limit the expected generation from Chief Joseph in high water flow
conditions.

@

®  The Dalles Dam complex also includes two units that generate energy in connection with a fishway at the

dam. They produce approximately five megawatts of both peak capacity and energy. The output is not
purchased by Bonneville and is not included in this table.

© Other Corps Projects include: Albeni Falls (1955), Big CIiff (1954), Bonneville Fishway (1981),
Cougar (1964), Detroit (1953), Dexter (1955), Foster (1968), Green Peter (1967), Hills Creek (1962),
Lookout Point (1954), and Lost Creek (1975).

Columbia Generating Station operates under a two-year maintenance and refueling schedule. For Operating
Year 2011, Columbia Generating Station is scheduled for an extended refueling and maintenance outage and,
therefore, will provide about 785 annual average megawatts. For Operating Years after 2011, Bonneville
assumes that the Columbia Generating Station will provide about 878 annual average megawatts in most
refueling years and 1,030 annual average megawatts in non-refueling years.

(10)

(D" Other Non-Federal Hydro Projects include the following hydroelectric projects estimated by water

conditions: Lewis County PUD’s Cowlitz Falls (1994) and the Idaho Falls Power Bulb Turbine Projects
(1982). Bonneville acquired the generation for the output from the Idaho Falls Power Bulb Turbine
Projects (1982) through September 30, 2021. If Bonneville’s contracts to purchase power from any of these
projects are renewed, those projects will be included in future studies.
U2 Other Non-Federal Projects include the following projects: the Georgia Pacific Paper’s Wauna Cogeneration
Project (1996), the State of Idaho DWR’s Clearwater Hydro (1998) and Dworshak Small Hydro (2000)
projects, U.S. Park Service’s Glines Canyon Hydro (1927) and Elwah Hydro (1910) projects, shares of Foote
Creek, LLC’s Foote Creek 1 (1999), Foote Creek 2 (1999), and Foote Creek 4 (2000) wind projects, a share
of PacifiCorp Power Marketing/Florida Light and Power’s Stateline wind project, Condon Wind Project
LLC’s Condon wind project, NWW Wind Power’s Klondike Phase 1 (2001) wind project, a share from
NWW Wind Power’s Klondike Phase III (2007), and a share of the City of Ashland’s solar project.

Bonneville Contract Purchases include contracts for power from both inside and outside the Region,
including Canada.

(13)

Bonneville’s Power Trading Floor Activities

Much of Bonneville’s resource base is provided by hydroelectric facilities, the output of which is affected by weather
conditions, stream-flows, operating constraints, and other factors. In most years, Bonneville also sells substantial
amounts of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy in market-based transactions. In addition, other generation conditions
and requirements generally may affect generation output. Thus, actual generation availability and output may vary
hourly, daily, monthly, or seasonally. In addition, power loads fluctuate based on consumer usage, demands to maintain
transmission system stability, and other factors. Thus, loads and availability of generation from Bonneville’s own
resources can vary substantially and, on an operational basis during a year, actual power from Bonneville’s own
generating resources may not match its loads. In the near-term (prior to and during a fiscal year), Bonneville routinely
produces probabilistic and discrete studies estimating potential surplus or deficits for specific future time periods.
Based on these studies and specific marketing guidelines, Bonneville actively manages short-term surpluses and
deficits through real-time, within-month, and forward sales and purchases, and physical power options.

Bonneville believes that its revenues and expenses from market transactions are, and will be, subject to several key
risks: (i) the level and volatility of market prices for electric power in western North America, which affect the



revenues Bonneville receives from discretionary sales of energy and the cost of necessary power purchases Bonneville
may have to make to meet contracted loads; (ii) the level of Bonneville’s load serving obligation; (iii) water conditions
in the Columbia River basin, which determine the amount of hydroelectric power Bonneville has to sell and its
economic value and the amount of power it has to purchase in order to meet its commitments; (iv) changes in fish
protection requirements, which could be the source of substantial additional expense to Bonneville and could further
affect the amount and value of hydroelectric power from the Federal System; (v) continued availability of the capability
of existing generating resources; and (vi) operating costs, generally.

Bonneville has put in place risk management procedures, standards, and policies that it believes adequately mitigate
risk from these activities. Nonetheless, Bonneville’s exposure to operational variability means that Bonneville may in
certain conditions have to incur substantial purchased power expense. See “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER
SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—2010 Dodd-Frank Act and Bonneville.”

Customers and Other Power Contract Parties of Bonneville’s Power Services

Bonneville’s primary transacting counterparties are composed of four principal groups: Preference Customers, DSIs,
Regional I0Us, and Market Counterparties. Under the Northwest Power Act, Bonneville has a statutory obligation to
meet electric power loads in the Region that are placed on Bonneville by electric power utilities. See “POWER
SERVICES—-Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Bonneville’s Obligation to
Meet Certain Firm Power Requirements in the Region.”

Preference Customers

Bonneville’s primary customer base is composed of Preference Customers which make long-term power purchases
from Bonneville at cost-based rates to meet their native loads in the Region. Preference Customers are qualifying
publicly-owned utilities and consumer-owned electric cooperatives within the Region, and they are entitled by law to a
preference and priority (“Public Preference”) in the purchase of available Federal System power for their load
requirements in the Region. Such customers are eligible to purchase power at Bonneville’s lowest cost rate, the PF
Rate, for most of their loads. Under Public Preference, Bonneville must meet a Preference Customer’s request for
available Federal System power in preference to a competing request from a non-Preference entity for the same power.
In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, Public Preference does not compel Bonneville to lower the offered
price of uncommitted surplus Bonneville power to Preference Customers before meeting a competing request at a
higher price for such uncommitted power from a non-Preference entity. Bonneville sells power to certain large
Preference Customers under market-type contracts other than for their own load requirements. Bonneville also sells
relatively small amounts of power to several Federal agencies in the Region. While such Federal agency customers do
not qualify as Preference Customers, they are entitled to buy power from Bonneville at the PF Rate.

Direct Service Industrial Customers

Bonneville may, but is not required to, sell power to a limited number of DSIs within the Region for the purchase of
power for their direct consumption. Almost all of Bonneville’s service to DSIs has been to aluminum smelting or
processing facilities. Most of the aluminum industry in the Pacific Northwest has ceased to operate. Currently,
Bonneville sells power to two DSIs in the aggregate amount of about 340 annual average megawatts.

Regional Investor-Owned Utilities

As required by the Northwest Power Act, Bonneville has offered, and four of the six Regional IOUs have agreed to,
contracts under which Bonneville could serve Regional IOUs with electric power for their net requirements beginning
Fiscal Year 2020 if such service is requested not later than the end of Fiscal Year 2016. Bonneville provides firm
power to the Regional IOUs under contracts other than long-term firm requirements power sales contracts. Bonneville
also sells substantial amounts of peaking capacity to Regional IOUs. Power sales to Regional IOUs are distinct from
Bonneville’s contracts implementing the Residential Exchange Program, as provided by statute. The Residential
Exchange Program obligations, described herein, result in payments by Bonneville to participating utilities. See “—
Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program,” and
“CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Residential Exchange Program and Proposed
Settlement.”



Market Counterparties and Exports of Surplus Power to the Pacific Southwest

Bonneville has a large number of parties with whom it has commercial power-related arrangements that are not based
on Bonneville’s statutory obligations (as in the case of statutory load-meeting obligations to Preference Customers and
Regional I0Us, and payment obligations under the Residential Exchange Program) or on long-term relationships that
are based on prior statutory obligations (as in the case of DSIs). These counterparties include utilities located outside
the Region, power marketers, and independent power producers. Transactions with these counterparties include, but are
not limited to, arrangements for the purchase, sale and/or exchange of power, transmission, and related services.

Bonneville sells and exchanges power via the Pacific Northwest-Pacific Southwest Intertie (the “Southern Intertie”)
transmission lines to Pacific Southwest utilities, power marketers, and other entities, which use most of such power to
serve California loads. These sales and exchanges are composed of firm power and seasonal surplus (secondary) energy
that are surplus to Bonneville’s Regional requirements. Exports of Bonneville power for use outside the Pacific
Northwest are subject to a statutory requirement that Bonneville offer such power for sale to Regional utilities to meet
Regional loads before offering such power to a customer outside the Region. However, in the opinion of Bonneville’s
General Counsel, Bonneville is not required to reduce the rate of proposed export sales to meet a Regional customer’s
request if the proposed export sale is at a higher, FERC-approved rate than the Regional customer is willing to pay.

In addition, Bonneville’s contracts for firm energy and peaking capacity sales outside the Region include, as required
by the Regional Preference Act, recall provisions that enable Bonneville to terminate such sales, upon advance notice,
if needed to meet Bonneville customers’ power requirements in the Region. With certain limited exceptions,
Bonneville’s sales of Federal System power out of the Region are subject to termination on 60 days’ notice in the case
of energy and on 60 months’ notice in the case of peaking capacity. These rights help Bonneville assure that the power
needs of its Regional customers are met. Power exchange contracts are not required to contain the Regional recall
provisions.

Pacific Southwest utilities typically account for the greatest share of purchases of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy
from Bonneville and these transactions account for the greatest share of revenues from Bonneville’s exports. The
amount of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy that Bonneville has available to export depends on precipitation and
other power supply factors in the Northwest, the available transmission capacity of the Southern Intertie, the attributes
of restructured power markets in the Pacific Southwest, and other factors that may constrain exports notwithstanding
the availability of power.

While Bonneville designs its power rates, including its rates for out-of-Region power sales, to recover its costs, it does
so in some cases with flexible price levels that enable Bonneville to make additional sales in a competitive
marketplace. Revenues that Bonneville obtains from exporting power out of the Region depend on market conditions
and the resulting prices. These revenues are affected by the weather and other factors that affect demand in the Pacific
Southwest, and the cost and availability of alternatives to Bonneville’s power. The cost of alternative power is
frequently dependent on other electric energy suppliers’ resource costs such as the cost of hydro-, coal-, oil- and natural
gas-fired generation. Bonneville believes that if its power sales in the Region were to decline, any resulting surplus of
power could be sold to the Pacific Southwest. Such sales may be limited, however, by Southern Intertie capacity and
other factors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk may be concentrated to the extent that one or more groups of counterparties, including purchasers and
sellers, in power transactions with Bonneville have similar economic, industry, or other characteristics that would cause
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in market or other conditions. Credit
risk includes not only the risk that a counterparty may default due to circumstances relating directly to it, but also the
risk that a counterparty may default due to the circumstances that relate to other market participants that have a direct
or indirect relationship with such counterparty. Bonneville seeks to mitigate credit risk (and concentrations thereof) by
applying specific eligibility criteria to prospective counterparties. However, despite mitigation efforts, defaults by
counterparties occur from time to time. To date, no such default has had a material adverse effect on Bonneville.
Bonneville continues to actively monitor the creditworthiness of counterparties with whom it executes wholesale
energy transactions and uses a variety of risk mitigation techniques to limit its exposure where it believes appropriate.

Effect on Bonneville of Developments in California Power Markets in 1999-2001
In connection with the historically high power prices and volatility in West Coast power markets in 1999-2001, FERC

initiated three proceedings (collectively, “the West Coast FERC Proceedings”) to address, under the Federal Power Act
(“FPA”), whether certain power sellers charged unjust and unreasonable prices and therefore should refund to power



purchasers any amounts overcharged. The FERC proceedings and the problems experienced in West Coast power
markets in 1999-2001 have also engendered litigation affecting Bonneville.

In the “California Refund Docket,” FERC is examining whether to order refunds from entities that sold power into
California power markets in 2000 and 2001. More particularly, FERC is examining whether and the extent to which
power prices charged to two entities created under California state law to facilitate competitive power markets in the
state were “unjust and unreasonable.” These entities are the California Power Exchange (“Cal-PX”) (which filed for
bankruptcy protection and has ceased operations) and the California Independent System Operator (“Cal-ISO”), both of
which had obligations to purchase power under the competitive power market structure that California established.
Bonneville sold power to the Cal-ISO and the Cal-PX in 2000 and 2001. They have separate outstanding payment
obligations to Bonneville for such sales, which Bonneville estimates to be about $75 million in aggregate, plus interest.
(Bonneville has recorded provisions for uncollectible amounts, which in management’s best estimate are sufficient to
cover any potential exposure.)

In litigation arising out of the California Refund Docket, the Ninth Circuit Court ultimately held, in September 2005,
that Bonneville was not (under law in effect at the time) subject to FERC authority to order refunds. As a result of the
court’s ruling, the California Refund Docket cannot result in any refund liability to Bonneville.

In light of the court ruling, three California-based investor-owned utilities (Pacific Gas and Electric (“PG&E”), San
Diego Gas and Electric and Southern California Edison (“SCE”), and the California Attorney General on behalf of the
California Energy Scheduling Resources, a California state agency, filed separate breach of contract claims against
Bonneville in the United States Court of Federal Claims in March 2007. Each claim seeks unspecified damages related
to Bonneville’s power sales into the Cal-PX and Cal-ISO markets. The California parties allege that Bonneville is
contractually obligated to provide refunds of amounts received in excess of the mitigated market clearing prices for
certain periods in 2000 and 2001, as established by FERC in separate refund proceedings and notwithstanding that
FERC has no authority to order refunds against Bonneville for the related sales. The California parties also seek to
recover pre-judgment and post-judgment interest and litigation costs. Bonneville estimates that the aggregate contract
damages claimed by California parties in the Court of Federal Claims contract litigation arising out of the California
Refund Docket are $50 million in specified damages plus an additional amount of unspecified damages. In October
2008, Bonneville filed answers to the various complaints. A trial on the liability issues commenced in July 2010 and
concluded on August 2, 2010. The parties are currently in the process of filing post trial briefs. Closing arguments are
scheduled to be heard in late January 2011. If the plaintiffs prevail on the liability phase of the case, a damages trial
will be scheduled to determine the amount of damages.

In the second West Coast FERC Proceeding (the “Northwest Spot Market Docket”), FERC reviewed the extent to
which power prices in the bilateral “spot market” in the Pacific Northwest were “unjust and unreasonable” in certain
periods in 2000 and 2001. In November 2003, FERC concluded, among other things, that the prices during the relevant
period were not unjust and unreasonable, that refunds should not be ordered, and that FERC would terminate the
proceeding. Appeals challenging the order were filed in the Ninth Circuit Court. The Ninth Circuit Court has issued an
opinion remanding the matter to FERC to further consider the denial of refunds. Based on the Ninth Circuit Court’s
decision that FERC lacked jurisdiction to order Bonneville to provide refunds under then-applicable law, Bonneville
believes that the Northwest Spot Market Docket will not result in any refund liability to Bonneville.

In the third West Coast FERC Proceeding (the “Show Cause Proceeding”), FERC issued “Show Cause Orders” to
Bonneville and other West Coast power market participants in an investigation of whether they had manipulated prices
in West Coast power markets in and after 2000. After further review, FERC dismissed the Show Cause Order with
respect to Bonneville. Certain parties appealed the dismissal to Federal appellate court and FERC moved to dismiss the
appeal. The Federal appellate court has not yet rendered a decision on the motion to dismiss the appeal.

In Fiscal Year 2005, Congress enacted the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (“EPA-2005"), which subjects Bonneville to
FERC jurisdiction on a prospective basis for purposes of establishing refund liability. See “MATTERS RELATING
TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Energy Policy Act of 2005.” For a description of
litigation between Southern California Edison and Bonneville arising out of developments in West Coast energy
markets in 1999-2000, see “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—Southern California Edison v. Bonneville Power
Administration.”



Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services
Bonneville’s Obligation to Meet Certain Firm Power Requirements in the Region

The Northwest Power Act requires Bonneville to meet certain firm loads in the Region placed on Bonneville by
contract by various Preference Customers and Regional IOUs. Bonneville believes it does not have a statutory
obligation to meet all firm loads within the Region. Bonneville is not obligated by law to sell power to a DSI.

Under the Northwest Power Act, when requested, Bonneville must offer to sell to each eligible utility, which includes
Preference Customers and Regional I0Us, sufficient power to meet that portion of the utility’s Regional firm power
loads that it requests Bonneville to meet. The extent of Bonneville’s obligation to meet the firm loads of a requesting
utility is determined by the amount by which the utility’s firm power loads exceed (i) the capability of the utility’s firm
peaking capacity and energy resources used in operating year 1979 to serve its own loads; and (ii) such other resources
as the utility determines, pursuant to its power sales contract with Bonneville, will be used to serve the utility’s firm
loads in the Region. If Bonneville has or expects to have inadequate power to meet all of its contractual obligations to
its customers, certain statutory and contractual provisions allow for the allocation of available power.

As required by law, Bonneville’s power sales contracts with Regional utilities contain provisions that require prior
notice by the utility before it may use, or discontinue using, a generating resource to serve such utility’s own firm loads
in the Region. The amount of notice required depends on whether Bonneville has a firm power surplus and whether the
Regional utility’s generating resource is being added to serve or withdrawn from serving the utility’s own firm load.
These provisions are designed to give Bonneville advance notice of the need to obtain additional resources or take other
steps to meet such load.

Some of Bonneville’s Preference Customers and all of the Regional IOUs have generating resources, which they may
use to meet their firm loads in the Region. Each of such customers has to identify the amount of its loads it would meet
with its own resources, thereby providing Bonneville with advance notice of the need to add resources or take other
steps to meet these loads. These provisions are also included in all existing power sales contracts under which
Bonneville has a load following obligation, including under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts. The New Long-
Term Preference Contracts include provisions that enable Preference Customers to put additional net requirements load
on Bonneville, although Bonneville will serve such new loads at Tier 2 PF Rates, which Bonneville expects will be
higher than Tier 1 PF Rates. Bonneville has executed requirements agreements with four Regional IOUs for the period
after Fiscal Year 2011, but no requirements power will be provided under these agreements until at least Fiscal Year
2020. See “CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Power Sales and Related Arrangements
in the Period after Fiscal Year 2011—Residential Exchange Program and Other Arrangements with Regional IOUs
after Fiscal Year 2011.”

Although Bonneville has contracts to sell firm power to extra-Regional customers, Bonneville is not required by law to
offer contracts to meet such customers’ firm loads. Similarly, Bonneville provides firm power to certain Federal
agencies within the Region; however, Bonneville is not required by law to offer to meet these agencies’ firm loads.

New Long-Term Preference Contracts. Bonneville will provide two basic types of service under the New
Long-Term Preference Contracts. These services are similar to those which Bonneville currently provides to Preference
Customers: (i) Slice/Block service, which is an integrated power product combining Slice and Block, and (ii) Load
Following service, under which the equivalent of Full Requirements or Partial Requirements service can be obtained
from Bonneville. Under Slice/Block, Bonneville commits to provide a Slice of the System product together with fixed
blocks of power at designated times. Under Load Following service, Bonneville provides the actual power
requirements of the related customer after taking into account generating resources, if any, that the customer has
identified, consistent with certain contract conditions, as being used to meet its loads. A customer’s net requirements
loads, in general, are the customer’s loads within its service territory that are served other than with the non-Federal
System resources designated by the customer as being used to serve the customer’s native loads.

Seventeen separate Preference Customers elected to purchase Slice/Block as the type of service they will receive under
their New Long-Term Preference Contracts. The remaining Preference Customers have elected to take Load Following
service. In aggregate, sales of the Slice component of Slice/Block under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts
represent about 27.0 percent of Federal System generation. By contrast, Bonneville currently sells about 22.6 percent of
the Federal System generation as Slice under certain of the Current Preference Contracts. Preliminary forecasts for
Fiscal Year 2012 indicate that loads met under Load Following service will be about 3,300 annual average megawatts.
Loads met by Slice/Block service will be about 3,800 annual average megawatts in total, half of which is expected to
be for the Block portion (1,900 average annual megawatts) and half of which is expected to be for the Slice portion
(1,900 average annual megawatts). The forecasts reflect an attempt to predict actual loads that will be met under the
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specified type of service, which loads vary with weather, economic and other conditions, and in the case of Slice, the
actual generation of the Federal System.

All of the New Long-Term Preference Contracts for Load Following service subject the customers to a payment
commitment under which they are required to pay for power tendered by Bonneville. If a customer’s net requirements
decline the customer’s purchase obligation from Bonneville is reduced commensurately. For Slice/Block, the
customers’ obligations and rights to purchase power are similarly capped by their net requirements. If their net
requirements decline, the Block portion is reduced first.

To implement the policy directive of meeting incremental loads at rates reflecting the associated costs, the New Long-
Term Preference Contracts restrict the power that Preference Customers may purchase in aggregate at Tier 1 PF Rates
in general to an amount equal to the generating output of the currently existing Federal System. Tier 1 PF Rates will
reflect, in general, the low, embedded costs of the existing Federal System. Power for Tier 2 Loads, meaning any net
requirements load placed on Bonneville by a customer in excess of its right to purchase at Tier 1 PF Rates, will be sold
at Tier 2 PF Rates that recover the cost to Bonneville of acquiring the incremental electric power needed to meet Tier 2
Loads. Bonneville expects that Tier 1 PF Rates will be lower than Tier 2 PF Rates because the embedded cost of power
of the existing Federal System, which will be allocated for recovery in Tier PF 1 Rates, will likely be lower than the
cost of new resources obtained to meet Tier 2 Loads and allocated for recovery in Tier 2 PF Rates.

The amount of power to be purchased at Tier 1 PF Rates may be expanded in certain limited circumstances. These
include: (i) an amount of up to 300 annual average megawatts in augmentation purchases of electric power to address
specific issues related to the transition to the new contracts, including intervening load growth until Fiscal Year 2012,
(i) up to 250 average megawatts, if necessary, for new Preference Customers (limit through Fiscal Year 2028), and (iii)
70 annual average megawatts for a potential sale to DOE. In addition, Bonneville’s obligation to sell power at Tier 1 PF
Rates will be reduced if and to the extent that specified existing Federal System resources, including the Columbia
Generating Station, decline in capability.

Each Preference Customer’s right to purchase power at Tier 1 PF Rates will be determined based in part on the
proportion that its net requirement bears to all Preference Customers’ net requirements placed on Bonneville in Fiscal
Year 2010, or, in limited cases, in two fiscal years prior to Fiscal Year 2010. In view of declines in the loads of some
Preference Customers arising from the current economic recession and the expectation that much of the decline in loads
will be recovered as the recession ends, Bonneville has agreed that a Preference Customer may elect to establish the
amount of power it may purchase at Tier 1 PF Rates based upon the greater of the average net requirements it had two
fiscal years before Fiscal Year 2010. Thus, a customer that had higher net requirements in Fiscal Years 2007-2008 may
elect to use such alternative measure, thereby maximizing the availability of the amount of power it may purchase at
Tier 1 PF Rates. Furthermore, because a Preference Customer’s right to purchase power at Tier 1 PF Rates is
proportionate based on its net requirements relative to all Preference Customers’ net requirements, the exact proportion
of the amount of power at Tier 1 PF Rates that each Preference Customer has access to will likely adjust slightly over
time if and when Bonneville begins meeting the loads of new Preference Customers. However, the Preference
Customer’s access to this higher amount will expire to the extent that the load decline has not been regained by
September 30, 2013.

Bonneville currently assumes that aggregate Tier 1 allocation will be slightly less than the existing Federal System
capability. If so, all allocations will be scaled up to the size of the existing Federal System capability. It is possible that
the amount of allocations granted for load declines would increase Tier 1 allocations in excess of the existing Federal
System capability. However, it is expected that this would be relatively small and that the resulting amount of the
Tier 1 augmentation described above will be substantially less than 300 annual average megawatts.

Bonneville has signed a power sales contract with one new Preference Customer located in Washington state.
Bonneville will provide 35 annual average megawatts to this utility starting on July 1, 2013. Bonneville is unable to
predict whether other potential public utilities will commence operation or become Preference Customers.

A key element of the New Long-Term Preference Contracts is the establishment of the Tiered Rates Methodology for
periodically determining the applicable PF Rates throughout the term of the new contracts. Bonneville expects to
employ two-year rate periods during the term of the New Long-Term Preference Contracts. The Tiered Rates
Methodology defines the costs that will be allocated to Tier 1 PF Rates and Tier 2 PF Rates: Tier 2 PF Rates recover
the costs of meeting loads at Tier 2 Rates while Tier 1 PF Rates recover the costs of the Federal System generating
facilities. The costs to be recovered under Tier 1 PF Rates include the costs assigned to power rates for the Net Billed
Projects (some Net Billed Project debt service costs are assigned to be recovered in transmission rates), Federal System
fish and wildlife costs, electric power conservation programs, transitional power augmentation as discussed above,
power benefits to be provided to DSIs (if any), and Residential Exchange Program benefits. Under the Tiered Rates



Methodology, a majority of revenues from Bonneville’s sales of secondary energy derived from Tier 1 Federal System
resources are allocated to non-Slice Tier 1 PF Rates. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—Long-Term Regional
Dialogue Contracts, Policies and Records of Decision.”

As noted above, power for Tier 2 Loads, meaning any net requirements load placed on Bonneville by a customer in
excess of its right to purchase at Tier 1 PF Rates, will be sold at Tier 2 PF Rates that seek to recover the cost to
Bonneville of acquiring the electric power needed to meet such Tier 2 Loads. For all Preference Customers purchasing
power from Bonneville to meet Tier 2 Loads, such purchases will be integrated with purchases of power for Tier 1
Loads into a single power purchase, although the purchase of power by Bonneville for Tier 2 Loads will be made on a
take-or-pay basis for the specified amount of power.

Bonneville offered several approaches for Preference Customers to define the extent, if any, to which Bonneville will
meet their Tier 2 Loads. Bonneville provided the customers the ability to rely entirely on Bonneville to meet all such
loads throughout the term of the contracts. Bonneville also allowed the customers to rely on Bonneville, with specified
notice to Bonneville, to meet all or a portion of their Tier 2 Loads for defined multi-year periods through the term of
the agreements. Under this approach, a participating Preference Customer could require Bonneville to meet none, all, or
designated portions of the customer’s Tier 2 Loads. In addition, Bonneville will allow customers to make all or portions
of their Tier 2 purchases from specified resources or resource pools obtained by Bonneville. This is expected to assist
such customers in meeting renewable resource or other requirements or goals.

Under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts, Preference Customers have committed to the Tier 2 Loads they will
place on Bonneville in the three fiscal years commencing with Fiscal Year 2012. Bonneville will be obligated to meet
20 annual average megawatts of Tier 2 Loads beginning in Fiscal Year 2012, increasing to 57 annual average
megawatts in Fiscal Year 2013. For Fiscal Year 2014, Tier 2 Load commitments are fixed for customers that will
purchase Block service for their Tier 2 Loads (about 2 annual average megawatts); however, the commitments in Fiscal
Year 2014 for those receiving Load Following service for Tier 2 Loads will not be determined until Fiscal Year 2012.
Under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts, Preference Customers are required on or before September 30, 2011,
to commit to the amount of Tier 2 Loads they will place on Bonneville in the five fiscal years commencing with Fiscal
Year 2015. Similar Tier 2 elections and advance notice to Bonneville are required in the five fiscal years beginning
with Fiscal Year 2020, and the four fiscal years beginning with Fiscal Year 2025.

Federal System [ oad/Resource Balance. In order to determine whether Bonneville will have to obtain
additional electric power resources on a planning basis, and to determine the amount of firm power that Bonneville
may have to market apart from committed loads, Bonneville periodically estimates the amount of load that it will be
required to meet under its contracts.

Bonneville’s loads and resources are subject to a number of uncertainties over the coming years. Among these
uncertainties are: (i) the level of loads and types of loads placed on Bonneville under the provisions of the Northwest
Power Act; (ii) the amount of power purchases, resource acquisitions, and other arrangements that Bonneville will have
to make to meet contracted loads; (iii) future non-power operating requirements from future biological opinions or
amendments to biological opinions; (iv) the availability of new generation resources or contract purchases available in
the Pacific Northwest to meet future Regional loads; (v) changes in the regulation of power markets at the wholesale
and retail level; (vi) the overall load growth from population changes and economic activity within the Region; and
(vii) evolving transmission system needs to provide ancillary services.

Bonneville’s Authority to Add Resources. In order to meet the foregoing power sales and load obligations,
Bonneville may have to obtain electric power from sources in addition to the existing Federal System hydroelectric
projects and existing non-Federally-owned generating projects, the output of which Bonneville has acquired by
contract. By law, Bonneville may not own or construct generating facilities. However, the Northwest Power Act
authorizes Bonneville to acquire “resources” to serve firm loads pursuant to certain procedures and standards set forth
in the Northwest Power Act. “Resources” are defined in the Northwest Power Act to mean: (1) electric power,
including the actual or planned electric power capability of generating facilities; or (2) the actual or planned load
reduction resulting from direct application of a renewable resource by a consumer, or from conservation measures.
“Conservation” is defined in the Northwest Power Act to mean measures to reduce electric power consumption as a
result of increased efficiency of energy use, production, or distribution.

Bonneville’s statutory responsibility to meet its firm power contractual obligations may lead Bonneville to acquire
additional power and conservation resources. The extent to which Bonneville does so will depend on the effects of the
competitive wholesale electric power market, load growth, and other factors.
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The acquisition of resources under the standards and procedures of the Northwest Power Act, however, is not the sole
method by which Bonneville may meet its power requirements. Other methods are available. These include, but are not
limited to: (1) exchange of surplus Bonneville peaking capacity for firm energy; (2) receipt of additional power from
improvements at Federally- and non-Federally-owned generating facilities; and (3) purchase of power under the
Transmission System Act for periods of less than five years.

Bonneville’s resource acquisitions under the Northwest Power Act are guided by a Regional conservation and electric
power plan (the “Power Plan”) prepared by the Northwest Power and Conservation Council (the “Council”). The
governors of the states of Washington, Oregon, Montana, and Idaho each appoint two members to the Council, which is
charged under the Northwest Power Act with developing and periodically amending a long range power plan to help
guide energy and conservation development in the Region. The Power Plan sets forth guidance for Bonneville
regarding implementing conservation measures and developing generating resources to meet Bonneville’s Regional
load obligations. It addresses risks and uncertainties for the Region’s electricity future and seeks a resource strategy
that minimizes the expected cost of the Regional power system over the next 20 years. The Power Plan is revised by the
Council approximately every five years. On February 10, 2010, the Council released its Sixth Northwest Power Plan
(the “Sixth Power Plan”). The Council also develops and periodically amends a fish and wildlife program for the
Region. See “—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and Wildlife.”

According to the Sixth Power Plan, cost-effective energy efficiency could meet 85 percent of the new load over the
next 20 years (about 5,900 of 7,000 average megawatts). This efficiency, combined with new renewable energy, could
delay investments in new fossil-fuel power plants until future environmental legislation is clear and alternative low-
carbon energy sources have matured in technology and cost. The resource strategy in the Sixth Power Plan includes
five specific recommendations: (i) develop cost-effective energy efficiency aggressively — at least 1,200 average
megawatts by 2015, and equal or slightly higher amounts every five years through 2030; (ii) develop cost-effective
renewable energy as required by state laws, particularly wind power, accounting for its variable output; (iii) improve
power-system operating procedures to integrate wind power and improve the efficiency and flexibility of the power
system; (iv) build new natural gas-fired power plants to meet local needs for on-demand energy and back-up power,
and reduce reliance on existing coal-fired plants to help meet the power system’s share of carbon-reduction goals and
policies; and (v) investigate new technologies such as the “smart-grid,” new energy-efficiency and renewable energy
sources, advanced nuclear power, and carbon sequestration.

Bonneville strongly supports the Sixth Power Plan’s reliance on energy efficiency and renewable energy (primarily
wind power) to meet the Region’s future load growth and is committed to meeting Bonneville’s 42 percent share of the
Council’s Regional conservation target. Bonneville’s share equates to about 500 annual average megawatts of savings
in aggregate over the five-year period of the Sixth Power Plan. Bonneville is ramping up efforts in order to achieve this
level of conservation in the aggregate over the five-year period. Achieving the conservation targets will help
Bonneville manage future load-growth and minimize reliance on development of new generating resources in order to
meet demand. See “—Bonneville’s Resource Program and Bonneville’s Resource Strategies for the Post-2011 Period
Electric Power Conservation.”

Bonneville’s Resource Program and Bonneville’s Resource Strategies for the Post-2011 Period. In September
2010, Bonneville issued a “Resource Program” to evaluate whether Bonneville may need to acquire resources to meet
its power supply obligations, primarily to customers under the New Long-Term Preference Contracts. The Resource
Program also supplies information to Bonneville’s customers about resources available to meet their needs. The
planning horizon for the Resource Program extends through Operating Year 2019. In addition to examining annual
energy needs, the Resource Program assessed Bonneville’s needs for monthly/seasonal heavy load hour energy,
capacity needs for extreme weather events and hourly balancing reserves through Operating Year 2019.

The needs assessment showed that recent events, including the current economic recession, have diminished
Bonneville’s near-term resource needs. As a result, Bonneville expects to satisfy much of its expected supply needs
through Operating Year 2013 with conservation and short-term power purchases from the wholesale power market. In
Operating Year 2019, continued conservation efforts may not be sufficient in all load scenarios. Bonneville intends to
meet the public power share of the Council’s conservation targets in the final Sixth Power Plan.

Bonneville’s Resource Program states that the additional power supply Bonneville will need to secure, if any, after
achieving conservation targets will depend in large part on the outcome of a number of uncertainties about loads that
Bonneville may or may not serve: (i) Preference Customer choices of power supplier(s) for their Tier 2 Loads under the
new Long-Term Preference Contracts; (ii) long-term service to the DSIs; (iii) potential formation of new public or
tribal utilities that can place load on Bonneville; (iv) increased load service to DOE; and (v) the growth of the wind
power fleet in the Bonneville balancing authority area and the magnitude and source of supply for reserves to support
wind power integration to the Federal Transmission System. In November 2009, Preference Customers made elections
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under their New Long-Term Preference Contracts to supply about 75 percent of load growth in Fiscal Year 2012
through Fiscal Year 2014, while placing 25 percent on Bonneville during that period. These commitments to place a
comparatively small amount of Tier 2 Loads on Bonneville have helped refine Bonneville’s load placement
expectations through Fiscal Year 2019.

The Resource Program identifies additional uncertainties that also could affect Bonneville’s need for resources,
including long-term Regional economic growth, long-term load growth, fish requirements that impact hydro-
generation, success of conservation efforts, new regulatory requirements (carbon pricing), and continued availability of
existing resources.

Short-Term Power Purchases. Bonneville’s approach for the post-2011 period, as set forth in the New Long-
Term Preference Contracts, is to provide Regional Customers with the opportunity to meet their own incremental loads
without facing increased costs for service to their existing loads as a result of such decision. Nonetheless, to the extent
that Bonneville assumes incremental load obligations above the existing generating resources of the Federal System,
Bonneville must obtain additional electric power. Bonneville believes that, in general, new sources of power should
have fixed costs that can be recovered over a shorter period, should provide power in the times of the year when power
is required, should be capable of being displaced when hydroelectric power is available, and should have costs that can
be offset when hydroelectric power is available. Short-term purchases are the one type of resource that meets
incremental load obligations without incurring long-term fixed costs.

One risk associated with a short-term purchase strategy is the potential for high spot market prices. In general, spot
market prices are high when energy demand is strong and coal and natural gas prices are high, although such prices can
also rise in dry years when there is comparatively little hydroelectric power available. Since Bonneville’s resources are
predominantly hydro-based while most other West Coast producers are natural gas-based, Bonneville in general is at a
competitive advantage when coal and gas prices are high.

A short-term purchase strategy can lead to fluctuating revenues and/or revenue requirements. In dry years, Bonneville’s
revenue requirements could increase as it could be forced to spend a significant amount of money for short-term
purchases to meet loads, to the extent that Bonneville had not previously purchased power. In wet years, purchase
requirements can be significantly reduced as Bonneville would meet more of its loads with seasonal surplus
(secondary) hydroelectric power.

In contrast to a reliance on long-term resource acquisitions, a short-term purchase strategy should reduce the possibility
that Bonneville would over-commit to long-term purchases and be forced to sell consequent surpluses at low prices in
the market. Nonetheless, it is still possible, even with a short-term purchase strategy, that Bonneville could purchase
more energy than needed and have to sell consequent surpluses at low prices. Dependence on short-term purchases also
may make access to transmission a more important issue than reliability of generation.

Electric Power Conservation. Bonneville also has programs intended to encourage the development of
electric power conservation measures in the Region. Electric power conservation can reduce the demand for Bonneville
to meet electric power loads. During the 2010-2011 Rate Period, Bonneville is providing a $.50 per megawatt-hour rate
discount to those of its customers that implement conservation measures. In addition, Bonneville has a target of
facilitating the development of 99 annual average megawatts of new conservation during Fiscal Year 2011. Bonneville
estimates that under its Fiscal Year 2011 conservation program, an annual average megawatt of energy savings will
cost, on average, approximately $2.2 million. Bonneville estimates that under its Fiscal Year 2012 conservation
program, an annual average megawatt of energy savings will cost, on average, approximately $2.3 million, increasing
to approximately $2.5 million in Fiscal Year 2013 and 2014. Bonneville estimates that it achieved new conservation
savings of 71 annual average megawatts in Fiscal Year 2009 and 90 average megawatts in Fiscal Year 2010.

In Fiscal Year 2012, Bonneville will no longer provide a discount to those of its customers that implement conservation
measures. An equivalent amount of conservation measures will be implemented but Bonneville will instead facilitate
development of and fund conservation measures with the proceeds of debt issued to the United States Treasury and/or
debt issued by third parties and secured by Bonneville.

Bonneville’s past policy had been to expense these conservation measures in the period incurred. Starting in Fiscal
Year 2012, rate case assumptions will treat these conservation costs as capital. In addition, beginning in Fiscal Year
2011, rate case assumptions will amortize all capital conservation measures over a period of 12 years in order to better
match the expense with the period of benefit.

Renewable Energy. Bonneville presently purchases a total of approximately 66 annual average megawatts
from various wind energy projects in Wyoming, Oregon, and Washington and small amounts of power from solar
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photovoltaic projects. Bonneville also has contracted to purchase 49.9 megawatts from a geothermal project. This
project has not been built. It was originally scheduled to become operational in December 2005, but it is not clear yet
whether the site is a viable geothermal resource and the project site is the subject of on-going environmental litigation.
Bonneville’s expectation of the earliest date for commercial operation has been extended to October 1, 2015.

Acquisition of renewable resource output from specific projects is a potential source of energy to meet forecasted
deficits. In addition to any renewable resource acquisitions, Bonneville has launched several initiatives: (1) Bonneville
has formed a technical cross agency team dedicated to designing cost-effective means to integrate large amounts of
wind into the Federal System; (2) Bonneville issued a renewable resource information request designed to provide
Bonneville and its customers with information on renewable generation available for purchase over the next several
years; and (3) Bonneville will continue during Fiscal Years 2011 and 2012 to provide direct programmatic funding for
research and development activities including long-term solar and wind data monitoring.

Residential Exchange Program

Implementing the Residential Exchange Program. The Northwest Power Act created the Residential
Exchange Program to extend the benefits of low-cost Federal power to certain residential and small farm power users in
the Region. In effect, the program results in cash payments by Bonneville to exchanging utilities, which are required to
pass the benefit of the cash payments through in its entirety to eligible residential and small farm customers.

Under the Residential Exchange Program, Bonneville is to “purchase” power offered by an exchanging utility at its
“average system cost,” which is determined by Bonneville through the application of a methodology defining the costs
that may be included in an exchanging utility’s average system cost as the production and transmission costs that an
exchanging utility incurs for power. Bonneville is then to offer an identical amount of power for “sale” to the utility for
the purpose of “resale” to the exchanging utility’s residential users. In reality, no power changes hands. Rather,
Bonneville makes cash payments to each exchanging utility in an amount determined by multiplying the utility’s
eligible residential load times the difference between the utility’s average system cost and Bonneville’s applicable
Priority Firm Exchange Rate (which is a version of the PF Rate adjusted for the costs of statutory rate protection
afforded to Preference Customers), if such rate is lower. The costs of the Residential Exchange Program are shown in
the Federal System Statement of Revenues and Expenses set forth under “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL
OPERATIONS—Historical Federal System Financial Data—Federal System Statement of Revenues and Expenses.”

Transition in the Provision of Residential Exchange Program Benefits. In Fiscal Year 2001, Bonneville and
each of the six Regional IOUs, all of which had theretofore participated in the Residential Exchange Program, entered
into separate ten-year contracts (“Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements”) in an attempt to settle Bonneville’s
statutory Residential Exchange Program obligations with respect to such utilities during the period July 1, 2001 through
September 30, 2011. Subsequent to the execution of the original Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements,
Bonneville and the Regional I0Us entered into a number of amendments and supplemental arrangements. These
amendments and the exercise by some Regional IOUs of contractual provisions under their settlement agreements were
intended to increase the amount of cash payments that Bonneville would make in lieu of certain physical power sales.
The annual aggregate cash payments to Regional IOUs that Bonneville paid under the foregoing arrangements were
between $304 million and $367 million in the four fiscal years beginning with Fiscal Year 2002. In Fiscal Year 2007,
Bonneville paid about $168 million to the Regional IOUs until it temporarily suspended payments in light of the Ninth
Circuit Court’s 2007 rulings that the Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements were invalid. See “BONNEVILLE
LITIGATION—Residential Exchange Program Litigation.” In the rulings, the court found that Bonneville’s reliance on
the settlement of its statutory obligations under the Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements was not
consistent with the Residential Exchange Program provisions of the Northwest Power Act. The court also directed
Bonneville to set power rates consistent with the rulings. Because the rulings were issued after Bonneville had prepared
its final power rate proposal for Fiscal Years 2007-2009, Bonneville prepared a “2009 Supplemental Power Rate
Proposal,” under which Bonneville took the rulings into consideration.

Under the 2009 Supplemental Power Rate Proposal, Bonneville determined four principal items: (i) the Residential
Exchange Program benefits levels that should have been set for Fiscal Years 2002 through 2008, (ii) the level of
Residential Exchange Program benefits expected to be paid in Fiscal Year 2009, (iii) the amount that the Preference
Customers were overcharged in their rates (PF Preference Rate) for Residential Exchange Program Settlement
overpayments in Fiscal Years 2002 through 2008, and (iv) new PF Preference Rate levels for Preference Customers
applicable in Fiscal Year 2009.

To replace the invalidated Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements, Bonneville also developed and
entered into short-term Residential Power and Sale Agreements, to effectuate the Residential Exchange Program
provisions of the Northwest Power Act for Fiscal Years 2009 through 2011. Bonneville has also entered into the Long-
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Term Residential Purchase and Sales Agreements (“Long-Term RPSAs”) with three of the Regional IOUs for Fiscal
Years 2012 through 2028 and has offered to enter into similar agreements with the other three Regional I0Us.
Bonneville also submitted to FERC, and ultimately obtained FERC approval of, a new average system cost
methodology to apply in the determination of Residential Exchange Program benefit levels from and after Fiscal Year
2009.

Bonneville also determined the means by which it will correct the past overpayment of Residential Exchange Program
benefits and the corresponding effects on Preference Customer rates (the overpayments of Residential Exchange
Program benefits resulted in higher rate levels to Preference Customers than otherwise would have been the case).
Bonneville decided that past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits during the Lookback Period
would be recovered gradually through offsetting reductions to Bonneville’s future payments to Regional IOUs for
Residential Exchange Program benefits. These payment offsets in Bonneville’s Residential Exchange Program benefits
payments to Regional IOUs are referred to as Lookback Amounts. Bonneville also determined to pass the benefits of
such Lookback Amounts directly on to Preference Customers in the form of credits on their power bills and in some
cases cash payments. Bonneville estimates that as of the end of Fiscal Year 2010, the un-recouped aggregate
overpayment of Residential Exchange Program benefits was about $569 million. The recoupment period of Lookback
Amounts may be affected by a proposed settlement by Regional parties of the Residential Exchange Program. See
“CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Residential Exchange Program and Proposed
Settlement.”

Fish and Wildlife

General. The Northwest Power Act directs Bonneville to protect, mitigate, and enhance fish and wildlife
resources to the extent they are affected by Federal hydroelectric projects on the Columbia River and its tributaries.
Bonneville makes expenditures and incurs other costs for fish and wildlife in a manner consistent with the Northwest
Power Act and the Council’s Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program (the “Council Program”). In addition, in
the wake of certain listings of fish species under the ESA as threatened or endangered, Bonneville is financially
responsible for expenditures and other costs arising from conformance with the ESA and certain biological opinions
prepared by the NOAA Fisheries and the Fish and Wildlife Service in furtherance of the ESA.

Bonneville typically funds fish and wildlife mitigation through several mechanisms. Since the creation of the Federal
System, Bonneville has repaid the United States Treasury the share of the costs of mitigation by the Corps and
Reclamation that is allocated by law or pursuant to policies promulgated by FERC’s predecessor to the Federal System
projects’ power purpose (as opposed to other project purposes such as irrigation, navigation, and flood control). These
measures mitigate the impact on fish and wildlife of the construction and operation of hydroelectric dams of the Federal
System.

Bonneville also implements and funds measures recommended by the Council to implement the Council Program,
which the Council periodically amends. The Council Program calls for a variety of mitigation measures from habitat
protection to main-stem Columbia River and Snake River flow targets. When such measures affect the operation of the
Federal System and require Bonneville to purchase power to fulfill contractual demands or to spill water and thereby
forgo generation of electricity, for instance, those financial losses are counted as measures funded by Bonneville. While
many of the measures in the Council Program are integrated with and form a substantial portion of the measures
undertaken by Bonneville in connection with the ESA, the Council’s Program measures, especially those designed to
benefit species not listed under the ESA, are in addition to ESA-directed measures. See “—Council’s Fish and Wildlife
Program.”

Bonneville’s fish and wildlife costs fall into two main categories, “Direct Costs” and “Operational Impacts,” both of
which are driven primarily by ESA requirements. Direct Costs include: (i) “Integrated Program Costs,” which are the
costs to Bonneville of implementing projects in support of the Council Program, and which include expense and capital
components for ESA-related and some non-ESA-related measures that are located at sites away from the Federal
System dams; (ii) “Expenses for Recovery of Capital,” which include depreciation, amortization and interest expenses
for fish and wildlife capital investments by the Corps, Reclamation, and Bonneville; and (iii) “Other Entities’ O&M,”
which include fish and wildlife O&M costs of the Fish and Wildlife Service for certain fish hatcheries and of the Corps
and Reclamation for Federal System projects.

“Operational Impacts” include “Replacement Power Purchase Costs” and “Foregone Power Revenues.” Replacement
Power Purchase Costs are the costs of certain power purchases made by Bonneville that are attributable to river
operations in aid of fish and wildlife. To determine these costs in a given year, Bonneville compares the actual
hydroelectric generation in such year against the hydroelectric generation that would have been produced had the
hydroelectric system been operated without any fish and wildlife operating constraints. To the extent that this
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comparison indicates that Bonneville made a power purchase to meet load, which purchase Bonneville would not have
had to make had the river been operated free of fish constraints, Bonneville accounts for such value as a fish and
wildlife cost. “Foregone Power Revenues” are revenues that would have been earned absent changes in hydroelectric
system operations attributable to fish and wildlife.

Bonneville estimates that the total of Direct Costs and Operational Impacts in Fiscal Year 2010 was about $802
million, with $393 million in Direct Costs and $409 million in Operational Impacts. Of the Operational Impacts in
Fiscal Year 2010, $310 million was attributable to Replacement Power Purchase Costs and $99 million was attributable
to Foregone Power Revenues.

Bonneville estimates that the total of Direct Costs and Operational Impacts in Fiscal Year 2009 was about $745
million, with $362 million in Direct Costs and $383 million in Operational Impacts. Of the Operational Impacts in
Fiscal Year 2009, $240 million was attributable to Replacement Power Purchase Costs and $143 million was
attributable to Foregone Power Revenues.

The $31 million increase in Direct Costs from Fiscal Year 2009 to Fiscal Year 2010 was caused primarily by an
increase in ESA related expense arising from the 2008 Columbia River Biological Opinion. The $70 million increase in
Replacement Power Costs from Fiscal Year 2009 to Fiscal Year 2010 was caused primarily by lower hydroelectric
generation caused by lower water conditions. The $44 million decrease in Foregone Power Revenues from Fiscal Year
2009 to Fiscal Year 2010 was caused primarily by lower energy prices arising from the economic downturn.

The Endangered Species Act. As noted above, Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation are subject to the
ESA. To a great extent, compliance with the ESA determines how the Federal System is operated for fish and
dominates most fish and wildlife planning and activities. The ESA listings and resulting biological opinions have
resulted in major changes in the operation of the Federal System hydroelectric projects and a substantial loss of
flexibility to operate the Federal System for power generation. Apart from changes in Federal System operations that
adversely affect power generation, compliance with the ESA has also resulted in additional Federal System costs in the
form of non-operational measures funded from Bonneville revenues.

Among other things, the ESA requires that Federal agencies such as Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation, take no
action that would jeopardize the continued existence of listed species or result in the destruction or adverse
modification of their critical habitat. Since 1991, there have been listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA, 13
species of anadromous fish (salmon and steelhead) and two species of resident fish (bull trout and sturgeon) that are
affected by operation of the Federal System. It is possible that other species may be listed or proposed for listing in the
future. In general, the effect of the listing of the fish species under the ESA, and certain other operating requirements
resulting from Bonneville’s fish and wildlife obligations under the Northwest Power Act, is that, except in
emergencies, the Federal System is now operated for power production after meeting needs for flood control and the
protection of ESA-listed fish.

In connection with the listing of these species, NOAA Fisheries has prepared certain biological opinions addressing
Federal System hydroelectric dam operations with respect to the anadromous listed species, and the United States Fish
and Wildlife Service has developed biological opinions with respect to the resident listed species. These biological
opinions provide information that Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation can use to ensure that their actions with
respect to the operation of the Federal System satisfy the ESA. By acting consistently with the biological opinions,
Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation demonstrate that jeopardy to listed species is being avoided. The
implementation of the ESA with respect to the Federal System has been and is the subject of litigation and judicial
review.

Operation of the Federal System hydroelectric dams consistent with the ESA has resulted in two principal changes in
power generation. First, depending on water conditions, water that would otherwise be run through turbines to generate
electricity may be spilled to aid in downstream fish migration. Second, less water may be stored in the upstream
reservoirs for fall and winter electric generation because more water is committed to use in the spring and summer to
increase flows to aid downstream fish migration. Consequently, there is relatively less water available for hydroelectric
generation in the fall and winter and more water available in the spring and summer. Because of these changes, under
certain water conditions, Bonneville has had to, and may have to, purchase additional energy for the fall and winter to
meet load commitments that would otherwise have been met with the hydroelectric system. In addition, the flow
changes have meant that Bonneville has had comparatively more surplus energy to market in the spring and summer.
Bonneville estimates that the impact of operating the Federal System in conformance with the biological opinions and
the Council Program, as in effect as of the beginning of Fiscal Year 2000, decreased Federal System generation
capability by about 1,000 annual average megawatts, assuming average water conditions, from levels immediately
preceding the issuance of the NOAA Fisheries biological opinion in 1995. The consequences of this and similar ESA-

A-24



related decrements in generation are reflected in the Replacement Power Purchase Costs and Foregone Power
Revenues described above.

These ESA listings and related actions to protect listed species and their habitat have resulted in substantial cost
increases to Bonneville. Prior to the initial ESA listings, Bonneville’s fish and wildlife mitigation costs increased from
about $20 million in Fiscal Year 1981 to $150 million in Fiscal Year 1991. After the issuance of the first biological
opinion affecting Federal System operations, Bonneville’s fish and wildlife costs, inclusive of Direct Costs and
Operational Impacts, rose to $399 million in Fiscal Year 1995. Actions under the ESA affect other costs that
Bonneville bears, including mitigation activities such as hatchery programs, which costs are included in the Council
Program, discussed below. In the future, Bonneville will also provide funding under the funding agreements entered
into with certain tribes and the states of Idaho, Montana, and Washington. See “—Columbia River System Biological
Opinions.”

The 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion and Related Developments

The 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. On May 5, 2008, NOAA Fisheries issued its 2008
Columbia River System Biological Opinion (the “2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion™), which addresses
listed fish species affected by the operation of the hydroelectric dams on the Columbia and Snake Rivers. Among other
things, the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion is intended to address court-identified deficiencies arising
from legal challenges to prior Columbia River System biological opinions. In general the 2008 Columbia River System
Biological Opinion adopts many of the measures that were implemented, were being implemented, and were proposed
to be implemented under the prior Columbia River System biological opinions; however, the 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion also calls for significant improvements in downstream juvenile passage survival
performance standards, spill, and operations that are better timed to the needs of individual listed fish species, expanded
habitat program, expanded predation-management program, and specific commitments and timetable for site-specific
fish hatchery consultations and reforms. Included in the new biological opinion are proposed structural modifications to
the hydro-system which are expected to cost about $500 million inclusive of associated research to support those
modifications.

These modifications are expected to be funded by specific Federal appropriations, primarily to the Corps. Bonneville
expects that it will be responsible for including in its power rates as a repayment to the United States Treasury about 80
percent of the costs of the modifications, which is the estimated portion of such costs assigned by law or administrative
practice to be recovered in Bonneville’s power rates. Bonneville does not expect that the modifications will be financed
with Bonneville’s statutory borrowing authority with the United States Treasury. As with other appropriated
investments in the Federal System, Bonneville depreciates the portion of the costs to be recovered in power rates from
the dates the related capital facilities are placed in service through their expected useful lives. These modifications will
be implemented over many years; thus, their costs will gradually be added to Bonneville’s rates and appropriated
repayment responsibility as they are placed in service.

Upon its release, a number of interests, including the State of Oregon, certain tribes, and certain environmental
organizations, challenged the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion in the United States District Court for
the District of Oregon (the “Oregon District Court”). See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—ESA Litigation—Columbia
River.”

2010 Supplement to the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. In April 2009, the administration
of President Barack Obama initiated a review by NOAA Fisheries of the 2008 Columbia River System Biological
Opinion. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—ESA Litigation—Columbia River.” In September 2009, NOAA
Fisheries presented the supplemental review, known as the “Adaptive Management Implementation Plan” (the
“Management Plan”), to the Oregon District Court. The Management Plan concludes that the 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion, as implemented under the Management Plan, “is legally and biologically sound.” The
Management Plan provides a series of short-term and longer-term contingent actions that would be implemented in the
event of the occurrence of certain triggering events evidencing biological decline of the ESA-listed species. The short-
term actions relate primarily to fish hatchery operations, fish predator management and fish harvest restrictions that can
be implemented in less than a year. Longer-term actions include, among other items, alterations to fish predation
management approaches, harvest practices, and hatcheries and hatchery practices, all of which would take more than
one year to implement.

One long-term contingency action in the event there is a significant decline in the status of a Snake River species is a
study of breaching one or more of the four lower Snake River dams of the Federal System. The 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion does not call for dam-breaching, which could interfere substantially with hydro-electric
generation of the Federal System. Under the Management Plan, however, dam breaching is considered, although it is
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considered as a “contingency of last resort.” It would be recommended to Congress (in the opinion of General Counsel
to Bonneville, dam breaching of any of the Federal System dams would require Congressional enactment authorizing
such action) only when the best scientific information available indicates dam breaching would be effective and is
necessary to avoid jeopardizing the continued existence of the affected Snake River species taking into account the
short-term and long-term impacts of such action. The Management Plan states that “it is reasonable to study breaching
of lower Snake River dam(s) as a contingency of last resort because the status of the Snake River species is improving
and the [2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion] analysis concluded that breaching is not necessary to avoid
jeopardy. In addition, breaching lower Snake River dams would have significant effects on local communities, the
broader region and the environment. It would require a major investment of resources and time. Therefore, any decision
to seek the requisite congressional authority must be driven by the best available scientific information.”

In a February 2010 letter, the Oregon District Court stated that the administrative record "must also include new and
pertinent scientific information relating to the proposed action (e.g., recent climate change data)" and that if "that
scientific data requires additional analysis or mitigation to avoid jeopardy, the Federal agencies must adequately
address those issues." Consistent with the court’s order, the Federal agencies began a remand process and in June of
2010, NOAA Fisheries issued a supplemental record and decision to supplement the 2008 Columbia River Biological
Opinion with the Management Plan and certain other information addressing new and pertinent scientific information.
As so supplemented, the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion is referred to by NOAA Fisheries as the
“2010 Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion.” A number of interests have challenged the 2010
Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion in litigation. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—ESA
Litigation—Columbia River.”

The Columbia Basin Fish Accords. In concert with the development of the 2008 Columbia River System
Biological Opinion, Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation, and a number of Regional interests including five tribes,
an inter-tribal association, and the states of Montana and Idaho, signed a number of separate agreements in the spring
of 2009 to assure long-term fish and wildlife funding with respect to the Federal System. In September 2009, the
federal agencies and the State of Washington signed an agreement addressing the Columbia River estuary. The
foregoing agreements, collectively known as the Columbia Basin Fish Accords, are designed to improve habitat and
strengthen fish stocks in the Columbia River Basin over the next ten years. Most of the funding will be provided by
Bonneville. Under the agreements, the tribes and states commit to accomplishing biological objectives with the funds,
linked to meeting the federal agencies’ statutory requirements.

Under the Columbia Basin Fish Accords, Bonneville has committed to make available roughly $994 million over the
ten-year period ending September 30, 2018. Bonneville estimates that roughly 60 percent of its proposed funding
commitments in the agreements would be for new work required for implementation of the final 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion and otherwise agreed to in furtherance of Federal statutory fish and wildlife purposes such
as the Northwest Power Act. The remaining amounts committed to in these agreements affirm the continuation of
activities for fish and wildlife in furtherance of the ESA and Northwest Power Act that would otherwise face funding
uncertainty after Fiscal Year 2009. While the foregoing agreements provide funding assurances to implement many
actions under the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion to protect listed species under the ESA, the
agreements also assure funding for other fish restoration efforts including efforts under the Northwest Power Act.

Under certain of the agreements, the participating tribes and states agree that the Federal government’s requirements
under the ESA, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, and the Northwest Power Act are satisfied as to the identified
Federal System hydropower projects in the Snake River and Columbia River drainages for ten years beginning April
2008. The 2009 agreement with Washington provides for similar commitments regarding the ESA. The parties to the
agreements also agreed that they will work together to support the agreements in all appropriate venues. The
agreements would also specifically resolve, for these parties, ESA litigation regarding Federal System hydropower
projects in the Snake River and Columbia River drainages now pending before the Oregon District Court. Bonneville
also believes that the agreements have helped fulfill the court’s requirement that the parties increase collaboration in
preparing the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. The agreements also provide a higher level of assured
long-term funding, which was a concern raised by the court in reviewing past biological opinions.

Incremental Costs and Consequences of the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. 1t is difficult
to predict the aggregate increased cost to Bonneville that will arise from the 2008 Columbia River System Biological
Opinion (as integrated in the 2010 Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion). Many measures in the
2008 Columbia River Biological Opinion have been implemented, are currently being implemented, or would
otherwise be implemented, including under the Columbia Basin Fish Accords. Certain measures involve long-term
costs or expenses that are difficult to predict. Qualified by the foregoing and other uncertainties, Bonneville estimates
that the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion, as supplemented by the 2010 Supplemental Columbia River
System Biological Opinion, and together with the Columbia Basin Fish Accords, will in aggregate increase the expense
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portion of Bonneville’s cost of service by approximately $100 million per year over the ten-year term of the
agreements, and increase power rates (all other things being equal) by about four percent, in each case when compared
to Fiscal Year 2008 rate levels. This amount does not include Bonneville’s capitalized repayment responsibility for the
appropriated costs of the structural modifications described above. As noted above, the capital costs will be included
for recovery in Bonneville’s rates as a Federal System appropriation repayment responsibility to the United States
Treasury as and when the related facilities are placed in service and then will be depreciated over their expected useful
lives. The expected cost of the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion (as integrated in the 2010
Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion) will be estimated and incorporated into Bonneville’s power
rates, including the 2012-2013 Final Power Rate Proposal.

Bonneville is unable to provide any certainty regarding the costs it may incur, including from possible changes in dam
operations, under the ESA or other environmental laws, and whether the 2008 Columbia River System Biological
Opinion, as integrated in the 2010 Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion, will, given the challenges
in litigation, be upheld by the courts.

Willamette River Project Biological Opinion. The Willamette River Project consists of 13 federal dams
owned and operated by the Corps, located on various tributary rivers within the Willamette River Basin in western
Oregon. Eight of these 13 dams have hydroelectric power turbines, generating approximately 184 annual average
megawatts. The electric power from the eight hydroelectric dams is marketed by Bonneville as part of the Federal
System.

Under the ESA, Bonneville, the Corps, and Reclamation (the “Action Agencies”) submitted a “Biological Assessment”
to the Fish and Wildlife Service and NOAA Fisheries (collectively, the “Services”) in April 2000. The Biological
Assessment described the Willamette River Project, its operations, maintenance activities, and measures proposed to
protect ESA-listed fish species that inhabit the Willamette River basin. In May 2007, the Action Agencies
supplemented the original Biological Assessment with updated information on salient aspects of the original Biological
Assessment. The Services issued their final biological opinions in July 2008, each having a 15-year timeframe.

In October 2010, Bonneville and the State of Oregon signed an agreement to permanently resolve longstanding wildlife
mitigation issues associated with the Willamette River dams. This agreement addresses the federal habitat protection
and enhancement responsibilities under the ESA, Northwest Power Act, and other applicable laws related to the
Willamette River Project. Bonneville agreed to provide funding for new land acquisitions, habitat restoration, and
operations and maintenance costs for Fiscal Year 2011 through Fiscal Year 2025. Bonneville’s total commitment under
the settlement agreement is $144.1 million for that period, which includes an adjustment for inflation. In addition,
Bonneville will continue funding Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife’s operation and maintenance costs for Fiscal
Year 2026 through Fiscal Year 2043. Although this funding has not yet been set, Bonneville expects that negotiations
will start at about $1.7 million per year.

Bonneville believes that the costs to achieve measures for stream flow, fish hatchery and habitat improvements, and
structural changes at various dams could substantially increase its cost of power from these related dams. However,
because these costs are likely to be blended in with all of the other financial obligations and revenue streams that
Bonneville manages, Bonneville does not expect there to be a significant impact upon overall power rates.

Federal Repayment Offsets For Certain Fish and Wildlife Costs Borne by Bonneville. In 1995, the United
States Treasury, the Office of Management and Budget, DOE, and other agencies agreed to provide for certain Federal
repayment credits to offset some of Bonneville’s fish and wildlife costs. The foregoing agencies agreed that Bonneville
would implement a previously unused provision of the Northwest Power Act, section 4(h)(10)(C). This provision
authorizes Bonneville to exercise its Northwest Power Act authorities to implement fish and wildlife mitigation on
behalf of all of a Federal System project’s authorized purposes under Federal law; not just those relating to the delivery
of generation and transmission services to customers, but also non-power purposes such as irrigation, navigation, and
flood control. At the end of the fiscal year, Bonneville is required to recoup (i.e., take a credit for) the portion allocated
to non-power purposes. Included in this credit are Direct Fish and Wildlife Program Costs and estimated Replacement
Power Purchase Costs. The amount of such recoupments (also referred to as “4(h)(10)(C) credits”) was about $100
million, $99 million, and $123 million in Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectively. Forecasts of these
4(h)(10)(C) credits are treated as revenues in Bonneville’s ratemaking process. At the close of each fiscal year, they are
applied against Bonneville’s payments to the United States Treasury. The 4(h)(10)(C) credits are initially taken based
on estimates and are subsequently modified to reflect actual data. An important cost that may be recouped under
section 4(h)(10)(C) is that of Replacement Power Purchases necessitated by the loss of generation arising from certain
changes to hydroelectric system operations for the benefit of fish and wildlife. These costs occur annually and are
highest in dry years when, historically, the output of the hydro-system is lower and market prices for power may be
comparatively high. In such years, 4(h)(10)(C) credits are correspondingly higher.
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Council’s Fish and Wildlife Program. In 2000, the Council revised and adopted a new Columbia River Basin
Fish and Wildlife Program (the “2000 Program”). The Council amended 57 sub-basin plans into the 2000 Program in
2003 with “mainstream amendments” meant primarily to address mitigation issues related to operation of the Federal
System. In 2005, the Council amended the 2000 Program to help focus mitigation actions on overcoming
environmental limitations to increased fish and wildlife populations. In October 2007, the Council began the formal
rulemaking process to amend the program as required by the Northwest Power Act. The Council adopted a revision to
the program in February 2009. The 2000 Program emphasizes an ecosystem approach to rebuilding fish and wildlife in
the Columbia River basin. The Council sets forth an “integrated program” that integrates mitigation recommendations
from both the 2000 Program created under the Northwest Power Act and recovery actions needed for Bonneville to
comply with the ESA. The costs of the integrated program (“Integrated Program Costs”) are included in the Direct
Costs to Bonneville of its fish and wildlife obligations. See “—Fish and Wildlife—General.” For the 2007-2009 Rate
Period, Bonneville originally forecasted an average expense accrual budget level of $143 million per year for the
expense portion of the Integrated Program, and $36 million per year for the capital portion. With the successful
conclusion of the Columbia Basin Fish Accords and the expected implementation of the final 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion and the Willamette River Project Biological Opinion, the Integrated Program expense
spending grew to $200 million in Fiscal Year 2010. The forecast for Fiscal Year 2011 for expenses is expected to be
$225 million and $91 million for capital program investments.

Bonneville cannot provide assurance as to the scope or cost of future measures to protect fish and wildlife affected by
the Federal System, including measures resulting from current and future listings under the ESA, current and future
biological opinions or amendments thereto, future Council programs or amendments thereto, or litigation relating to the
foregoing.

Power Rates for Fiscal Years 2010 through 2011

Bonneville completed the 2010-2011 Final Power and Transmission Rate Proposal and submitted it, together with
supporting documentation, to FERC on August 1, 2009. FERC has approved the 2010-2011 Final Power Rates.

PF Rates. Most of Bonneville’s power sales are made to Preference Customers to meet their net requirements
under specified types of service: Block, Slice, Partial Requirements, and Full Requirements. These power products and
services are provided at Bonneville’s lowest, statutorily-designated, cost-based power rate class, the PF Preference
Rate. In addition, the PF Exchange Rate is used in the administration of the Residential Exchange Program. PF Rates in
general reflect the cost of resources and other services provided to serve the Preference Customers’ net requirements
loads and Residential Exchange loads and, except with respect to the Slice rate, reflect the benefit of revenues from
sales by Bonneville of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy. In the case of the Slice product, the participating customers
receive a percentage share of the seasonal surplus energy of the Federal System and hence the Slice rate does not reflect
the revenues Bonneville receives from its marketing of seasonal surplus energy. The Slice rate also does not
incorporate the costs or risks associated with power supply and power purchase costs, which are borne directly by Slice
customers. The PF Exchange Rate bears the same resource and service costs that the PF Preference Rate bears.
However, the two PF Rates diverge due to statutory rate protection reducing the PF Preference Rate and the cost of this
protection increasing the PF Exchange Rate. While each of the foregoing services is provided under PF Rate schedules,
the applicable rate level depends on Bonneville’s rate design and specific costs to provide the related service.

The PF Preference Rate for Full Requirements service averages $28.77 per megawatt hour for the Fiscal Year 2010-
2011 Rate Period, which is about seven percent higher than in the Fiscal Year 2008-2009 Rate Period. The PF
Preference Rate does not include receipt by Preference Customers of certain payments and power bill credits from
Bonneville that correct prior overpayments of Residential Exchange benefits. Nor does the PF Preference Rate include
the cost of transmission service, conservation credits, and certain other adjustments.

With respect to the Slice portion of Slice/Block service, the monthly PF Slice Rate is $1,962,525 per percentage point
of Slice under the power rates for the Fiscal Year 2010-2011 Rate Period. (Slice Customers do not pay a rate based on
the quantity of energy provided; rather they pay a rate that is based on a proportion of Bonneville’s costs of
generation.) This represents a rate increase of about 4.8 percent from Fiscal Year 2009. Unlike rates for Requirements
service and Block service, Slice rates do not incorporate the costs of risks associated with power supply, secondary
sales, and power purchase costs. These risks are borne directly by Slice customers. Slice is a combined power product
that includes sales in respect of the participating customers’ net requirements and sales of secondary energy. As with
prior power rate proposals, Slice power rates are not subject to the CRAC, described below, because Slice rates recover
actual costs. For a description of Slice of the System, see “CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO
BONNEVILLE—Power Loads and Related Contracts and Power Rates through Fiscal Year 2011—Loads and
Resource Expectations in Operating Years 2010 and 2011—Preference Customer and Federal Agency Loads.”
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By law, the PF Preference Rate is also the basis for another important Bonneville rate: the Industrial Power Rate for
service to DSIs. The PF Preference Rate, including the PF Slice Rate, and the Industrial Power Rate are also established
to recover the net costs of the Residential Exchange Program. Preference Customers bear such costs in the PF
Preference Rate, including the PF Slice Rate.

Residential Exchange. With respect to the Residential Exchange, the 2010-2011 Final Rates provide for an
average of $255 million per year in benefits to the residential and small-farm consumers of Regional IOUs and about
$11 million per year to exchanging Preference Customers during the 2010-2011 Rate Period.

As noted, the PF Preference Rate does not reflect adjustments to Preference Customers’ power bills and Residential
Exchange benefits payments made to correct for past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits to
Regional I0Us. Bonneville is decreasing the actual payments to Regional IOUs under the Residential Exchange
program by about an aggregate $82 million per year during the 2010-2011 Rate Period as part of the program to recoup
past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits. Likewise, Bonneville is crediting Preference Customers’
power bills in like amounts. Thus, under the final rates Bonneville will make payments for Residential Exchange
benefits to Regional IOUs of $173 million per year on average during the 2010-2011 Rate Period. See “—Certain
Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.”

DSIs. With respect to DSIs, the 2010-2011 Final Rates assumed that Bonneville would provide the DSIs with
402 annual average megawatts of service. Subsequent to the completion by Bonneville of the Final 2010-2011 Power
and Transmission Rate Proposal, the Ninth Circuit Court issued an opinion holding that Bonneville must show benefits
in its power sales to DSIs. Bonneville later entered into two contracts with DSIs under the IP Rate of $34.60 per
megawatt hour (excluding transmission service). Bonneville entered into these contracts upon concluding that the DSI
power sales will provide benefits to Bonneville. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION—DSI Service ROD Litigation.”

Revenue Recovery Risk Mitigation. The 2010-2011 Final Rates include a mix of financial risk management
tools that Bonneville designed to meet Bonneville’s policy of setting rates that have a 95 percent probability of
recovering Bonneville’s Federal payment obligations over an applicable rate period. The 2010-2011 Final Rates
continue to employ a CRAC to enable Bonneville to increase power rate levels at the beginning of both of the years of
the two-year rate period. The CRAC is designed to enable Bonneville to obtain up to an additional $300 million in
revenues from non-Slice Preference Customers in the related fiscal year.

The CRAC did not trigger for Fiscal Year 2009 or Fiscal Year 2010, but would have triggered had Bonneville
forecasted that its accumulated modified net revenues from Power Services operations would have dropped below
negative $877 million as of the end of Fiscal Year 2009, and below negative $791 million as of the end of Fiscal Year
2010. In determining whether a CRAC would trigger for Fiscal Year 2010, Bonneville forecasted that accumulated
modified net revenues from Power Services operations as of the end of Fiscal Year 2010 would be negative $554
million, thereby precluding the CRAC from triggering. (At the end of Fiscal Year 2010, accumulated modified net
revenues were negative $530 million.) Power Services’ accumulated modified net revenues are the summation of
Power Services” modified net revenues since Fiscal Year 2000, which was the first year of the long-term power sales
agreements under which Bonneville currently sells power to almost all Preference Customers. For a description of
modified net revenues, see “CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Fiscal Year 2010
Financial Results.”

The 2010-2011 Final Rates continue a modified version of the “NFB Adjustment,” which was also included in
Bonneville’s power rates for the Fiscal Year 2007-2009 Power Rate Period. Under the NFB Adjustment, the cap of
$300 million in additional revenues that Bonneville could recover in a fiscal year under the CRAC is subject to increase
to cover the costs of certain potential adverse events related to the current litigation over the 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion, should such events occur. These potential events relate primarily to the risk that the court
may order changes in hydro-operations that decrease power sales or increase power purchases. The 2010-2011 Final
Rates also include a “NFB Emergency Surcharge,” which was also included in Bonneville’s power rates for Fiscal
Years 2007-2009. This surcharge is designed to allow Bonneville to increase power rate levels at any time in the 2010-
2011 Rate Period in order to recover certain costs that could arise from the litigation over the 2008 Columbia River
System Biological Opinion, provided that Bonneville determines that its United States Treasury payment probability
has fallen below 80 percent for the fiscal year in which the costs arise. The NFB CRAC and NFB Emergency
Surcharge have not been triggered in the 2010-2011 Rate Period, although they remain available to Bonneville if the
conditions triggering their use arise.

A-29



Recovery of Stranded Power Function Costs

As a consequence of regulatory and economic changes in electric power markets, many utilities see potential for certain
of their costs, in particular power system costs, to become unrecoverable, i.e., “stranded.” Stranded costs may arise
where power customers are able, pursuant to open transmission access rules, to reach new sources of supply, leaving
behind unamortized power system costs incurred on their behalf. Bonneville could also face this concern. While
Bonneville has separate statutory authority requiring it to assure that its revenues are sufficient to recover all of its
costs, additional authority may be required to assure that such costs, including Bonneville’s payments to the United
States Treasury, are made on time and in full. Depending on the exact nature of wholesale and retail transmission
access, it is possible that Bonneville’s power marketing function may not be able to recover all of its costs in the event
that Bonneville’s cost of power exceeds market prices. Nonetheless, Bonneville cannot predict with certainty its cost of
power or market prices.

FERC’s 1996 order, “Order 888,” to promote competition in wholesale power markets established standards that a
public utility under the FPA must satisfy to recover stranded wholesale power costs. The standards contain limitations
and restrictions, which, if applied to Bonneville, could affect Bonneville’s ability to recover stranded costs in certain
circumstances. However, Bonneville’s General Counsel interprets FERC Order 888 as not addressing stranded cost
recovery by Bonneville under either the Northwest Power Act or sections 211/212 of the FPA. For a discussion of
Order 888 and sections 211/212 of the FPA, as amended by EPA-1992, see “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Non-
discriminatory Transmission Access and Separation of Power Services and Transmission Services.”

Bonneville’s rates for any FERC-ordered transmission service pursuant to sections 211/212 of the FPA are governed
only by Bonneville’s applicable law, except that no such rate shall be unjust, unreasonable, or unduly discriminatory or
preferential, as determined by FERC. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, provisions of the Northwest
Power Act directing Bonneville to recover its total cost would be applicable to any stranded cost to be recovered by
Bonneville were Bonneville ordered by FERC to provide transmission under sections 211/212.

Shortly after the issuance of Order 888, Bonneville requested clarification of the application of FERC’s stranded cost
rule to Bonneville in the context of an order for transmission service under sections 211/212. In FERC Order 888-A,
modifying original FERC Order 888, FERC addressed Bonneville’s request by stating: “We clarify that our review of
stranded cost recovery by [Bonneville] would take into account the statutory requirements of the Northwest Power Act
and the other authorities under which we regulate [Bonneville] . . . and/or section 212(i), as appropriate.” Therefore, it
remains unclear how FERC would intend to balance Bonneville’s Northwest Power Act cost recovery standards with
the stranded cost rule as enunciated in FERC Order 888 in the context of FERC-ordered transmission service pursuant
to sections 211/212. Contrary to the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, several of Bonneville’s transmission
customers have taken the position that transmission rates may not be set to recover stranded power costs as Bonneville
envisions under the Northwest Power Act.

Under EPA-2005, FERC was granted authority to require that the rates for transmission service that Bonneville
provides to itself be comparable to the rates it charges others. The foregoing provisions in EPA-2005 do not amend
Bonneville’s existing statutory provisions under the Northwest Power Act. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General
Counsel, provisions of the Northwest Power Act directing Bonneville to recover its total cost would be applicable to
any stranded cost to be recovered by Bonneville, notwithstanding the enactment of EPA-2005. See “MATTERS
RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Energy Policy Act of 2005.”

TRANSMISSION SERVICES

Bonneville provides a number of different types of transmission services to Regional Preference Customers, Regional
10Us, DSIs, other privately- and publicly-owned utilities, power marketers, power generators, and others. Transmission
Services was responsible for about $738 million in revenues from the sale of transmission and related services, or
roughly 25 percent of Bonneville’s total revenues from external customers (and excluding revenues otherwise arising
from inter-functional transactions between Bonneville’s Transmission Services and Power Services) in Fiscal Year
2010.

Bonneville’s Transmission Services provides transmission service under its Open Access Transmission Tariff
(“Tariff”). Two reservation-based transmission services are offered under Tariff: Point-to-Point and Network
Integration. These services are available to all customers regardless of whether they are transmitting Federal or non-
Federal power. Network Integration service is used by many Bonneville Preference Customers for delivery of primarily
Federal power to their loads. Point-to-Point service is taken typically by marketers, independent power producers, and
certain large utility customers. Finally, Bonneville, as a partial owner of the northern portions of Southern Intertie and
southern portions of certain transmission lines connecting areas of western Canada with the Region, provides Point-to-



Point service to power marketers, including Bonneville’s Power Services, which use Bonneville transmission service to
effect power sales and related transactions inside and outside the Region. Bonneville’s Transmission Services also
provides reservation-based service under “legacy contracts” that were in effect when Bonneville adopted open access in
the mid-1990’s. As these contracts expire, the service converts to Tariff services.

It is difficult to generalize as to the cost of transmission service needed to effect various power transactions because the
rate per megawatt hour of transmission is highly dependent on actual usage and thus can vary substantially from time to
time and from customer to customer. Nonetheless, a useful point of reference for the proportion that power rates bear to
transmission and ancillary services rates may be the cost borne by certain Preference Customers that purchase Full
Requirements power from Bonneville. For example, in Fiscal Year 2010 a large Preference Customer that purchases
very little transmission for its own resources paid Bonneville approximately $4.32 per megawatt hour for transmission
service and approximately $26.82 per megawatt hour for electric power.

Bonneville’s Federal Transmission System

The Federal System includes the Federal Transmission System that is owned, operated, and maintained by Bonneville
as well as the Federal hydroelectric projects and certain non-Federal power resources. The Federal Transmission
System is composed of approximately 15,000 circuit miles of high voltage transmission lines, and approximately 300
substations and other transmission facilities that are located in Washington, Oregon, Idaho, and portions of Montana,
Wyoming, and northern California. The Federal Transmission System includes an integrated network for service within
the Pacific Northwest (“Network™), and approximately 80 percent of the northern portion (north of California and
Nevada) of the combined Southern Intertie. The Southern Intertie consists of three high voltage Alternating Current
(“AC”) transmission lines and one Direct Current (“DC”) transmission line and associated facilities that interconnect
the electric systems of the Pacific Northwest and Pacific Southwest and provide the primary bulk transmission link
between the two regions. The rated transfer capability of the Southern Intertie AC in the north to south direction is
4,800 megawatts of capacity, and in the south to north direction is 3,675 megawatts of capacity. The rated transfer
capability of the DC line in both directions is 3,100 megawatts. The operating transfer capability (or reliability transfer
capability) of these facilities varies by generation patterns, weather conditions, load conditions, and system outages.

The Federal Transmission System is used to deliver Federal and non-Federal power between resources and loads within
the Pacific Northwest, and to import and export power from and to adjacent regions. Bonneville’s Transmission
Services provides transmission services and transmission reliability (ancillary) services to many customers. These
customers include Bonneville's Power Services for its out-of-Region sales; entities that buy and sell non-Federal power
in the Region such as Regional IOUs, Preference Customers, extra-Regional I0Us, independent power producers,
aggregators, and marketers; in-Region purchasers of Federal System power such as Preference Customers and DSIs;
and, generators, power marketers, and utilities that seek to transmit power into, out of, or through the Region.

Bonneville constructed the Federal Transmission System and is responsible for its operation, maintenance, and
expansion to maintain electrical stability and reliability of the system. As a matter of policy, Bonneville’s transmission
planning and operation decisions are guided by internal, regional, and national reliability practices. See “MATTERS
RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Energy Policy Act of 2005” for a
discussion of statutory provisions relating to reliability criteria.

Bonneville continually monitors the Federal Transmission System and evaluates cost-effective reinforcements needed
to maintain electrical stability and reliability of the system on a long-term planning basis. A number of conditions,
actions, and events could affect the electric transfer capability of the Federal Transmission System and diminish the
capacity of the system. For example, operating conditions such as weather, system outages, and changes in generation
and load patterns may reduce the reliability transfer capability of the transmission system in some locations and limit
the capacity of the system to meet the needs of users of the Federal Transmission System, including Bonneville’s
Power Services. To assure that the Federal Transmission System is adequate to meet transmission needs, Transmission
Services evaluates system performance to determine whether or not to make transmission infrastructure investments.

While in the recent past Bonneville has focused its transmission infrastructure efforts on transmission projects needed
to maintain reliability, other transmission projects are now being undertaken or proposed that will provide additional,
long-term firm transmission service for those seeking new transmission service in the Region, especially those
developing new power generation projects, primarily wind generation, both inside and outside the Region. Under
Bonneville’s policies, certain qualifying entities, referred to as “Eligible Customers,” may request that Bonneville
provide transmission service across the Federal Transmission System and in some circumstances, Bonneville may have
to build or install transmission facilities to provide the requested transmission service. Bonneville does not believe that
it is subject to FERC regulation in the funding of such investments; nonetheless, as a policy matter Bonneville has
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drafted its policies and tariff terms relating to providing transmission service to be generally consistent with FERC
policy.

Depending on the circumstances, Bonneville may seek prepayment of its costs for the related investments from the
Eligible Customers seeking the transmission service. In many such instances, in particular where the related facilities
are integrated into Bonneville’s network, Bonneville may return, over time, to the Eligible Customers the amounts they
advanced to Bonneville for the related new facilities. Bonneville may provide these returns in the form of (i) credits
against billings by Bonneville for firm transmission service purchased from Bonneville at established transmission
rates, or (ii) in the case of new facilities to interconnect large new generation projects to the network, cash payments to
the generator or its assigns. The payments and credits by Bonneville are intended to permit the Eligible Customer to
recoup the funds it provides to Bonneville.

In some circumstances and in a manner consistent with Bonneville’s Tariff, Bonneville may not seek any prepayment
for transmission investments from the Eligible Customer and may allocate all of the costs of new facilities to network
service rates, thereby socializing the costs among all network customers. Bonneville also may determine to charge the
Eligible Customer an “incremental cost” rate for transmission service, which is higher than Bonneville’s embedded cost
rate, in order for Bonneville to protect other customers from costs they would otherwise bear due to the integration cost
of the new facilities. Bonneville may allocate some of the facilities’ costs to other network customers under embedded
cost rates if they are benefited by the new facilities, in particular where the new facilities lead to the avoidance of
construction of other new facilities for reliability purposes.

FERC has approved Bonneville’s planning proposal to identify which new transmission projects would be most
effective based in large part on the extent to which Eligible Customers, including developers of proposed new
generation such as wind generation, are willing to execute long-term, creditworthy commitments for transmission
service that require these new network transmission system investments. Bonneville believes that this process will
assist Bonneville in assuring it will recover the costs of investing in related transmission facilities and help avoid
stranded transmission investments.

As this process unfolds and Bonneville identifies the potential for financing such investment with means other than the
customer-funded approaches relied on in the past, Bonneville may incur new, indirect, non-Federal debt obligations.
Bonneville is unable to predict the cost of new investments for the integration of new generation or to meet other
Eligible Customers’ transmission service requests, the amount that will actually be committed to by Eligible Customers
on terms acceptable to Bonneville, or the extent to which Bonneville will fund such investments through customer
advances of funds, borrowing from the United States Treasury, or third-party debt, such as lease-purchases.

In Fiscal Year 2010, Bonneville provided about $28 million in transmission service credits as offsets for amounts
advanced to Bonneville for new transmission integration investments. Bonneville expects that the amount of such
credits could increase in coming years because of expected increases in the development of generation projects
(particularly wind projects) that will need transmission service over the Federal Transmission System.

Bonneville’s current transmission system investment plan calls for Bonneville to make investments in Fiscal Years
2011 through 2016 averaging about $523 million annually. To finance the foregoing investments, Bonneville expects to
use United States Treasury borrowing, reserves, and advance payments from generation integration and transmission
customers. Bonneville also expects to use long-term, capitalized lease-purchase arrangements to acquire transmission
infrastructure facilities as a means of reducing the pressure on Bonneville’s United States Treasury borrowing
authority.

With DOE policy approval, Bonneville entered into a long-term, capitalized lease-purchase agreement with Northwest
Infrastructure Financing Corporation (“NIFC”) in 2003 with respect to a large transmission line project located in
Washington State. NIFC issued about $120 million in bonds to fund construction of the project. The bonds are secured
solely by NIFC’s pledge of Bonneville’s lease payments under the project lease.

Subsequently, Bonneville entered into three separate master lease agreements with affiliates of NIFC under which
Bonneville has entered into lease-purchase commitments to finance $330.1 million in aggregate Federal Transmission
System replacements and improvements, as of the end of Fiscal Year 2010. Under each of the master lease
arrangements, Bonneville’s lease-purchase payments are pledged to the payment of bank loans incurred by the
respective project owner. The proceeds of the loans are used to finance the construction and installation of the leased
facilities. Bonneville’s lease payments are not conditioned on the completion, suspension, or termination of the related
projects and the principal amounts associated with the bank loans are included in Federal System audited financial
statements as “Non-Federal Debt.” Bonneville estimates it will fund an average of about $29 million of lease-purchase



financing annually over Fiscal Years 2011-2016. The actual value could be higher or lower depending on capital
spending in such years and other factors.

Non-discriminatory Transmission Access and Separation of Power Services and Transmission Services

In general, the thrust of regulatory changes in the 1990s, both by Congress and FERC, has been to require transmission
owners to provide open transmission access to their transmission systems on terms that do not discriminate in favor of
the transmission owner’s own power-marketing functions. EPA-1992 amended sections 211/212 of the FPA to
authorize FERC to order a “transmitting utility” to provide access to its transmission system at rates and upon terms
and conditions that are just and reasonable, and not unduly discriminatory or preferential.

While Bonneville is not generally subject to the FPA, Bonneville is a “transmitting utility” under the EPA-1992
amendments to sections 211/212 of the FPA. Therefore, FERC may order Bonneville to provide others with
transmission access over the Federal System transmission facilities. FERC’s authority also includes the ability to set the
terms and conditions for such FERC-ordered transmission service. However, the transmission rates for FERC-ordered
transmission under EPA-1992 are governed only by Bonneville’s other applicable laws, except that no such rate shall
be unjust, unreasonable, or unduly discriminatory or preferential, as determined by FERC. Based on the legislative
history relating to the provisions of EPA-1992 applicable to Bonneville, Bonneville’s General Counsel is of the opinion
that Bonneville’s rates for FERC-ordered transmission services under sections 211/212 are to be established by
Bonneville, rather than by FERC, and reviewed by FERC through the same process and using the same statutory
requirements of the Northwest Power Act as are otherwise applicable to Bonneville’s transmission rates.

In 1996, FERC issued an order, “Order 888,” to promote competition in wholesale power markets. Among other things,
Order 888 established a pro forma tariff providing the terms and conditions for non-discriminatory open access
transmission service, and required all jurisdictional utilities to adopt the tariff. Order 888 also included a “reciprocity”
provision that allows non-jurisdictional utilities to obtain non-discriminatory open access from transmitting utilities if
the non-jurisdictional utility offers open access in return, either through bilateral contracts or by submitting to FERC
for its approval (i) an open access transmission tariff that substantially conforms to the pro forma tariff and
(ii) adopting transmission rates for third parties that are comparable to the rates the non-jurisdictional utility applies to
itself. FERC issued a new order, “Order 890,” in February 2007, which further supported Order 888’s aims,
emphasizing increased transmission access and transparency, and promotion of transmission utilization.

Bonneville is a non-jurisdictional utility. But, notwithstanding the limited applicability of FERC Orders 888 and 890 to
Bonneville, since 1996, Bonneville has voluntarily adopted terms and conditions for a non-discriminatory open access
transmission tariff and filed such tariff with FERC seeking a reciprocity order. Bonneville’s tariff offers transmission
service to Bonneville’s Power Services and to other transmission users at the same tariff terms and conditions, and at
the same rates. Bonneville filed its Order 890 tariff on October 3, 2008. FERC, in general, approved Bonneville’s tariff,
in its July 15, 2009 order, but denied reciprocity pending resolution of certain limited issues. Bonneville filed a Request
for Rehearing on August 14, 2009; that request is still pending. Bonneville continues to offer open access transmission
service pursuant to its 2008 tariff and continues to receive open access from other transmitting utilities despite the
current lack of reciprocity. There has been no change in Bonneville’s transmission business. Bonneville’s 2008 tariff
will remain in effect indefinitely while it continues its ongoing work with FERC to resolve the outstanding issues.
Further, Bonneville will continue to update its tariff as appropriate to reflect changes FERC makes to the pro forma
open access tariff.

EPA-2005 includes provisions relating to terms and conditions of transmission service that may be imposed by an
“unregulated transmitting utility” (a term that includes Bonneville). The provisions authorize FERC to require such
utilities to provide transmission services to others on terms and conditions that are comparable to those the utility offers
itself and that are not unduly discriminatory or preferential. See “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES
AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Energy Policy Act of 2005.”

In April 1996, FERC also issued an order (“Order 889”), and most recently, in October 2008, “Order 717,” setting forth
the “standards of conduct” for jurisdictional utilities that are transmission providers and have a power-marketing
affiliate or function. In general, these standards of conduct are intended to assure that wholesale power marketers that
are affiliated with a transmission provider do not obtain unfair market advantage by having preferential access to
information regarding the transmission provider’s transmission operations. Although Bonneville is not subject to
Orders 889 and 717, non-jurisdictional utilities must adhere to it in order to obtain reciprocity. Therefore, in the 1990’s,
Bonneville separated its transmission and power functions into separate business units. Bonneville continued to adapt
its operations to comply with FERC’s standards of conduct provisions. It currently operates in accordance with the
standards of conduct set forth in Order 717.



Bonneville’s Transmission and Ancillary Services Rates

Under the Northwest Power Act, Bonneville’s transmission rates are set in accordance with sound business principles
to recover the costs associated with the transmission of electric power over the Federal System transmission facilities,
including amortization of the Federal investment in the Federal Transmission System over a reasonable number of
years, and other costs and expenses during the related rate period. FERC approves and confirms Bonneville’s
transmission rates after a finding that such rates recover Bonneville’s costs and expenses during the rate period, and are
sufficient to make full and timely payments to the United States Treasury.

Bonneville proposed and FERC has approved as final Bonneville’s transmission, ancillary services and control area
service rates for the two years beginning Fiscal Year 2010. All of the transmission rates and the two required ancillary
services rates remain unchanged from the prior transmission rate period, Fiscal Years 2008-2009. Bonneville estimates
that its transmission rates and the two required ancillary services for Network Service are about $4.32 per megawatt
hour under the 2010-2011 Final Power and Transmission Rate Proposal.

In the 2010-2011 Final Power and Transmission Rate Proposal, Bonneville adopted a rate for Wind Balancing Service
to recover the costs that Bonneville bears in integrating wind resources into the Federal System. This rate applies to
wind resources to recover the costs of the reserves described above. Wind Balancing Service rate averages about $5.97
per megawatt hour of wind generation, assuming wind energy production is about 30 percent of the installed capacity
of the wind generation. The Wind Balancing Service rate is in addition to applicable rates for the transmission of
power. Bonneville is continuing in its efforts to isolate the costs of wind and fairly allocate such costs to existing
customers and new generation. For a discussion of wind energy integration, see “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER
SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Wind Generation Development and Integration into the Federal
Transmission System.”

Bonneville is currently developing a transmission and ancillary services rate proposal for the two years beginning
Fiscal Year 2012. Bonneville expects to publish its initial transmission rate proposal on December 17, 2010. In view of
discussions with transmission customers, Bonneville expects to propose no increase in rates for transmission and the
two required ancillary services. However, if all customers do not agree, Bonneville has the right to revise the initial
settlement proposal as appropriate and the overall average rate increase may range from zero to five percent. (Proposed
rates for some types of service could increase while proposed rates for other types of service could decrease.) Drivers
for potential rate increases are generally increased operational costs and increased necessary expenditures to maintain
and improve reliability of the existing system. Bonneville plans to submit its final proposed rates for power,
transmission and ancillary services, together with the related record of decision, to FERC in July 2011.

EPA-2005 includes provisions relating to transmission rates charged by an unregulated transmitting utility such as
Bonneville. The provisions authorize FERC to require such utilities to provide transmission services at rates
“comparable” to those the utility charges itself. Thus, FERC now has authority to require that the transmission rates
Bonneville charges Power Services for transmission service to be comparable to the transmission rates Bonneville
charges other customers. FERC has not yet invoked this authority.

The foregoing provisions in EPA-2005 do not amend Bonneville’s existing statutory provisions under the Northwest
Power Act to establish transmission rates to recover Bonneville’s transmission costs. In the opinion of General Counsel
of Bonneville, the foregoing EPA-2005 provisions relating to Bonneville’s transmission rates would not adversely
affect Bonneville’s authority and obligation to recover in full the costs of providing transmission service through its
transmission rates. See “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—
Energy Policy Act of 2005.”

Bonneville’s Participation in a Regional Transmission Organization

In January 2000, FERC issued a final rule on regional transmission organizations (“RTOs”), establishing minimum
characteristics and functions for an RTO and requiring that each jurisdictional utility (a term that does not include
Bonneville) make certain filings regarding the formation of and participation in an RTO. FERC proposed RTOs as a
means to assure that transmission owners make transmission available on a basis that does not discriminate in favor of
their affiliated power marketing activities. Following the FERC actions to promote RTOs, transmission owning utilities
in the Region and others attempted to develop an RTO that would assist transmission operations in the Region. None of
those proposals were implemented. FERC decided that participation in RTOs is voluntary. EPA-2005 includes
provisions explicitly authorizing Bonneville to participate in the formation and operation of an RTO. See “MATTERS
RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Energy Policy Act of 2005.”



Bonneville is currently a member of “ColumbiaGrid,” a regional planning organization comprising eight western
transmission owners that are control area operators in the West. Compared to prior RTOs that have been proposed for
the Region, ColumbiaGrid is not an “RTO” under FERC policies since ColumbiaGrid has a relatively restricted scope
of operations. By contrast to an RTO, ColumbiaGrid focuses on coordinating Regional transmission planning and
expansion, assisting participating utilities in meeting their transmission reliability obligations, and operating an
information system (“OASIS”) to provide power marketers and others with information about transmission system
operations. It is possible in the long run that ColumbiaGrid would have increased operational control of the related
transmission assets and take an increased role in providing transmission service, including through the operation of
transmission markets and market monitoring. Whether ColumbiaGrid’s scope of operations evolves to include new
functions will be determined by the participating utilities in the future.

Bonneville has entered into agreements to fund a proportionate interest of the costs of making ColumbiaGrid
operational and to assist ColumbiaGrid in efficient transmission planning and expansion in its service area.
Bonneville’s estimates that its expense associated with the foregoing and other existing arrangements with
ColumbiaGrid will be about $3 million per year. Bonneville and the other participants in ColumbiaGrid continue to
work on the development of ColumbiaGrid’s operations.

ColumbiaGrid and its members are also participating with the members of two other groups of transmission owners in a
“Joint Initiative,” which is exploring approaches to deal with the challenges associated with integrating large amounts
of intermittent generating resources, such as wind power, into the resource mix within the transmission system of
Western North America. The provision of ancillary services to support these resources can be managed by certain,
more efficient scheduling practices, which can be achieved only by the development of communication protocols and
business practices within and across western control areas. Efforts to implement the results of this Joint Initiative are
ongoing.

MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES
Bonneville Ratemaking and Rates
Bonneville Ratemaking Standards

Bonneville is required to periodically review and, as needed, to revise rates for power sold and transmission services
provided in order to produce revenues that recover Bonneville’s costs, including its payments to the United States
Treasury. The Northwest Power Act incorporates the provisions of other Bonneville organic statutes, including the
Transmission System Act and the Flood Control Act. The Transmission System Act requires, among other things, that
Bonneville establish its rates “with a view to encouraging the widest possible diversified use of electric power at the
lowest possible rates to consumers consistent with sound business principles,” while having regard to recovery of costs
and repayment to the United States Treasury. Substantially the same requirements are set forth in the Flood Control
Act.

Bonneville Ratemaking Procedures

The Northwest Power Act contains specific ratemaking procedures used to develop a full and complete record
supporting a proposal for revised rates. The procedures include publication of the proposed rate(s), together with a
statement of justification and reasons in support of such rate(s), in the Federal Register and a hearing before a hearing
officer. The hearing provides an opportunity to refute or rebut material submitted by Bonneville or other parties and
also provides a reasonable opportunity for cross-examination, as permitted by the hearing officer. Upon the conclusion
of the hearing, the hearing officer certifies a formal hearing record (including hearing transcripts, exhibits, and such
other materials and information as have been submitted during the hearing) to the Bonneville Administrator. This
record provides the basis for the Administrator’s final decision, which must include a full and complete reasoning in
support of the proposed rate(s).

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Review of Rates Established by Bonneville

Rates established by Bonneville under the Northwest Power Act may become effective only upon confirmation and
approval by FERC, although FERC may grant interim approval of Bonneville’s proposed rates pending FERC’s final
confirmation and approval.

FERC’s review under the Northwest Power Act of Bonneville’s firm power rates, Regional non-firm energy rates, and
transmission rates involves three standards set out in the Northwest Power Act. These standards require FERC to



confirm and approve these Bonneville rates based on findings that such rates: (i) are sufficient to assure repayment of
the Federal investment in the Federal System over a reasonable number of years after first meeting Bonneville’s other
costs; (ii) are based on Bonneville’s total system costs; and (iii) insofar as transmission rates are concerned, equitably
allocate the costs of the Federal Transmission System between Federal and non-Federal power utilizing such system.
FERC does not, however, review Bonneville’s rate design or the cost allocation for rates for firm power and Regional
non-firm energy.

In confirming and approving Bonneville’s rates for non-firm energy sold for use outside the Region, FERC reviews
whether such rates were designed: (1) having regard to the recovery of cost of generation and transmission of such
electric energy; (2) so as to encourage the most widespread use of Bonneville power; (3) to provide the lowest possible
rates to consumers consistent with sound business principles; and (4) in a manner which protects the interests of the
United States in amortizing its investments in the Federal System within a reasonable period. The Northwest Power Act
provides for the possibility of an additional rate hearing before FERC on non-Regional non-firm energy rates, based on
the record developed at Bonneville.

Upon reviewing Bonneville’s power rates, FERC may either confirm or reject a rate proposed by Bonneville. FERC
lacks the authority to establish a power rate in lieu of a proposed rate that FERC finds does not meet the applicable
standards. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, if FERC were to reject a proposed Bonneville power rate,
FERC would be limited to remanding the proposed rate to Bonneville for further proceedings as Bonneville deems
appropriate. On remand, Bonneville would reformulate the proposed rate to comply with the statutory ratemaking
standards. If FERC were to have given Bonneville interim approval, Bonneville may be required to refund the
difference between the interim rate charged and any such final, FERC-approved rate. However, Bonneville is required
by law to set rates to meet all its costs; thus, it is the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel that Bonneville may be
required to increase its rates to seek to recover the amount of any such refunds, if needed.

For a discussion of FERC rate review and regulation related to transmission access and rates, see “TRANSMISSION
SERVICES—Non-discriminatory Transmission Access and Separation of Power Services and Transmission Services”
and “—Bonneville’s Transmission and Ancillary Service Rates.”

Judicial Review of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Final Decision

FERC’s final approval of a proposed Bonneville rate is a final action subject to direct, exclusive review by the Ninth
Circuit Court. Suits challenging final actions must be filed within 90 days of the time such action is deemed final. The
record upon review by the court is limited to the administrative record compiled in accordance with the Northwest
Power Act.

Unlike FERC, the court reviews all of Bonneville’s ratemaking for conformance with all Northwest Power Act
standards, including those ratemaking standards incorporated by reference in the Northwest Power Act. In the opinion
of Bonneville’s General Counsel, the court lacks the authority to establish a Bonneville rate. Upon review, the court
may either affirm or remand a rate to FERC or Bonneville, as appropriate. On remand, Bonneville would reformulate
the remanded rate. Bonneville’s flexibility in establishing rates could be restricted by the rejection of a Bonneville rate,
depending on the grounds for the rejection. Bonneville may be subject to refund obligations if the reformulated rate
were lower than the remanded rate. However, Bonneville is required by law to set rates to meet all its costs; thus, it is
the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel that Bonneville may be required to increase its rates to seek to recover the
amount of any such refunds, if needed.

Power Customer Classes

The Northwest Power Act, as well as other Bonneville organic statutes, provides for the sale of power: (i) to Preference
and certain Federal agency customers; (ii) to DSIs; (iii) for those portions of loads which qualify as “residential,” to
investor-owned and public utilities participating in the Residential Exchange Program; and (iv) as requested, to meet
the net requirements of investor-owned utilities. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters
Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.” The rates for power sold to these respective
customer classes are based on allocation of the costs of the various resources available to Bonneville, consistent with
the various statutory directives contained in Bonneville’s organic statutes.

Other Firm Power Rates

Bonneville’s rates for other firm power sales within the Region are based on the cost of such resources as Bonneville
may decide are applicable to such sales. Bonneville also sells similarly priced surplus firm power outside the



Northwest, primarily to California, under short-term power sales that allow for flexible prices, or under long-term
contract rates.

Surplus Energy

Energy that is surplus to the contracted-for requirements of Bonneville’s Regional customers is priced in accordance
with the statutory standards (contained in the Northwest Power Act) applicable to such sales, as discussed above. Such
energy is available within and without the Pacific Northwest, with most sales being made to California markets.

Limitations on Suits against Bonneville

Suits challenging Bonneville’s actions or inaction may only be brought pursuant to certain Federal statutes that waive
sovereign immunity. These statutes limit the types of actions, remedies available, procedures to be followed, and the
proper forum. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, the exclusive remedy available for a breach of contract
by Bonneville is a judgment for money damages. See “BONNEVILLE LITIGATION” for information regarding
pending litigation seeking to compel or restrain action by Bonneville.

Laws Relating to Environmental Protection

Bonneville must comply with the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), which requires that Federal agencies
conduct an environmental review of a proposed Federal action and prepare an environmental impact statement if the
action proposed may significantly affect the quality of the human environment. NEPA may require that Bonneville
follow statutory procedures prior to deciding whether to implement an action. The Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), the
Toxic Substance Control Act (“TSCA”), and applicable state statutes and regulations, as well as amendments thereto,
may result in Bonneville incurring unplanned costs to investigate and clean up sites where hazardous substances have
been released or disposed of. Bonneville has been identified as one of several potentially responsible parties at two
sites. Bonneville’s environmental protection costs at one site are approximately $350,000 to date. Bonneville has not
committed to any cleanup at this time pending a Record of Decision in 2011. EPA estimates of potential cleanup costs
are $5-6 million, which would be shared among a number of parties. Bonneville’s potential liability for environmental
protection costs at a second site is uncertain at this time, but is not expected to exceed $10 million.

Energy Policy Act of 2005

EPA-2005 was enacted by Congress in July 2005. Among other things, EPA-2005 amended the FPA by including new
provisions applicable to Bonneville’s power and transmission marketing. Provisions in EPA-2005 that could have the
greatest impact on Bonneville’s operations include the following:

(i) EPA-2005 amends the FPA to authorize FERC to require an unregulated transmitting utility (a term that
includes Bonneville) to provide transmission services at rates comparable to those the utility charges itself, and on
terms and conditions that are comparable to those the utility offers itself, and that are not unduly discriminatory or
preferential. Although Bonneville is uncertain how FERC will apply its new authority (for instance, the reporting or
filing requirements FERC might impose or how FERC might interpret the provision), since 1996, Bonneville has
voluntarily adopted terms and conditions for non-discriminatory open access transmission services through a FERC-
filed tariff, offering transmission service to Bonneville’s Power Services and other transmission users at the same tariff
terms and conditions, and at the same rates. See “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Non-discriminatory Transmission
Access and Separation of Power Services and Transmission Services.”

(ii) With respect to Bonneville’s participation in a regional transmission organization, EPA-2005 authorizes
the Secretary of Energy or, upon designation by the Secretary, the administrator of a power marketing administration
(“PMA”) including Bonneville, to transfer control and use of the PMA’s transmission system to certain defined entities,
including a regional transmission organization, independent system operator, or any other transmission organization
approved by FERC for operation of transmission facilities. The section further provides that the contract, agreement, or
arrangement by which control and use is transferred must include provisions that ensure recovery of all of the costs and
expenses of the PMA related to the transmission facilities subject to the transfer, consistency with existing contracts
and third-party financing arrangements, and consistency with the statutory authorities, obligations, and limitations of
the PMA. See “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Bonneville’s Participation in a Regional Transmission Organization.”

(iii)) EPA-2005 grants FERC limited authority to order refunds in the case of certain energy sales by non-
jurisdictional utilities such as Bonneville. The refund authority is limited to sales of 31 days or less made through an

A-37



organized market in which the rates for the sale are established by a FERC-approved tariff. The refund authority
applies to Bonneville only if the rate for the sale by Bonneville is unjust and unreasonable and is higher than the
highest just and reasonable rate charged by any other entity for a sale in the same geographic market for the same or
most nearly comparable time period. See “POWER SERVICES—Customers and Other Power Contract Parties of
Bonneville’s Power Services—Effect on Bonneville of Developments in California Power Markets in 1999-2001.”

(iv) EPA-2005 authorizes FERC to certify and oversee an Electric Reliability Organization (“ERO”) that will
be authorized to issue and enforce mandatory reliability rules that cover all users, owners, and operators of the bulk
power system. The provision would apply to Bonneville, but the Act expressly states that neither the ERO nor FERC
are authorized to order the construction of additional generation or transmission capacity or to set and enforce
compliance with standards for adequacy or safety of electric facilities or services.

2010 Dodd-Frank Act and Bonneville

On July 21, 2010, President Barrack Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank Act”), which provides for the reform of the financial industry in the United States. Under
the new legislation, regulation of the over-the-counter (“OTC”) swaps, futures, options and derivatives will be
substantially increased. The scope of the Dodd-Frank Act is very broad, and grants extensive discretion to applicable
regulatory bodies, primarily the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC*) and the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). Congress directed the CFTC and SEC to establish and enforce rules and requirements for
participants in a wide range of commercial and financial markets. Regulation under the Dodd-Frank Act could lead to
the imposition of trading limits, and capital, reserve, and collateral requirements (primarily margin requirements) either
directly or through mandatory clearing on regulated exchanges. Increased regulation could also result in reduced
flexibility of counterparties to develop and participate in unique transactions.

Bonneville participates extensively in OTC electric power transactions, almost all of which call for physical delivery of
electric power. The Dodd-Frank Act specifically excludes future physical delivery contracts from direct regulation.
While Bonneville has no financial interest rate swaps now in effect, it has entered into interest rates swaps in the past
and may enter such swaps or similar swaps in the future. Financial interest rate swaps will become regulated under the
Dodd-Frank Act. Finally, Bonneville is considering, for hedging purposes, entering into exchange traded power-related
financial transactions that do not call for physical delivery. Such transactions will also be regulated under the Dodd-
Frank Act.

It is unclear how the new legislation will affect current markets or market participants. Some participants may reduce
their presence in non-regulated futures physical transactions for power. A significant drop-off in counterparty
participation in the physical power market could cause Bonneville to look to new, regulated markets to meet its future
physical delivery needs and/or to hedge against its future purchases of electricity. These new markets may mandate
margin deposits, thereby increasing Bonneville’s needs for liquidity and affecting Bonneville’s cash flow requirements.
Similar issues may exist for any future interest rate swap or other contractual relationships that fall within this new
regulatory framework.

Bonneville cannot predict the provisions of the new rules the CFTC will adopt as it works to implement the new
legislation. Depending on the terms of the implementing rules, Bonneville’s trading and financial operations could be
affected. Bonneville continues to actively monitor the CFTC rule-making process and related market changes in an
effort to organize its trading activity so as to minimize the financial impact of the new legislation on Bonneville’s
operations.

Other Applicable Laws
Many statutes, regulations, and policies are or may become applicable to Bonneville, several of which could affect

Bonneville’s operations and finances. Bonneville cannot predict with certainty the ultimate effect such statutes,
regulations or policies could have on its finances.



Columbia River Treaty

Bonneville and the Corps have been designated by executive order to act as the “United States Entity” which, in
conjunction with a Canadian counterpart, the “Canadian Entity,” formulates and carries out operating arrangements
necessary to implement the 1964 Columbia River Treaty (the “Treaty”). The United States and Canada entered into the
Treaty to increase reservoir capacity in the Canadian reaches of the Columbia River basin for the purposes of power
generation and flood control.

Regulation of stream flows by the Canadian reservoirs enables six Federal and five non-Federal dams downstream in
the United States to generate more usable, firm electric power. This increase in firm power is referred to as the
“downstream power benefits.” The Treaty specifies that the downstream power benefits be shared equally between the
two countries. Canada’s portion of the downstream power benefits is known as the “Canadian Entitlement.”

The Treaty specifies that the Canadian Entitlement be delivered to Canada at a specified point unless the United States
Entity and the Canadian Entity agree to other arrangements. The United States Entity and Canadian Entity reached such
an agreement in the late 1990s, and as a result the United States Entity does not have to build a transmission line to
assure delivery to the point referred to in the Treaty.

The United States Entity and Canadian Entity have consulted on terms for possible disposal of portions of the Canadian
Entitlement in the United States. Direct disposal of the Canadian Entitlement in the United States was authorized by the
executive branches of the United States and Canadian governments through an exchange of diplomatic notes, which
occurred in 1999.

Although the Treaty does not expire by its own terms, either the United States or Canada may elect to terminate it by
providing not less than ten-years’ notice, with the earliest time for termination occurring in calendar year 2024.
Bonneville has not received any indication from either the United States or Canada of any interest in terminating the
Treaty.

Proposals for Federal Legislation and Administrative Action Relating to Bonneville

Congress from time to time considers legislative changes that could affect electric power markets generally and
Bonneville specifically. For example, several bills have proposed, among other things, granting buyers and sellers of
power access to Bonneville’s transmission under a form of regulatory oversight comparable to that currently applicable
to privately-owned transmission and subjecting Bonneville’s transmission operations and assets to FERC regulation.
Under this type of regulation, in general, a transmission owner may not use its transmission system to recover costs of
its power function. This type of regulation would be at odds with Bonneville’s General Counsel’s legal opinion of
Bonneville’s current transmission rate authority under which Bonneville would, if necessary, be required to use
transmission rates to recover its power function costs. Other proposals advanced in or submitted to Congress have
included privatizing the Federal power marketing agencies, including Bonneville, privatizing new and replacement
capital facilities at Federal hydroelectric projects, studying the removal of certain federally-owned dams of the Federal
System, placing caps on Bonneville’s authority to incur certain types of capitalized costs, requiring that Bonneville sell
its power at auctioned market prices rather than under cost-based rates, and limiting Bonneville’s ability to incur new
third-party debt.

Bonneville is a Federal agency. It is subject to direction or guidance in a number of respects from the United States
Office of Management and Budget, DOE, FERC, the United States Treasury and other Federal agencies. Bonneville is
frequently the subject of, or would otherwise be affected by, various executive and administrative proposals.
Bonneville is unable to predict the content of future proposals; however, it is possible that such proposals could
materially affect Bonneville’s operations and financial condition.

Climate Change

Federal, regional, state, and international initiatives have been proposed or adopted to address global climate change by
controlling or monitoring greenhouse gas emissions, by encouraging renewable energy development, and by
implementing other measures. Bonneville cannot predict whether or when new laws and regulations or proposed
initiatives would take effect in a manner that would affect Bonneville, and, if so, how they would affect Bonneville.

One of the major climate change policy initiatives being discussed at the national and regional levels is the pricing of
carbon either through a cap and trade or a carbon tax. Federal legislation that would establish a national carbon price
has become less likely in the near term. However, the Western Climate Initiative may initiate a regional cap and trade
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in 2012 and establish a carbon price in California, other Western states, or Canadian provinces. The pricing of carbon is
intended to disfavor the use of high carbon intensity resources, particularly coal. However, none of the generating
facilities of the Federal System are fueled by carbon-based fuels. The Federal System generating facilities are primarily
hydroelectric resources, or, in the case of Columbia Generating Station, nuclear-fueled. Therefore, it is unlikely that a
carbon price would directly affect the cost of the output of the Federal System. However, a carbon price may increase
the market price of electricity.

Bonneville frequently enters into short-term agreements for the purchase of electric power to make “balancing
purchases” in periods of the year when Federal System generating facilities are not expected to be able to match loads.
Further, in the past Bonneville has entered into and in the future expects to enter into similar market purchases in order
to address longer term firm power deficits. To the extent that the electric power that Bonneville purchases for these
purposes is derived from carbon-based generation, Bonneville could face increased costs if and when carbon emission
regulation takes effect. However, Bonneville believes that cost increases in purchases would likely be offset by an
increase in the relative value of its non-carbon-based seasonal surplus (secondary) energy, which is derived primarily
from hydroelectric generating resources. In any event, given the predominance of non-carbon-based generation in the
Federal System, to the extent that global warming initiatives impose controls or costs on carbon generation, Bonneville
believes that the aggregate relative economic value of Bonneville’s electric power probably would not decline, all else
being equal.

To the extent that new regulations and incentives for non-carbon based generation increase the development of new
generation facilities, Bonneville could face increased costs for integrating such facilities into the Federal Transmission
System. However, Bonneville would be required by law to recover the costs in transmission and related rates. See “—
Wind Generation Development and Integration into the Federal Transmission System.” There may also be pressure to
retire certain high carbon intensity resources early, particularly coal-fired generation. Given the resource profile of the
Federal System, it is unlikely that the resources that produce power marketed by Bonneville will be closed early as a
result of climate change policy.

The physical effects of climate change could affect the generation capability of the Federal System to meet loads.
Given the Federal System’s reliance on precipitation and snow pack, climate change could affect the amount, timing,
and availability of hydroelectric generation. In addition, climate change could affect load patterns if space-heating and -
cooling demands change, and if heat waves become more frequent and severe. Finally, changes in climate could
adversely affect fish and wildlife populations affected by the Federal System, possibly resulting in additional costs. See
“POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and
Wildlife—The Endangered Species Act.”

Wind Generation Development and Integration into the Federal Transmission System

As the owner/operator of the Federal Transmission System, the largest bulk transmission system in the Region,
Bonneville is responsible for transmitting electric power from and integrating most of the new wind generation projects
that are located in the Region or that are transmitted into or through the Region. Bonneville estimates that over 3,200
megawatts of wind generation facilities are now interconnected to the Federal Transmission System. Bonneville
expects that an additional 1,800 megawatts of wind power will be integrated by the end of the five calendar years,
ending December 2015. Wind generation integration beyond that point is expected to continue to increase with future
wind project development in the Region. With the recent enactment by western states of renewable energy portfolio
requirements applicable to electric power utilities, Bonneville expects that substantial additional wind generation
investments will continue to be made for the foreseeable future.

The preceding megawatt estimates of wind generation reflect installed capacity of the facilities themselves and do not
reflect estimated energy output, which depends on the availability and intensity of wind. Average generation over a
year for all wind generation in the Region is roughly 30 percent of the installed capacity of the wind generation
facilities.

From an electric power system perspective, Bonneville believes that wind energy provides no electric power capacity
because its availability depends on the wind, and therefore is not reliable to be called on when needed. In addition, even
when wind resources are generating, actual output can vary substantially in relatively short time frames. This means
that other generating resources must be available and be relied on to provide necessary reserves to meet sudden
declines in wind generation. Generation resources must also be available to be scaled back to accommodate unexpected
upsurges in wind generation. Thus, integration of wind energy into the Federal Transmission System provides some
operational challenges to assure system wide reliability and the efficient effective transmission of wind from generation
source to loads.

A-40



One of the complexities relates to the operation of the hydro-power generating resources of the Federal System. While
the Federal System hydro-power is highly flexible since it can be called on to increase or decrease electric generation
on short notice to manage wind fluctuations, system operation limitations restrict that flexibility. For example, in the
spring and summer, the system is operated to spill water to aid downstream migrant fish. Bonneville has developed
processes to assure that wind generation integration does not adversely affect meeting Endangered Species Act fish
requirements by establishing the ability to cut wind generation schedules. Finally, integrating new resources (wind or
otherwise) may also require facilities investments, such as new transmission lines and substations or improvements to
existing facilities, in order to transmit the additional electric power.

All costs of Bonneville’s wind integration efforts are recovered in its rates. See “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—
Bonneville’s Transmission and Ancillary Services Rates.”

In calendar year 2009, Bonneville formed a technical cross agency team dedicated to designing cost-effective means to
integrate large amounts of wind into the Federal System. One of the team’s first tasks was the examination of the
potential for third-party generation to meet within-hour capacity needs (to increase and decrease third party generation
in response to variations in wind generation). As a result of this initiative, Bonneville determined that methods apart
from acquiring generating resources would, in the near-term, be sufficient to meet wind integration needs. Beginning in
September 2010, Bonneville and Iberdrola Renewables (“Iberdrola”) developed a self-supply pilot whereby Iberdrola
will arrange for its own within-hour capacity from other generating resources as necessary to integrate its resources into
the Federal Transmission System, rather than rely on Bonneville. This will save Bonneville up to 300 megawatts of
within-hour capacity reserves. Bonneville also entered into a short-term, pilot arrangement with Calpine. Calpine has
agreed to supply 75 megawatts of light-load-hour capacity reserves from its Hermiston, Oregon natural-gas plant.
Calpine will drop production from its Hermiston plant at Bonneville’s direction during times when Bonneville might
otherwise have to lower its hydro generation. Other pilot programs include allowing wind generators to schedule excess
power on an intra-hourly basis. Shorter scheduling units better enable Bonneville to more efficiently use its capacity
resources for balancing. It is still unclear whether these various pilots or initiatives will be sufficient to meet the
growing need for within-hour capacity reserves. Alternatives such as these are expected to make the Federal System
more efficient and keep short-term rate pressures low. For the long-term, it is possible that Bonneville may seek to
obtain new generating resources to meet its responsibilities as a transmission operator.

Apart from wind integration issues, continued wind power development may, from time to time, affect the prices that
Bonneville receives for seasonal surplus (secondary) power. Much of Bonneville’s seasonal surplus power is derived in
the spring when river flows are the greatest. Coincidentally, the spring months also tend to be windy, and wind
generation in the spring is at is peak. In periods of high hydroelectric output, Bonneville can agree with owners of
thermal (coal, oil and gas) generation to “economically displace” their thermal generation with hydro-power, thereby
saving thermal fuel costs. Displacement of wind generation by Bonneville is different given that wind generators do not
have fuel costs, so they see no cost-savings to achieve by displacing their generation. Some wind generators also
receive Federal income tax incentives in the form of production tax credits under which the credit is based on the
amount of electric power actually generated. This also makes economic displacement arrangements with wind
generators more difficult to develop.

In June 2010, unusual weather conditions created heavy precipitation, cool weather, and high winds. As a result,
Bonneville had significant surplus hydro-power and high levels of wind generation with energy demands at relatively
low levels. Bonneville began looking for places to market its excess power. Coincidentally, in some periods of high
river flows, certain Federal System hydroelectric facilities were operating under ESA guidance that limited dam
operations to keep the amount of dissolved nitrogen gas in the water below certain thresholds because the dissolved
gases are harmful to the listed fish species. Running water through the dam generators rather than spilling the water
through the dam spillways is a critically important means to limit the amount of dissolved nitrogen. The need to
generate power to avoid spill further increased Bonneville’s interest in finding purchasers of the excess power. Absent
increased demand needs, economic displacement is Bonneville’s primary choice to offload its surplus generation. Due
to the high wind conditions, a larger portion of the Region’s generation was coming from wind generators who
generally have little economic incentive to displace their generation due to a variety of tax and other incentives.
Bonneville instead looked to Regional thermal generators. Given the large amount of surplus hydro power available,
Bonneville was offering its surplus generation at prices down to $0 per megawatt in place of the thermal generation.
With the forecasted interconnection of 1,800 additional megawatts of wind generation capacity to the Federal System
over the next five years, there is an increased likelihood of high water, high wind events in the future. Beginning in
October 2010, Bonneville initiated a series of Regional workshops to explore operational and policy mitigation
mechanisms with its stakeholders to identify options and find appropriate solutions for future high runoff events.
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BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
The Bonneville Fund

Prior to 1974, Congress annually appropriated funds for the payment of Bonneville’s obligations, including working
capital expenditures. Under the Transmission System Act, Congress created the Bonneville Fund, a continuing
appropriation available to meet all of Bonneville’s cash obligations.

All receipts, collections, and recoveries of Bonneville in cash from all sources are now deposited in the Bonneville
Fund. These include revenues from the sale of power and other services, trust funds, proceeds from the sale of bonds by
Bonneville to the United States Treasury, any appropriations by Congress for the Bonneville Fund, and any other
Bonneville cash receipts.

Bonneville is authorized to make expenditures from the Bonneville Fund without further appropriation and without
fiscal year limitation if such expenditures have been included in Bonneville’s annual budget to Congress. However,
Bonneville’s expenditures from the Bonneville Fund are subject to such directives or limitations as may be included in
an appropriations act. Bonneville’s annual budgets are reviewed and may be changed by the DOE and subsequently by
the United States Office of Management and Budget. The Office of Management and Budget, after providing
opportunity for Bonneville to respond to proposed changes, includes Bonneville’s budget in the President’s budget
submitted to Congress.

The existence of the Bonneville Fund also enables Bonneville to enter into contractual obligations requiring cash
payments that exceed, at the time the obligation is created, the sum of the amount of cash in the Bonneville Fund and
available borrowing authority. Pursuant to the Project Act and other law, Bonneville has broad authority to enter into
contracts and make expenditures to accomplish its objectives.

No prior budget submittal, appropriation, or any prior Congressional action is required to create such obligations except
in certain specified instances. These include construction of transmission facilities outside the Northwest, construction
of major transmission facilities within the Northwest, construction of certain fish and wildlife facilities, condemnation
of operating transmission facilities, and acquisition of certain major generating or conservation resources.

The Federal System Investment

The total cost of the multipurpose Corps, and Reclamation projects that are part of the Federal System is allocated
among the purposes served by the projects, which may include flood control, navigation, irrigation, municipal and
industrial water supply, recreation, the protection, mitigation, and enhancement of fish and wildlife, and the generation
of power. The costs allocated to power generation from the Corps and Reclamation projects as well as the cost of the
transmission system prior to 1974 have been funded through appropriations. The capital costs of the transmission
system since 1974 and certain capital conservation and fish and wildlife costs since 1980 have been funded in great part
through the use of Bonneville’s borrowing authority with the United States Treasury.

Bonneville is required by statute to establish rates that are sufficient to repay the Federal investment in the power
facilities of the Federal System within a reasonable period of years. The statutes, however, are not specific with regard
to directives for the repayment of the Federal System investment, including what constitutes a reasonable period of
years. Consequently, the details of the repayment policy have been established through administrative interpretation of
the basic statutory requirements. The current administrative interpretation is embodied in the United States Secretary of
Energy’s directive RA 6120.2. The directive provides that Bonneville must establish rates that are sufficient to repay
the Federal investments within the average expected service life of the facility or 50 years, whichever is less.
Bonneville develops a repayment schedule both to comply with investment due dates and to minimize costs over the
repayment period. Costs are minimized, in accordance with the United States Secretary of Energy’s directive RA
6120.2, by repaying the highest interest-bearing investments first, to the extent possible. This method of determining
the repayment schedule would result in some investments being repaid before their due dates, while assuring that all
investments will be repaid by their due dates. As of September 30, 2010, Bonneville had repaid $10 billion of principal
of the Federal System investment and has $4.3 billion principal amount outstanding with regard to such appropriated
investments and $2.5 billion principal outstanding in bonds issued by Bonneville to the United States Treasury.

Bonneville Borrowing Authority

Bonneville is authorized to issue and sell to the United States Treasury, and to have outstanding at any one time, up to
$7.7 billion aggregate principal amount of bonds. Of the $7.7 billion in borrowing authority that Bonneville has with
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the United States Treasury, $2.5 billion of bonds were outstanding as of September 30, 2010. Under current law, none
of this borrowing authority may be used to acquire electric power from a generating facility having a planned capability
of more than 50 annual average megawatts. Of the $7.7 billion in United States Treasury borrowing authority, $1.25
billion is available for electric power conservation and renewable resources, including capital investment at the Federal
System hydroelectric facilities owned by the Corps and Reclamation, and $6.45 billion is available for Bonneville’s
transmission capital program and to implement Bonneville’s authorities under the Northwest Power Act.

The interest on Bonneville’s outstanding bonds is set at rates comparable to rates on debt issued by other comparable
Federal Government institutions at the time of issuance. As of September 30, 2010, the interest rates on the outstanding
bonds ranged from 0.2 percent to 6.7 percent with a weighted average interest rate of approximately 4.4 percent. The
original terms of the outstanding bonds vary from 3 to 34 years. The term of the bonds is limited by the average
expected service life of the associated investment: 35 years for transmission facilities, 45 years for Corps and
Reclamation capital investments, up to 20 years for conservation investments, and 15 years for fish and wildlife
projects. Bonds can be issued with call options.

Banking Relationship between the United States Treasury and Bonneville

Effective April 30, 2008, Bonneville entered into an Obligation Purchase Memorandum of Understanding (“Obligation
Purchase MOU™) establishing a new banking arrangement governing the terms by which Bonneville borrows from the
United States Treasury. Formerly, there was no overarching formal documentation of the terms under which the United
States Treasury would lend funds to Bonneville; rather, the banking arrangement was more informal with borrowings
made on the basis of administrative practice evolved over more than 30 years. The new banking arrangement provides
a process and methodology for establishing interest rates, various types of credit facilities, the terms for several types of
prepayment rights, the documentation requirements for requesting advances and rescinding advances requests, and a
number of other administrative details. The banking arrangement enables Bonneville to borrow for long- and short-term
capital needs and to borrow for operating expenses, an ability that Bonneville had lacked previously. Under the short-
term expense borrowing arrangement, as amended in Fiscal Year 2009, Bonneville may borrow and have outstanding at
any one time up to $750 million in aggregate. The short-term operating advances can be made available on as short as
one day’s notice and have a maximum repayment period of one year, although Bonneville may extend the maturities an
additional year by exercising certain rights that would re-establish applicable interest rates. Nothing in the new banking
arrangement increases the statutory limit on the $7.7 billion aggregate principal amount of debt that Bonneville may
issue to the United States Treasury and have outstanding at any one time.

Coincident with the entry into the Obligation Purchase MOU, Bonneville and the United States Treasury entered into
an Investment Memorandum of Understanding (“Investment MOU”) that governs investments in the Bonneville Fund
beginning October 1, 2008. Under prior practice, Bonneville earned a credit on all cash balances in the Bonneville
Fund, which credits were to be applied to interest due on Bonneville’s outstanding United States Treasury bonds. The
interest credit was earned at the weighted average interest rate of all outstanding bonds issued by Bonneville to the
United States Treasury. Under the Investment MOU, Bonneville’s ability to earn interest credits will phase-out
gradually over an expected ten-year period, beginning on October 1, 2008. In lieu of earning interest credits,
Bonneville will invest the applicable cash reserves in the Bonneville Fund in certain interest bearing securities issued
by the United States Treasury. Bonneville expects that the fund balance interest earnings under the investment model
will be lower than if Bonneville were to continue to earn interest credits on all of its balances under the prior practice.

Bonneville’s Capital Program

Bonneville operates in a capital intensive industry. To meet a variety of needs, Bonneville is forecasting increased
aggregate planned capital expenditures higher than levels in the recent past. Bonneville expects to fund substantial
investment: (i) in the Federal transmission system to assure reliable operation of existing facilities and to address new
demands (such as integrating wind generation), (ii) in the hydroelectric dams of the Federal System to maintain and
improve reliability and performance, and to protect fish and wildlife, (iii) in the conservation program established by
the Council in its Sixth Power Plan, and (iv) to meet fish and wildlife capital commitments under the Columbia Basin
Fish Accords with states and tribes in the Region and biological opinion requirements. Bonneville’s capital
expenditures also include certain heavy equipment and certain costs related to financing.

Bonneville’s actual aggregate capital expenditures in Fiscal Years 2007, 2008, and 2009 were $312 million, $290
million, and $409 million, respectively, increasing to $693 million in Fiscal Year 2010. Bonneville forecasts that its
aggregate capital expenditures will be about $845 million in Fiscal Year 2011 and average about $977 million per year
in the following six fiscal years. The foregoing capital spending amounts do not include capital expenditures for the
Columbia Generating Station, the costs of which are also funded by Bonneville pursuant to the Net Billing Agreements,
see the Official Statement under the heading “ENERGY NORTHWEST—THE COLUMBIA GENERATING
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STATION—Capital Improvements,” the cost of Columbia River Fish Mitigation funded by appropriations to the
Corps, which are also repaid by Bonneville as part of Bonneville’s Federal System appropriations repayment
responsibility, and customer-funded projects for transmission integration and energy efficiency initiatives.

Transmission capital expenditures averaged about $154 million per year in Fiscal Years 2007-2009, increasing to about
$392 million in Fiscal Year 2010. Bonneville forecasts that annual transmission capital expenditures will average about
$504 million per year in Fiscal Years 2011-2017. See “TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Bonneville’s Federal
Transmission System.”

Conservation expenditures averaged about $11 million per year in Fiscal Years 2007-2009, increasing to about $58
million in Fiscal Year 2010. Bonneville forecasts that annual conservation expenditures will average about $132
million per year in Fiscal Years 2011-2017. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting
Bonneville’s Power Services—Bonneville’s Obligation to Meet Certain Firm Power Requirements in the Region—
Bonneville’s Resource Program and Bonneville’s Resource Strategies for the Post-2011 Period—Electric Power
Conservation”

Federal System hydroelectric capital expenditures averaged about $118 million per year in Fiscal Years 2007-2009,
increasing to about $141 million in Fiscal Year 2010. Bonneville forecasts that annual Federal System hydroelectric
capital expenditures will average about $221 million in Fiscal Years 2011-2017.

There is substantial uncertainty in forecasting capital program needs.

Bonneville’s Congressionally-enacted authority to borrow from the United States Treasury is not adequate to fund the
entire projected capital program described above. While Bonneville expects that future capital expenditures in the next
five to seven years will be financed primarily through remaining United States Treasury borrowing authority,
Bonneville expects to employ third-party debt financing arrangements such as lease-purchases of transmission facilities
to assist in obtaining financing for the capital program. Bonneville will continue to explore and evaluate the means to
obtain adequate financing access to meet capital program needs.

To the extent that Bonneville uses non-Treasury financing sources, the related debt service costs will be payable on the
same parity as Net Billed Project costs, including debt service on Net Billed Bonds, in the order in which Bonneville’s
costs are met. See BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met.”

Debt Optimization Program

Beginning in 2000, Bonneville and Energy Northwest began implementing a “Debt Optimization Program,” which
involved extending the final maturities of Net Billed Bonds through a series of refunding bond issues and applying
amounts otherwise collected in Bonneville’s rates to the early payment of outstanding bonds issued by Bonneville to
the United States Treasury and early amortization of certain of Bonneville’s federal appropriations repayment
obligations. The issuance of bonds by Energy Northwest under the program was completed in Fiscal Year 2010,
although Bonneville will continue to amortize related Federal System repayment obligations early through Fiscal Year
2012. In addition, in 2006 Energy Northwest, at Bonneville’s request, began issuing bonds to finance new investments
at the Columbia Generating Station that have final maturities through 2024, and to issue certain refunding bonds for
the Columbia Generating Project that have maturities through 2024. As part of a new debt restructuring effort,
Bonneville and Energy Northwest are planning to extend the final maturities of certain Net Billed Bonds other than as
part of the Debt Optimization Program. See the Official Statement under “ENERGY NORTHWEST—Energy
Northwest Indebtedness.”

Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met

Bonneville’s operating revenues include amounts equal to net billing credits provided by Bonneville under the Net
Billing Agreements, as described in the Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—Net
Billing and Related Agreements.” Net billing credits reduce Bonneville’s cash receipts by the amount of the credits.
Thus, the costs payable under the Net Billing Agreements for the Net Billed Projects, to the extent covered by net
billing credits, are paid without regard to amounts in the Bonneville Fund. (Bonneville and Energy Northwest have
entered into agreements that obligate Bonneville to pay the costs of the Net Billed Projects on a current cash basis and
in most circumstances would reduce the use of net billing to meet the costs of the Net Billed Projects. See “—Direct
Pay Agreements.”)
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Bonneville is required to make certain annual payments to the United States Treasury. These payments are subject to
the availability of net proceeds, which are gross cash receipts remaining in the Bonneville Fund after deducting all of
the costs paid by Bonneville to operate and maintain the Federal System other than those used to make payments to the
United States Treasury for: (i) the repayment of the Federal investment in certain transmission facilities and the power
generating facilities at Federally-owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific Northwest; (ii) debt service on bonds
issued by Bonneville and sold to the United States Treasury; (iii) repayment of appropriated amounts to the Corps and
Reclamation for costs that are allocated to power generation at Federally-owned hydroelectric projects in the Pacific
Northwest; and (iv) costs allocated to irrigation projects as are required by law to be recovered from power sales.
Bonneville met its Fiscal Year 2010 payment responsibility to the United States Treasury in full and on time. Of
Bonneville’s payments of $864.1 million in Fiscal Year 2010, approximately $38.5 million was for the amortization
ahead of schedule of certain outstanding bonds issued by Bonneville to the United States Treasury. This advance
amortization was achieved in accordance with the Debt Optimization Program through the use of cash flows derived
from reduced debt service in such fiscal year for the Project 1, Project 3, and the Columbia Generating Station. Such
United States Treasury prepayments were payments in addition to the amounts that United States Treasury repayment
criteria applicable to Bonneville ratemaking would cause to be scheduled for payment. In accordance with the Debt
Optimization Program, Bonneville plans to make similar advance amortization payments to the United States Treasury
at least through Fiscal Year 2012. See “—Debt Optimization Program.”

For various reasons, Bonneville’s revenues from the sale of electric power and other services may vary significantly
from year to year. In order to accommodate such fluctuations in revenues and to assure that Bonneville has sufficient
revenues to pay the costs necessary to maintain and operate the Federal System, all non-United States Treasury cash
payment obligations of Bonneville, including: cash deficiency payments, if any, under the Net Billing Agreements
securing the Series 2010 Bonds; payments, if any, under the 1989 Letter Agreement; payments under the Direct Pay
Agreements; and, other operating and maintenance expenses, have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United
States Treasury. In the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel, under Federal statutes, Bonneville may make
payments to the United States Treasury only from net proceeds; all other cash payments of Bonneville, including cash
deficiency payments under the Net Billing Agreements securing the Series 2010 Bonds, payments, if any, under the
1989 Letter Agreement, payments under the Direct Pay Agreements, and other operating and maintenance expenses,
have priority over payments by Bonneville to the United States Treasury for the costs described in (i) through (iv) in
the preceding paragraph. See the Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—Net
Billing and Related Agreements—General” and “—Direct Pay Agreements,” and see “—Direct Pay Agreements” in
this Appendix A.

Bonneville is authorized to enter into new agreements to provide for additional net billing of its customers’ bills.
Nevertheless, because Bonneville is now able to enter into contractual obligations requiring cash payments that exceed,
at the time the obligation is created, the sum of the amount in the Bonneville Fund and available borrowing authority,
the primary reason for using net billing no longer exists. Bonneville has no present plans to enter into new agreements
with Net Billing Agreement Participants (“Participants”) requiring net billing to fund resource acquisitions or other
capital program investments. For a description of the Net Billing Agreements, net billing and Participants, see the
Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS.”

The requirement to pay the United States Treasury exclusively from net proceeds would result in a deferral of payments
to the United States Treasury in the event that net proceeds were not sufficient for Bonneville to make its annual
payment in full to the United States Treasury. This could occur if Bonneville were to receive substantially less revenue
or incur substantially greater costs than expected.

Under the repayment methodology as specified in the United States Secretary of Energy’s directive RA 6120.2,
amortization of the Federal System investment is paid after all other cash obligations have been met. If, in any year,
Bonneville has insufficient cash to make a scheduled amortization payment, Bonneville must reschedule amortization
payments not made in that year over the remaining repayment period. If a cash under-recovery were larger than the
amount of planned amortization payments, Bonneville would first reschedule planned amortization payments and then
defer current interest payments to the United States Treasury. When Bonneville defers an interest payment, the deferred
amount may be assigned a market interest rate determined by the Secretary of the United States Treasury and must be
repaid before Bonneville may make any other repayment of principal to the United States Treasury. See the table under
the heading “Statement of Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage and United States Treasury Payments” for
historical United States Treasury payments.

Direct Pay Agreements

In Fiscal Year 2006, Bonneville and Energy Northwest entered into certain Direct Pay Agreements. Under these
agreements, Bonneville has agreed by contract to pay directly to Energy Northwest the costs of Columbia Generating
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Station, Project 1 and Project 3 as billed to Bonneville by Energy Northwest. Under these agreements, Bonneville’s
cash receipts and payments are more efficiently matched so that Bonneville may reduce the cash balance it carries in
the Bonneville Fund to assure full and timely payment of its obligations, both Federal and non-Federal.

In reliance on Bonneville’s Direct Pay Agreement obligations, the billing statements that Energy Northwest is required
to provide to Participants under the Net Billing Agreements show and will show the expected payments from
Bonneville under the Direct Pay Agreements as amounts payable from sources other than the Net Billing Agreements.
See the Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS—Net Billing and Related
Agreements—Payment Procedures.” Thus, the amounts to be paid by Participants to Energy Northwest in a Net Billing
Agreement Contract Year are and will in the future be reduced to zero, thereby reducing Bonneville’s obligation to
provide net billing credits to zero as well. In this manner, Bonneville meets and will meet the costs of the Net Billed
Projects on a current basis entirely by means of cash payments from the Bonneville Fund.

By reducing the amount of net billing credits, Bonneville receives and will receive more revenues in cash from
Participants during times of the year when Bonneville would otherwise carry its lowest annual cash balances, typically
after Bonneville makes its end-of-fiscal-year payments to the United States Treasury. Under the Direct Pay
Agreements, Energy Northwest’s revenues with respect to the Net Billed Projects are and will be received throughout
the year rather than predominantly in the early months of Energy Northwest’s fiscal year (July 1-June 30), and have
resulted and will result in higher cash balances in the Bonneville Fund at the end of each Bonneville fiscal year. As a
consequence of re-shaping its annual cash flow patterns under the Direct Pay Agreements, Bonneville has been able to
adopt lower power rate levels than would have been expected in the absence of the Direct Pay Agreements. Bonneville
believes that these beneficial power rate effects will persist so long as the Direct Pay Agreements remain in effect and
are complied with.

The Direct Pay Agreements did not and do not result in the amendment or termination of the Net Billing Agreements or
any other agreements of Bonneville with respect to the Columbia Generating Station, Project 1 or Project 3, including
the 1989 Letter Agreement, the Voluntary Cash Payment Agreements, and the Assignment Agreements, each as
described in the Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE NET BILLED BONDS.” The Participants'
obligations to pay for power purchased from Bonneville did not and do not change as a result of the Direct Pay
Agreements. The effect of the agreements is that the Participants no longer pay such amounts to Energy Northwest
(with resulting net billing credits from Bonneville) for the period that the Direct Pay Agreements remain in effect.
Rather, the Participants pay their billings by Bonneville for power and transmission services to Bonneville. The Direct
Pay Agreements provide that, in the event that Bonneville were to fail to make required payments under the Direct Pay
Agreements, Energy Northwest would re-initiate net billing as required under the Net Billing Agreements.

Although the payments to Energy Northwest under the Direct Pay Agreements remain included under the respective
pledge of revenues for related series of Net Billed Bonds, such agreements are not pledged to secure the payment of,
nor are they security for, the related series of Net Billed Bonds and are subject to termination and amendment solely
upon mutual agreement of Bonneville and Energy Northwest.

In the event that payments under the Direct Pay Agreements were to fall short of meeting Net Billed Project costs or
the Direct Payment Agreements were terminated, under the Net Billing Agreements, the Participants would resume
making payments directly to Energy Northwest and Bonneville would resume crediting (net billing) amounts otherwise
due to Bonneville by the Participants for power and transmission purchases from Bonneville, up to the amount of
payments made by the Participants to Energy Northwest. See the Official Statement under “SECURITY FOR THE
NET BILLED BONDS—Net Billing and Related Agreements—Payment Procedures.” In general, the amount of the
Participants’ payments subject to net billing is based on the amount of transmission and power purchased from
Bonneville and the rates levels charged by Bonneville for such purchases.

Direct Funding of Federal System Operations and Maintenance Expense

In 1992, Congress enacted legislation authorizing but not requiring the Corps and the Department of Interior,
encompassing both Reclamation and the Fish and Wildlife Service, to enter into direct funding agreements with
Bonneville for operations and maintenance activities for the benefit of the Federal System. Under direct funding,
periodically during the course of each fiscal year, Bonneville pays amounts directly to the Corps or the Department of
Interior for operations and maintenance of their respective Federal System hydroelectric facilities as the Corps or the
Department of Interior and Bonneville may agree. Bonneville now “direct funds” virtually all of the Corps and
Reclamation Federal System operations and maintenance activities. Bonneville’s cash payments for the Corps,
Reclamation, and the Fish and Wildlife Service in Fiscal Year 2010 were $166 million, $82 million, and $23 million,
respectively.
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Bonneville believes that, in contrast to prior practice, the direct funding approach increases Bonneville’s influence on
the Corps’ and the Department of Interior’s Federal System operations and maintenance activities, expenses, and
budgets because, in general, Bonneville’s approval is necessary for the Corps and the Department of Interior to assure
funding. Under the direct funding agreements, direct payments from Bonneville for operations and maintenance are
subject to the prior application of amounts in the Bonneville Fund to the payment of Bonneville’s non-Federal
obligations, including Bonneville’s payments, if any, with respect to the Net Billed Projects. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, as a practical matter, since direct funding would be made by cash disbursement from the Bonneville Fund
during the course of the year rather than as a repayment of a loan at the end of the year, it is possible that direct funding
could be made to the exclusion of non-Federal payments that would otherwise have been paid under historical practice.
A result of any direct funding obligation by Bonneville is that there has been and will be a reduction in the amount of
Federal System operations and maintenance appropriations that Bonneville would otherwise have to repay, thereby
reducing the amount of Bonneville’s repayments to the United States Treasury that would otherwise be subject to
deferral. Nonetheless, Bonneville expects to have roughly $650 million to $850 million in scheduled payments each
year to the United States Treasury, exclusive of the Corps’ and the Department of Interior’s operation and maintenance
expenses through Fiscal Year 2013. Bonneville expects that it will renew and extend the direct funding agreements
with the Corps, Reclamation, and Fish and Wildlife Service prior to the expiration dates of the respective agreements.

As part of Bonneville’s increased commitments for capital facilities to assist in Federal System fish and wildlife
activities, in particular under the Columbia Basin Fish Accords, Bonneville has agreed in principle to establish a
mechanism to use direct funding to finance certain capital expenditures of the Corps at its Federal System hydroelectric
dams. Under this arrangement, Bonneville will borrow funds from the United States Treasury and transfer the funds to
the Corps to make the expenditures. The debt service on the amounts borrowed from Treasury would be payable by
Bonneville from “net proceeds.” See “— The Order in Which Bonneville’s Costs Are Met.”

Position Management and Derivative Instrument Activities and Policies

Bonneville seeks to ensure that its management of various financial risks be conducted in a controlled, business-like
manner. To this end, Bonneville has adopted risk management policies and organizational structures that systematically
address the management of these activities. Policies governing transacting are overseen by Bonneville’s Transacting
Risk Management Committee (“TRMC”), which is comprised of senior Bonneville executives.

Bonneville’s policies allow the use of financial instruments such as commodity and interest rate futures, forwards,
options, and swaps to manage Bonneville’s net revenue outcomes. Such policies do not authorize the use of financial
instruments for purposes outside TRMC-established strategies. Strategies are established in the context of portfolio
management, as opposed to individual position/exposure management, and are subject to quantitatively-derived, hard
position limits mathematically linked to Bonneville’s financial metrics, such as United States Treasury payment
probability. Exceptions to established policies must be cleared by the TRMC before execution.

Bonneville does not currently undertake hedging or power trading activities that require Bonneville to provide
collateral through the posting of margin payments to secure its related power trading contract obligations. Nonetheless,
in the near future Bonneville may elect to do so. In addition, as a result of recent legislation, Bonneville may begin
entering into exchange-traded, power-market-related financial transactions that would require that Bonneville post
margin to cover their mark-to-market value. See “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND
TRANSMISSION SERVICES—2010 Dodd-Frank Act and Bonneville.” Margin requirements could affect
Bonneville’s cash flows, especially if large margin payments are required. If a party does not meet margin calls, its
related agreements are subject to immediate termination and the net mark-to-market value of the related agreements
may become immediately due and payable.

Historical Federal System Financial Data

Federal System historical financial data for Fiscal Years 2008 through 2010 are hereinafter set forth in the “Federal
System Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited)." Such data have been derived from the annual audited
financial statements of the Federal System and differ therefrom in some respects in the categorization of certain costs.
The audited Financial Statements of the Federal System (prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and provided as Appendix B to the Official Statement) include accounts of Bonneville as well as
those of the generating facilities that are located in the Region and owned by the Corps and Reclamation and for which
Bonneville is the power marketing agency.
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Federal System Statement of Revenues and Expenses

(Actual Dollars in Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Year ending September 30,
Operating Revenues:

Sales of electric power —

Sales within the Northwest Region —

Northwest Publicly-Owned Utilities "’
Direct Service Industrial Customers
Northwest Investor-Owned Ultilities

Sales outside the Northwest Region @

Book-outs ®
Total Sales of Electric Power

. 4
Transmission @

Fish Credits and other revenues
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Bonneville O&M '’
Purchased Power ©
Corps, Reclamation, and Fish & Wildlife O&M ‘"’
Non-Federal entities O&M — net billed '*’
Non-Federal entities O&M — non-net billed

Total Operation and Maintenance

Net billed debt service
Non-net billed debt service
Non-Federal Projects Debt Service
Federal Projects Depreciation
Residential Exchange *'"/
Total Operating Expenses
Net Operating Revenues

()

Interest Expense:
Appropriated Funds
Long-term debt
Capitalization Adjustment *"*’
Allowance for funds used during construction
Net Interest Expense
Net Revenues/(Expenses) ‘'~
Total Sales (unaudited) — average megawatts a4
(Net of Residential Exchange Program and
excluding Canadian Entitlement Return)

2010 2009 2008
$ 1,775,882 S 1,673,237 $ 1,504,637
80,655 0 405
133,678 143,604 214,153
243,356 273,545 603,891
(120.803) (36.814) (109.704)
2,112,768 2,053,572 2,213,382
770,504 713,907 721,513
171,859 102,805 101,723
3,055,131 2,870,284 3,036,618
847,954 794,277 740,871
381,468 317,543 450,035
271,502 255,059 243,073
250,624 278,677 231,457
38.638 45236 42,032
1,790,186 1,690,792 1,707,468
546,987 461,388 457,847
53373 39.479 21,646
600,360 501,367 479,493
368,371 355,574 358,064
180,453 205172 (1.220)
2.939.370 2.752.905 2.543.805
115,761 117.379 492813
257,505 253,136 262,108
83,608 60,908 62,822
(64,905) (64,905) (64,905)
(32.866) (30.710) (32.057)
243,342 218.429 227.968
$  (127.581) $ (101,050) $ 264,845
8,936 8,748 8,803

1)

This customer group includes Preference Customers (municipalities, public utility districts, and rural electric

cooperatives in the Region) and Federal agencies. This amount reflects refunds to Preference Customers arising
from past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits to Regional IOUs. Amounts applied in Fiscal

Year 2010 were $82.1 million (see note 11 below).
In general, revenues from sales outside the Northwest are highly dependent upon stream-flows in the Columbia

2

River basin. Stream-flows directly impact the amount of seasonal surplus (secondary) energy available for sale,
the costs of generating power with alternative fuels, and ultimately the price Bonneville can obtain for its exported

seasonal surplus (secondary) energy and surplus firm power.
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3)

“)
()

(6)

(7

®)

©)

(10)

Total Operating Expenses and Revenue from Electricity Sales reflect accounting guidance associated with non-
trading energy activities that are “booked out” (settled other than by the physical delivery of power) and are
reported on a “net” basis in both operating revenues and purchased power expense. The accounting treatment for
bookouts has no effect on net revenues, cash flows, or margins.

Bonneville obtains revenues from the provision of transmission and other related services.

Bonneville also receives certain revenues from sources apart from power sales and the provision of transmission

services. These revenues relate primarily to fish and wildlife payment credits (also referred to as “4(h)10(C)
credits”) Bonneville receives to its United States Treasury repayment obligation. Such credits are provided on the
basis of estimates and forecasts and later are adjusted when actual data are available. The amount of such credits
was about $100.4 million, $99.5 million, and $123.1 million in Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectively.
See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and
Wildlife—Federal Repayment Offsets for Certain Fish and Wildlife Costs Borne by Bonneville.” In addition,
under ASC 815, Bonneville reported unrealized mark-to-market losses of $30.5 million and $34.7 million, and
gains of $14.8 million in Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010 respectively. ASC 815 requires (i) that every
derivative instrument be recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability measured at its fair value and (ii) that
changes in a derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria
are met. It is Bonneville’s policy to document and apply as appropriate the normal purchase and normal sales
exception under ASC 815. Purchases and sales of forward electricity and option contracts that require physical
delivery and which are expected to be used or sold by the reporting entity in the normal course of business are
generally considered “normal purchases and normal sales” under ASC 815. These transactions are not required to
be recorded at fair value in the financial statements. In Fiscal Year 2010, Bonneville began applying “Regulated
Operations” accounting treatment to its commodity contract derivative instruments that are recorded at market
values and do not meet the normal purchases and normal sales exception. As a result, in Fiscal Year 2010
Bonneville recognized a loss of $16.4 million, which is primarily composed of the net derivative balance for
commodity contracts at the beginning of the year. This unrealized loss was offset against a $31.2 million
unrealized gain on the termination of two interest rate swaps to yield the net $14.8 million unrealized gain
recorded in the Statement of Revenues and Expenses for Fiscal Year 2010. Bonneville does not apply hedge
accounting.

Bonneville operations and maintenance expenses include the costs of the Federal Transmission System, operation
and maintenance program, energy resources, power marketing, and fish and wildlife programs.

Corps, Reclamation, and Fish & Wildlife operations and maintenance expenses include the costs of the Corps and
Reclamation generating projects and expenses of the Fish and Wildlife Service, in connection with the Federal
System.

The Non-Federal entities O&M — net billed expense includes the operation and maintenance costs for generating
facilities, the generating capability or output of which Bonneville has agreed to purchase under net billing
agreements, which are capitalized contracts that cover the costs of Energy Northwest’s Project 1, Project 3, and
Columbia Generating Station, and Eugene Water and Electric Board’s (“EWEB”) 30 percent ownership share of
the Trojan Nuclear Project.

The Non-Federal entities O&M — non-net billed expense includes the operation and maintenance costs for
generating facilities, and the generating capability or output of which Bonneville has agreed to purchase under
certain capitalized contracts, the costs of which are not net billed.

Non-Federal Projects Debt Service includes payments by Bonneville for all or a part of the generating capability
of, and the related debt service, including interest, for four nuclear power generating projects (three of which have
been terminated). They are Energy Northwest’s Project 1, Project 3, and the Columbia Generating Station, and
EWEB’s ownership share of the Trojan Nuclear Project. The remaining principal amount of Bonneville-backed
bonds issued by EWEB for the Trojan Nuclear Project was paid in full at maturity on September 1, 2008.
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(D See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services” and “—
Residential Exchange Program” and see “BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Management
Discussion of Operating Results.” Bonneville’s payments to Regional IOUs with respect to the Residential
Exchange Program for the period July 1, 2001, through September 30, 2011, were originally established under
Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements, as thereafter amended and supplemented. Bonneville
suspended scheduled payments under the settlement agreements when they were invalidated by the Ninth Circuit
Court in May 2007. In Fiscal Year 2008, Bonneville filed the 2009 Supplemental Power Rate Proposal with FERC
to address the ruling. Under and in connection with that filing, Bonneville proposed to recover from Regional
IOUs the overpayments Bonneville made to them under the invalidated Residential Exchange Program Settlement
Agreements. Bonneville also proposed to transfer these “Lookback Amounts” to Preference Customers. Such
Lookback Amounts are being collected from identified Regional IOUs through credits to Residential Exchange
Program benefits otherwise payable by Bonneville to the Regional IOUs and are being returned to the Preference
Customers over time. For each succeeding power rate proposal and under certain accompanying documentation,
Bonneville will designate the amount to be recovered from the Regional IOUs and returned to each qualifying
Preference Customer. The transferred amounts to Preference Customers do not reduce power rates for Preference
Customers, but are reflected as credits to amounts that qualifying Preference Customers would otherwise pay to
Bonneville for electric power and related services. (In some instances the transfers to Preference Customers will
be affected by cash payments). Bonneville recognizes a refund and reduces expense in each year Lookback
Amounts are recovered and transferred and will do so until all overpayments are recovered. These transactions
with respect to the Lookback Amounts are net operating revenue neutral as the same amount reduces both revenue
and expense. The Lookback Amount applied in Fiscal Year 2010 was $82.1 million. See “POWER SERVICES—
Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.” In
Fiscal Year 2008, the amounts for prior years were adjusted through a rate case process and the accumulated
effects of those adjustments and the current year expense are shown as the $1.2 million credit. See
“BONNEVILLE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Management Discussion of Operating Results—Fiscal Year
2008.”

The capitalization adjustment represents the annual recognition of the reduction in principal realized from
refinancing Federal appropriations under legislation enacted in 1996.

(12)

(3 This table does not present Bonneville’s modified net revenues. For a definition of modified net revenues, see

“CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Fiscal Year 2010 Financial Results,” and “—
Management Discussion of Operating Results.”

Y prior to Fiscal Year 2008, amounts reported as “Total Sales (unaudited) — average megawatts” included Canadian

Entitlement Return (CER). The CER involves obligations to return power to Canada but does not result in any
revenues to Bonneville. Since this table addresses revenues and expenses related to sales of electric power, the
CER amounts have been removed.

Management Discussion of Operating Results
Fiscal Year 2010

For Fiscal Year 2010, Power Services and Transmission Services consolidated gross sales increased $192 million, or
seven percent, from the prior year. Power Services gross sales increased $143 million, or seven percent. The change
was primarily due to several key factors. Regional requirements sales (to Preference Customers, DSIs, and Regional
federal agencies) increased $164 million in Fiscal Year 2010 compared to Fiscal Year 2009, due to higher power rates
taking effect during Fiscal Year 2010. Secondary sales decreased $22 million in Fiscal Year 2010 compared to Fiscal
Year 2009, due to lower than average streamflows and hydro-generation. A key metric that Bonneville uses to measure
year-to-year changes in river runoff is the amount of water (as measured in million acre feet, or “MAF”) flowing
through The Dalles Dam, which is the second dam upriver from the mouth of the Columbia River. In Operating Year
2010 (which roughly coincides with Bonneville’s Fiscal Year 2010), this amount was 110 MAF. By contrast in
Operating Year 2009 the amount was 117 MAF. The historical average is 131 MAF. In addition, the downturn in
overall economic conditions resulted in lower demand and prices for seasonal surplus (secondary) energy and lower
demand for firm power for Regional loads.

Transmission Services sales increased $49 million, or seven percent, based on increased transmission usage.

The change in the unrealized mark-to-market amount of Bonneville's derivative instruments to an unrealized gain of
$15 million in Fiscal Year 2010 from an unrealized loss $35 million in Fiscal Year 2009 was primarily due to the
termination of two floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps during the quarter ended March 31, 2010. This resulted in the
realization of a $29 million loss, which is included in nonfederal projects expenses, and the corresponding removal of
this position from this balance. Additionally, Bonneville’s application of regulatory operations accounting treatment to



its commodity contract derivative instruments in Fiscal Year 2010 resulted in a slight decrease in the unrealized losses
recorded in the Statement of Revenues and Expenses.

Operating expense increased $186 million, or seven percent, from Fiscal Year 2009. Operations and maintenance
increased $11 million from the prior fiscal year, due in part to a $24 million increase in Fish and Wildlife program
expenses primarily driven by mitigation measures undertaken pursuant to the Columbia Basin Fish Accords. Other
operating key expense changes from the prior fiscal year were an increase of $18 million for federal hydroelectric
projects system maintenance directly funded by Bonneville (meaning funded by Bonneville without appropriation to
the Corps or Reclamation), a $6 million increase in Bonneville’s Energy Efficiency Program, and a $5 million increase
in Transmission Operations Program. These increases were partially offset by decreased expenses of $31 million for
Columbia Generating Station associated with scheduled refueling and maintenance and a decrease in Residential
Exchange Program payments of $25 million primarily due to a settlement in Fiscal Year 2009 with Avista (a Regional
I0U). Gross purchased power expense increased $104 million, or 37 percent, for Fiscal Year 2010 when compared to
Fiscal Year 2009. This increase was mainly due to purchasing power in the market to fulfill load obligations as a result
of below normal basin-wide precipitation and stream flows, offset in part by a $40 million expense reduction due to the
discontinuation of the monetization of DSI power sales. Operations to allow for fish mitigation measures also
contributed to the need to purchase additional power. Nonfederal projects debt service increased $99 million, or 20
percent, primarily caused by an increase in scheduled debt repayments of $96 million for Energy Northwest’s Project 1
and Columbia Generating Station. For two decades Energy Northwest’s debt service was periodically restructured to
achieve overall federal and nonfederal debt service objectives. These restructurings reduced nonfederal projects
expense. These debt management actions have created uneven Energy Northwest debt service such that there can be
significant variances from year-to-year.

Net interest expense for Fiscal Year 2010 increased $25 million, or 11 percent, compared to Fiscal Year 2009 primarily
due to a $22 million decrease in interest income as a result of lower cash balances and interest rates. Furthermore, in
October 2009, $100 million was transferred from the Bonneville Fund to purchase United States Treasury securities as
investments, which earned lower yields than was previously the case under prior practice. See “—Banking Relationship
between the United States Treasury and Bonneville.”

Net revenues were negative $128 million in Fiscal Year 2010, a change of $27 million from negative net revenues of
$101 million in Fiscal Year 2009, primarily as a result of the factors discussed above. With respect to “Modified net
revenues” (i.e., net revenues after adjusting for the effects of the unrealized fair value of derivative instruments and
nonfederal debt management actions that differ from rate case assumptions), modified net revenues were negative $164
million in Fiscal Year 2010 compared to $187 million modified negative net revenues in Fiscal Year 2009, representing
an improvement of $23 million. Bonneville believes that modified net revenues are a better reflection of Bonneville’s
financial results than standard accounting determinations of net revenues.

Fiscal Year 2009

For Fiscal Year 2009, Power Services and Transmission Services consolidated gross sales decreased $228 million, or
eight percent, from the prior year. Power Services gross sales decreased $233 million, or 10 percent. The change was
primarily due to several key factors. Revenues were down $490 million from Fiscal Year 2008 due to lower Federal
System hydro-generation caused by less river runoff and reduced Columbia Generating Station output due to planned
and unplanned outages. River runoff measured at The Dalles Dam was 117 MAF in Operating Year 2009 and 126
MATF in Operating Year 2008, compared to the historical average of 133 MAF. In addition, the downturn in the
economy resulted in lower demand and prices for seasonal surplus (secondary) energy and lower demand for firm
power for Regional loads.

To address the Ninth Circuit Court’s ruling that set aside the Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements
between Bonneville and each of the Regional IOUs, Bonneville supplemented its then-extant power rate proposal to
begin correcting for the overpayments of Residential Exchange benefits and for the corresponding recovery of such
costs in power rates charged to Preference Customers. Under this supplemental power rate proceeding and proposal,
Bonneville’s power rate levels for Fiscal Year 2009 were changed during the 2007-2009 Power Rate Period, resulting
in PF Rates other than for Slice Customers being about one percent lower than for the same service in Fiscal Year
2008. The decrease in revenue from lower non-Slice PF Rates was offset, however, by the effects of the Residential
Exchange Program refunds by which Bonneville began recovering the past overpayments of Residential Exchange
benefits to Regional IOUs. Refunds under this recovery program are obtained by Bonneville through payment offsets to
Residential Exchange benefits paid to the Regional IOUs. These refunds were approximately $83 million and $341
million in Fiscal Years 2009 and 2008, respectively. The large amount in Fiscal Year 2008 arose because Bonneville
had temporarily withheld all payments with respect to the Residential Exchange pending the development of its
proposal to address the court ruling and correct for the past overpayments of Residential Exchange benefits. In view of
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this suspension Bonneville accrued related cash balances in the Bonneville Fund. As and after Bonneville developed a
proposal for correcting the overpayments, Bonneville made lump sum payments to both the Preference Customers and
the Regional IOUs. See “—Fiscal Year 2008.”

Transmission Services sales increased $5 million, or one percent, based on increased transmission usage.

The increase in the unrealized loss of Bonneville’s derivative instruments of $4 million, or 13 percent, was due
primarily to the following key factors: decrease in the 10 and 15 year forward Libor swap curves and decrease in the
forward power price curve and its effect on Bonneville’s commodity derivative instruments.

Operating expense increased $209 million, or eight percent, from Fiscal Year 2008. Operations and maintenance
increased $322 million, or 26 percent, from the prior fiscal year, due primarily to: $206 million associated with
correcting past overpayments of Residential Exchange Program benefits; $51 million increase in scheduled
maintenance and biennial refueling; and $29 million increase in fish and wildlife expense. Gross purchased power
expense decreased $172 million, or 38 percent, due to lower market prices and volume of purchases. The decrease was
partially offset by a $40 million increase due to payments in lieu of power deliveries to the DSIs and an increase in
purchased power due to the unplanned outage at Columbia Generating Station. Nonfederal projects debt service
increased $22 million, or five percent, due to increased Libor interest expense and repayment of Columbia Generating
Station debt, partially offset by lower repayment of Energy Northwest’s Project 1 and Project 3 debt.

Net interest expense decreased $10 million, or four percent, compared to Fiscal Year 2008. The primary reason for the
decreased interest expense was a reduction of the weighted-average interest rates on outstanding appropriations owed
and bonds issued to the United States Treasury.

Net revenues were negative $101 million in Fiscal Year 2009, a decrease of $366 million from positive net revenues of
$265 million in Fiscal Year 2008, primarily as a result of the factors discussed above. With respect to “Modified net
revenues” (i.e., net revenues after adjusting for the effects of the unrealized fair value of derivative instruments and
nonfederal debt management actions that differ from rate case assumptions), modified net revenues were negative $187
million compared to $157 million in positive modified net revenues in Fiscal Year 2008, representing a decline of $344
million. Bonneville believes that modified net revenues are a better reflection of Bonneville’s financial results than
standard accounting determinations of net revenues.

Fiscal Year 2008

For Fiscal Year 2008, Power Services and Transmission Services consolidated gross sales decreased $224 million, or
seven percent, from the comparable period a year earlier. Power Services gross sales decreased $256 million or ten
percent. The change was primarily due to the following key factors: In Fiscal Year 2008 there was a downward
adjustment of $341 million due to the impacts of the rate proceeding on the Residential Exchange Program; there was a
slight increase in long-term contractual obligations and sales under existing contracts resulting in a $24 million increase
in revenues from firm power sales; due to a below-average water year and a delayed but rapid runoff, Bonneville
purchased power in the spring to meet projected river operation needs and once these needs were met, remaining power
was sold at a slightly higher price, resulting in a $61 million increase in surplus sales.

The $341 million downward adjustment in revenues reflects a $257 million refund of amounts to be returned to
Preference Customers for over-collections from them by Bonneville in Fiscal Years 2007 and 2008 with respect to the
Residential Exchange, plus the effects of the $67 million downward adjustment in revenues from Preference Customers
as a result of the recoupment from Regional IOUs of a portion of overpayments made by Bonneville under the
Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements in the fiscal years prior to Fiscal Year 2007 (Lookback
Amounts), and a downward adjustment in revenues from Preference Customers flowing from $17 million collected in
rates in Fiscal Year 2003 for certain deferred Residential Exchange-related benefits to Regional IOUs.

Transmission Services sales increased $32 million, or five percent. The change was primarily due to the following key
factors: network and intertie transmission sales and their associated ancillary services increased. Significant reasons for
the increased revenues were the result of increased Point-to-Point and Intertie long-term and Point-to-Point short-term
sales. There was also a slight increase in Point-to-Point and Intertie long-term rates from last fiscal year. The increase
in revenues was offset by ancillary services primarily by elimination of revenues from customers using the ancillary
service product “Reactive Supply and Voltage from Generation.” This was a result of an agreement by Bonneville
during the Transmission Services rate proceeding for rates and ancillary services for the two fiscal years beginning
October 1, 2008.



The change in the unrealized fair value of Bonneville’s derivative portfolio of $24 million was due to fluctuations in
the forward price curves, physical delivery, and a change in the overall portfolio mix. The change is primarily the result
of a $17 million decrease in the value of swap agreements due to a decrease in the LIBOR index rate. Credits under
Northwest Power Act section 4(h)(10)(C) increased $34 million, or 52 percent, in Fiscal Year 2008 when compared to
the prior fiscal year as stream flows declined and market prices for purchased power increased. For a description
of section 4(h)(10)(C) and related credits, see “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting
Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and Wildlife—Federal Repayment Offsets for Certain Fish and Wildlife Costs
Borne by Bonneville.”

In total operating expenses decreased $31 million, or one percent, from Fiscal Year 2007. The decline was the result of
several factors. Residential Exchange expense decreased $341 million (arising from Bonneville’s proposed downward
re-determination of such benefit levels) as previously discussed above with respect to the decrease in Preference
Customer revenues. To a large extent the decrease was offset by increases for purchased power and nonfederal projects
debt service expense. Purchased power increased $140 million, or 45 percent, due to a combination of higher prices and
increased purchases as a consequence of delayed runoff and the associated reduction in Federal System hydroelectric
generation. Nonfederal projects debt service increased $136 million, or 40 percent, due to scheduled amortization of
Energy Northwest bonds. The lower amortization for the prior period was the result of extension of nonfederal debt and
early repayment of federal debt within Bonneville’s total debt portfolio under the Debt Optimization Program. The
overall objective of these debt management actions has been to achieve an optimal total debt portfolio. The portfolio
includes federal appropriations, United States Treasury borrowings and nonfederal projects debt.

Net interest expense declined $9 million, or four percent. The primary reason for the decreased interest expense
between years was a reduction of outstanding appropriated funds owed the United States Treasury. Interest on bonds
issued to the United States Treasury declined $4 million as interest income increased $6 million due to earnings on
higher cash balances in the Bonneville Fund.

Net revenues were $265 million in Fiscal Year 2008, a decrease of $192 million, or 42 percent, from Fiscal Year 2007
as a result of the factors discussed above. However, modified net revenues (i.e., net revenues after adjusting for the
effects of the unrealized fair value of derivative instruments and nonfederal debt management actions that differ from
rate case assumptions) were $157 million compared to $217 million in Fiscal Year 2007, representing a 28 percent
decline. Bonneville believes that modified net revenues are a better reflection of Bonneville’s financial results than
standard accounting determinations of net revenues.

Statement of Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage

The “Statement of Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage and United States Treasury Payments” below uses the
“Federal System Statement of Revenue and Expenses (unaudited)” to develop a non-Federal project debt service
coverage ratio (“Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage Ratio”), which demonstrates how many times total
non-Federal project debt service is covered by net funds available for non-Federal project debt service. Net funds
available for non-Federal project debt service are defined as total operating revenues less operating expenses. Net funds
available for non-Federal project debt service less total non-Federal project debt service yields the amount available for
payment to the United States Treasury. This Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage Ratio does not reflect the
actual priority of payments or distinctions between cash payments and credits under Bonneville’s net billing
obligations. For a discussion of certain direct payments by Bonneville for Federal System operations and maintenance,
which payments reduce the amount of deferrable appropriations obligations Bonneville would otherwise be responsible
to repay, see “—Direct Funding of Federal System Operations and Maintenance Expense.”



Statement of Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage and United States Treasury Payments
(unaudited)
(Actual Dollars in Thousands)

Fiscal Years ending September 30, 2010 2009 2008
Total Operating Revenues $3,055,131 $2,870,284 $3,036,618
Less: Operating Expense“) 1,707,561 _ 1,640,904 _1.463.174

Net Funds Available for Non-Federal Project
Debt Service 1,347,570 1,229,380 1,573,444

Less:

Non-Federal Project Debt Service® 600,360 501,367 479,493

Lease Financing Programm 20.718 17.369 11.063

Revenue Available for Treasury 726,492 710,644 1,082,888

Amount Allocated for Payment to
Treasury(g):

Corps and Reclamation O&M™ 271,502 255,059 243,073
Net Interest Expense® 243,342 218,429 227,968
Lease Financing Program® (20,718) (17,369) (11,063)
Capitalization Adjustment® 64,905 64,905 64,905
Allowance for Funds Used During
Construction® @ 16,109 12,093 13,596
Amortization of Principal 459.829 432,019 555,269
Total A t Allocated for P tt
reasury® R 1,034,969 965,136 1,093,748

Revenues Available for Other Purposes'” (308,477) (254,492) (10,860)

Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage
Ratio"” 2.2 2.4 3.2

Non-Federal Project Debt Service Plus

Operating Expense Coverage Ratio!'? 1.3 1.3 1.6

(1)  Operating Expenses include the following items from the Federal System Statement of Revenues and
Expenses: Bonneville O & M, Purchased Power, Book-outs, Non-Federal entities O & M-net billed,
Non-Federal entities O & M non-net-billed, and the Residential Exchange Program. Operating Expenses do
not include certain payments to the Corps and Reclamation. Treatment of the Corps, Reclamation, and Fish
and Wildlife Service operating expense is described in “—Direct Funding of Federal System Operations and
Maintenance Expense.”

(2)  Includes debt service for generating resources acquired by Bonneville under net billing agreements or other
capitalized contracts. Non-net billed debt service amounted to $21.6 million, $39.5 million, and $53.4 million
for Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010 respectively.

(3)  Debt service payments, including interest, by Bonneville with respect to certain transmission facilities owned
by NIFC, NIFC II, NIFC III, and NIFC IV, leased to Bonneville on a capitalized basis. To reconcile Net
Interest Expense as reported in the audited financial statements of the Federal System (included as Appendix
B-1 to the Official Statement) the Lease Financing Program as shown here is a reduction of Revenue
Available for United States Treasury.

(4)  Amounts shown are calculated on an accrual basis and include direct operations and maintenance payments
to the Corps, Reclamation, and Fish & Wildlife for Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010. See “—Direct
Funding of Federal System Operations and Maintenance Expense.”

(5) Beginning with Fiscal Year 2008, Lease Financing Program is included in Net Interest Expense as reported in
the audited financial statements of the Federal System. Amounts shown are calculated on an accrual basis.

(6)  The capitalization adjustment is included in net interest expense but is not part of Bonneville’s payment to
the United States Treasury.

(7)  The Allowance for Funds Used During Construction is Bonneville’s portion of the interest component on the

Federal investment during the construction period.



(8) In contrast to the Amount Allocated for Payment to United States Treasury, Bonneville’s payments to the
United States Treasury in Fiscal Years 2008, 2009, and 2010 were $963 million, $845 million, and $864
million respectively, and include the amounts for each such year for direct funding for the Corps,
Reclamation, and Fish & Wildlife as portrayed under “Corps and Reclamation O&M.” See “—Direct
Funding of Federal System Operations and Maintenance Expense.”

(9) Revenues Available for Other Purposes approximates the change in reserves from year to year. Fiscal year
end reserves have been as low as $188 million at the end of Fiscal Year 2002 (not depicted).

(10) The “Non-Federal Project Debt Service Coverage Ratio” is defined as follows:
Total Operating Revenues-Operating Expense (Footnote 1)
Non-Federal Project Debt Service + Lease Financing Program
(11) The “Non-Federal Project Debt Service plus Operating Expense Coverage Ratio” is defined as follows:

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expense (Footnote 1) + Non-Federal Project Debt Service + Lease Financing Program

BONNEVILLE LITIGATION
ESA Litigation
Columbia River

In a lawsuit filed May 4, 2001, in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon (“District Court”), the
National Wildlife Federation and other plaintiffs asked the court: (1) to declare that the 2000 Federal Columbia River
Power System (“FCRPS”) Biological Opinion and incidental take statement were arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of
discretion, and otherwise not in accordance with law, and (2) to order NOAA Fisheries to reinitiate consultation with
the action agencies responsible for operation of the Federal System hydroelectric projects—the Corps, Reclamation,
and Bonneville (collectively, the “Action Agencies”)—and to prepare a new biological opinion.

In early May 2003, the District Court ruled that the 2000 Biological Opinion was inadequate because it relied on offsite
mitigation measures that were “not reasonably certain to occur” and because the biological opinion used an “action
area” (the geographically delineated area comprising where the dam’s operation directly or indirectly affect ESA listed
species) that was too small. In June 2003, the court remanded the 2000 Biological Opinion back to NOAA Fisheries to
correct the deficiencies identified by the court.

On November 30, 2004, NOAA Fisheries finalized a subsequent biological opinion (the “2004 Biological Opinion™) to
replace the 2000 Biological Opinion and address the deficiencies identified by the District Court. See “POWER
SERVICES—<Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and Wildlife—
Columbia River System Biological Opinions.” Plaintiffs filed a complaint against NOAA Fisheries and subsequently
filed another complaint against the Corps and Reclamation with the District Court alleging that the 2004 Biological
Opinion and the Corps’ and Reclamation’s decisions to operate consistent with the Biological Opinion violated certain
provisions of the ESA and Administrative Procedures Act. On May 26, 2005, the court issued an opinion identifying
several deficiencies in the 2004 Biological Opinion. The court issued an order remanding the matter to the Federal
agencies to correct identified deficiencies. Additionally, in the court’s remand order, the Federal agencies were ordered
to undertake collaboration with the sovereign parties to the litigation (states and tribes) to address key issues in a new
biological opinion. The Federal Government and the State of Idaho appealed the order to the Ninth Circuit Court,
which ultimately denied the appeals and upheld the order.

NOAA Fisheries issued the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion on May 5, 2008. Bonneville issued its
record of decision adopting the actions in the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion on August 12, 2008. A
number of parties filed litigation in the District Court in connection with the 2008 Columbia River System Biological
Opinion naming NOAA Fisheries, the Corps and Reclamation as defendants and alleging violations of the ESA as well
as the Clean Water Act. In addition, some interests filed litigation in the Ninth Circuit Court against Bonneville
regarding the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. The Ninth Circuit Court has exclusive direct review
jurisdiction review over most of Bonneville’s administrative actions.

On April 2, 2009, an in-chambers meeting was convened by the presiding District Court judge with all parties to the
litigation. At the suggestion of the court, the administration of President Barack Obama performed a review of the 2008
Columbia River System Biological Opinion. On May 18, 2009, the court issued a letter to the Federal agencies posing
questions and issues it suggested be addressed in the administration’s review of the 2008 Columbia River System



Biological Opinion. On September 15, 2009, the Federal agencies filed a Management Plan with the court. In the
Management Plan, the Federal agencies outlined and the administration approved a more detailed and aggressive plan
for implementing the adaptive management provisions of the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion. The
administration’s position, as expressed in the court filing, is that the 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion
as implemented through the Management Plan, is biologically and legally sound and based on the best available
scientific information. On February 19, 2010, the District Court judge entered a voluntary remand order that gave the
Federal agencies three months to consider, among other things, integrating the Management Plan into the
administrative record so that it may be taken into account in the court’s evaluation of the 2008 Columbia River System
Biological Opinion.

On May 20, 2010, NOAA Fisheries notified the court that it finalized the 2010 Supplemental Columbia River System
Biological Opinion to supplement the existing 2008 Columbia River System Biological Opinion and incorporate the
Management Plan. On June 11, 2010, the Federal agencies issued records of decision adopting the actions in the 2010
Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion. The plaintiffs filed amended complaints and the Federal
agencies filed their supplemental answers at the end of August 2010. Briefing (limited to issues raised by the 2010
Supplemental Columbia River System Biological Opinion) began in October 2010. Plaintiffs filed briefs on October
29, 2010 and the Federal agencies will file briefs by December 23, 2010. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes
and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Fish and Wildlife—The Endangered Species Act” and “—
Columbia River System Biological Opinions.”

There has also been related litigation in which plaintiffs have sought injunctive relief on certain Federal System dam
operations that were included in the original 2004 Biological Opinion. The District Court ordered additional spill to that
provided in the 2004 Biological Opinion which was requested by plaintiffs and intended to aid downstream migration
of juvenile salmon and steelhead species in the summer of 2005. When water is spilled, it is diverted through dam
spillways and does not run through hydroelectric turbines, thereby reducing power generation. Bonneville estimated
that the court-ordered spill resulted in about $75 million in foregone power revenues in Fiscal Year 2005 when
compared to the revenues that would have accrued had summer spill occurred as required under the 2004 Biological
Opinion.

For 2006 river operations, the Federal Government proposed (and the court approved) a spill program that was similar
although not identical to the spill program the court had ordered in the summer of 2005. Bonneville estimates that the
2006 spill order, which included spring as well as summer spill, resulted in somewhat greater hydroelectric generation
than would have occurred under the 2005 summer spill program. For 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 hydro-operations, the
Federal agencies proposed a spill program similar to the 2006 spill program and obtained court approvals. Hydro-
operations have not been resolved for spring and summer of 2011.

DSI Service ROD Litigation

On June 30, 2005, Bonneville issued a record of decision entitled “Bonneville Power Administration’s Service to the
Direct Service Industrial Customers for Fiscal Years 2007-2011” (“DSI ROD”). The DSI ROD established a policy that
defined the service benefits that Bonneville would provide to the DSIs during Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011, among
other things. The DSI ROD included the possibility that Bonneville would provide DSIs with service benefits in the
form of either electric power at rates favorable to DSIs or monetized power benefits.

In September, 2005, Alcoa, an aluminum industry DSI, and the Pacific Northwest Generating Cooperative (“PNGC”), a
consortium of Bonneville Preference Customers, filed separate petitions for review in the Ninth Circuit Court
challenging the DSI ROD. Alcoa asserted that Bonneville has a perpetual statutory obligation to serve DSIs with actual,
physical power at Bonneville’s lowest cost-based rates. Conversely, PNGC contended that Bonneville lacked statutory
authority to provide any service benefits to DSIs.

In May 2006, Bonneville issued a Supplement to the DSI ROD that further defined the character of service that
Bonneville would provide to DSIs in Fiscal Years 2007-2011 and in June 2006 Bonneville executed contracts (the
“Original 2006 DSI Contracts”) with Alcoa and Columbia Falls Aluminum Company (“CFAC”), the two then-existing
aluminum industry DSIs. (CFAC has since suspended operations.) In August 2006, Alcoa and PNGC filed additional
petitions each of which challenged the Supplement to the DSI ROD and the Original 2006 DSI Contracts. As allowed
under these contracts Bonneville elected to monetize the power it was obligated to sell and did so under the Firm Power
Products and Services (FPS) rate schedule. (The FPS Rate Schedule provides Bonneville with substantial flexibility in
pricing certain sales of power. Bonneville sells much of its seasonal surplus (secondary) energy at market prices under
the FPS rate schedule, but sales under the FPS schedule are not limited to market price sales.) In October, 2006, Alcoa
filed a petition challenging Bonneville’s execution of a power sales contract to serve Port Townsend, a small non-



aluminum industry DSI. Finally, in November 2006, the Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities (“ICNU”) filed a
petition that likewise challenged the Port Townsend power sales contract.

In December 2008, the Ninth Circuit Court announced a decision (referred to as “PNGC I”) affirming that Bonneville
has the statutory authority, but not the obligation, to sell power to the DSIs after Fiscal Year 2001. However, the court
determined that if Bonneville elects to sell firm power to DSIs, Bonneville must first offer such power at the IP Rate.
Only after the DSIs have refused to purchase power at the IP Rate may Bonneville offer them power under
Bonneville’s FPS rate schedule. The court also agreed with Bonneville that it has the authority to monetize its DSI
contracts in some circumstances, so long as doing so is otherwise consistent with Bonneville's statutory obligations.

The Ninth Circuit Court also held that Bonneville impermissibly agreed in the Original 2006 DSI Contracts to forgo
revenue by monetizing the difference between a rate for DSIs which was lower than the rate authorized by statute (the
IP Rate) and prices available on the open market. The foregone revenue resulted in higher rates for all other customers,
making the contracts inconsistent with “sound business principles.” The court remanded the case back to Bonneville to
determine the applicability, in light of the court’s holdings, of certain severability and damage waiver provisions in the
contracts.

Thereafter, Bonneville and Alcoa agreed to contract amendments (the “Alcoa 2009 Amendment”) to conform the Alcoa
agreement to the PNGC I ruling. Bonneville believed that under the amendment, which was applicable to the last nine
months of Fiscal Year 2009, the monetized power benefits it provided Alcoa in such period were likely be the same as
expected under the original agreement. The amendment assured that in no event would the monetized power benefit be
greater than expected under the original agreements. Bonneville and CFAC negotiated a substantially identical
amendment (the “CFAC 2009 Amendment”) for the last six months of Fiscal Year 2009, although the CFAC
amendment also recalculated the amount of Bonneville’s monetized benefits payments for two additional specified
months.

In January 2009, PNGC and the Public Power Council (“PPC”), another coalition of Preference Customers, filed
petitions (“PNGC II”) in the Ninth Circuit Court challenging Bonneville’s entry into the Alcoa 2009 Amendment. In
August 2009, the court ruled that the Alcoa 2009 Amendment also was inconsistent with sound business principles.
Alcoa and Bonneville filed petitions for rehearing, which were denied. The court reiterated its remand to Bonneville to
determine the applicability, in light of the court’s holdings, of certain severability and damage waiver provisions in the
contracts. To determine the applicability of the severability and damage waiver provisions, Bonneville issued a draft
record of decision in August 2010 that contained analysis and conclusions with respect to its ability and likelihood of
successfully recovering monies from the DSI customers. Bonneville invited public review and comment. At present,
Bonneville is nearing the completion of its final record of decision, which reviews the comments and evaluates the
issues raised in the comments.

In November 2009, Bonneville entered into a 14-month power sales contract with Port Townsend through December
31, 2010. In December 2009, the parties agreed to extend the term of this contract by an additional five months,
through May 2011.

In December 2009, Bonneville entered into a long-term power sales contract with Alcoa. (the “2009-2011 Alcoa
Contract”). Under the contract, Bonneville may sell up to 320 average megawatts of firm power each hour for a period
of up to approximately seven years, at the IP Rate. The term of the contract is divided into two main periods, the Initial
Period and the Second Period, with the Initial Period (including a one-year extension) encompassing the approximately
29-month period from December 22, 2009 through May 26, 2012, and the Second Period encompassing a five-year
period which may commence up to one year following expiration of the Initial Period.

In both new DSI contracts, Bonneville has included terms that address the court’s concerns as stated in PNGC II. See
“CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Current Regional Power Sales and —Regional
Power Sales in the Period after Fiscal Year 201 1—Power Sales to DSIs.”

On January 22, 2010, Alcoa filed a petition for review in the Ninth Circuit Court challenging the 2009-2011 Alcoa
Contract and Bonneville’s related record of decision, including Bonneville’s associated interpretation of the PNGC I
ruling. Three Regional IOUs, the Oregon Public Utilities Commission, PNGC, and PPC have intervened to challenge
the Alcoa contract. Briefing is not entirely complete, but PNGC and PPC are also challenging Bonneville’s
interpretation of the PNGC I and PNGC II opinions.

On February 11, 2010, ICNU filed a petition for review in the Ninth Circuit Court challenging Bonneville’s 14-month
contract with Port Townsend, the one-year extension thereof, and the related Bonneville records of decision. ICNU has
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filed its brief in support of its challenge to Bonneville’s interpretation and implementation of the opinions in PNGC I
and PNGC 11, as reflected in the Port Townsend agreements. Bonneville has filed its responsive brief.

Long-Term Regional Dialogue Contracts, Policies and Records of Decision

On October 16, 2007, Alcoa and PPC each filed a petition for review under the Northwest Power Act
challenging Bonneville's Long-Term Regional Dialogue Final Policy, and Bonneville's Long-Term Regional Dialogue
Record of Decision ("July 2007-ROD"), both of which were issued on July 19, 2007. The Long-Term Regional
Dialogue Final Policy addresses Bonneville's role in power marketing for the period after Fiscal Year 2011, and lays
the foundation for Bonneville to move forward to develop power sales contracts, products, services and rates that will
be established for the period of time covered by the policy. Bonneville's July 2007-ROD explains Bonneville's rationale
for its determinations in the Regional Dialogue Policy. On February 18, 2009, the parties filed a joint motion to vacate
the briefing schedule and stay proceedings. The parties advised the court that they will file an additional motion to
consolidate these cases with a series of new petitions for review that have been filed, described immediately below.
See “CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE— Regional Power Sales in the Period after
Fiscal Year 2011.”

On January 27, 2009, Avista, a Regional IOU, filed a petition for review in the Ninth Circuit Court challenging
Bonneville’s Long-Term Regional Dialogue Contract Record of Decision dated October 31, 2008 (“October 2008-
ROD”). Numerous other petitions for review were filed shortly thereafter challenging the October 2008-ROD and/or
certain Regional Dialogue power sale contracts that were executed on or around December 1, 2008. On February 27,
2009, Bonneville filed a motion to consolidate these cases as well as a motion to vacate the briefing schedules that were
automatically established upon the filing of the petitions for review. The cases were consolidated and briefing is in
progress. Opening briefs were filed by Grays Harbor Public Utility District (“Grays Harbor”) and by the Pacific
Northwest Investor Owned Utilities (“IOUs”).

In its opening brief, Grays Harbor argued that it was forced to sign its Regional Dialogue contract and that it did not
agree with certain provisions in the contract concerning billing credits and residential exchange benefits. The IOUs, in
their joint opening brief, argued that, as PF Exchange Rate customers of Bonneville, they were entitled to an equitable
share of the value of Environmental Attributes that were conveyed to preference customers under their Regional
Dialogue contracts. Bonneville fully responded to the arguments of Grays Harbor and the IOUs in Bonneville’s
Answering Brief and explained why the petitions should be denied. Respondent-intervenor briefs in support of
Bonneville were filed by various Bonneville preference customers. The Petitioners’ reply briefs were filed on January
15, 2010. The court denied Grays Harbor’s petition and dismissed the remaining issues on May 27, 2010.

On January 27, 2009, ICNU filed a petition challenging Bonneville’s Tiered Rates Methodology Record of Decision
(“Tiered Rates ROD”) and Bonneville’s Tiered Rates Methodology, both issued November 10, 2008. Similar petitions
for review were filed on February 5, 2009, by Georgia-Pacific, LLC (“GP”) and Clatskanie People Utility District
(“Clatskanie”) challenging the same Tiered Rates ROD and the Tiered Rates Methodology.

All three petitioners challenge Bonneville’s determination in the Tiered Rates Methodology regarding Bonneville’s
treatment of “contracted for or committed to” loads, a term of art under section 3(13)(A) of the Northwest Power Act.
These parties allege that Bonneville’s decision to serve certain “contracted for or committed to” loads at the Tier 2 PF
Rate rather than at the Tier 1 PF Rate violates provisions of the Northwest Power Act and is arbitrary and capricious
under the Administrative Procedures Act. In addition, petitioner GP alleges that Bonneville’s decision constitutes a
“taking” of its property under the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution for which “just compensation” is due. The
court dismissed the petitions on July 16, 2010.

Clatskanie filed a new petition challenging the Tiered Rates ROD and Tiered Rates Methodology on September 15,
2010. This petition is similar to Clatskanie’s earlier petition. The case has been stayed through December 15, 2010 and
is expected to be stayed another 30 days (through January 14, 2011).

2002 and 2007 Final Power Rates Challenges

On May 3, 2007, the Ninth Circuit Court issued (i) an opinion with respect to petitions for review challenging
Bonneville’s 2000 Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements (“PGE Proceeding”) (discussed in the
immediately following section) and (ii) an opinion with respect to petitions for review challenging certain aspects of
Bonneville’s final power rates for Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006 (Golden Northwest Aluminum, Inc. v. Bonneville)
(the “Golden Northwest Proceeding”). In the Golden Northwest Proceeding, the court upheld Bonneville’s authority to
acquire resources to replace reductions in the capability of Bonneville’s Federal Base System (“FBS”) resources and
the allocation of expanded FBS costs to Preference Customers. The court also held that Bonneville had improperly



allocated costs of Bonneville’s 2000 Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements to Preference Customers.
Finally, the court held that Bonneville should have considered new information when developing its forecast of fish and
wildlife costs to consider whether higher fish and wildlife costs should have been assumed in developing rates. The
court remanded to Bonneville to “set rates in accordance” with its opinion.

Thereafter, Bonneville initiated further administrative proceedings, including the 2009 Supplemental Power Rate
Proposal, to address the courts rulings. Bonneville issued its final record of decision for that proceeding (the “2009
Supplemental Power Rate ROD”) and filed it with FERC in September 2008. A number of parties filed petitions for
review of Bonneville’s decisions in the 2009 Supplemental Power Rate ROD and after FERC approved the 2009
Supplemental Power Rate Proposal, certain of such parties filed petitions challenging the related rates. Both cases have
been stayed. On February 2, 2010 certain Preference Customers filed a motion to sever from the litigation and remand
to Bonneville an alleged ratemaking issue relating to DSI service. These parties seek an order from the court directing
Bonneville to calculate and refund amounts charged by Bonneville in rates paid by certain Preference Customers for
power benefits that Bonneville provided to DSIs. In prior litigation the Ninth Circuit Court found such DSI benefits to
violate ratemaking and related statutory provisions applicable to Bonneville.. See “—DSI Service ROD Litigation.” On
February 16, 2010, Bonneville, Alcoa, and Regional IOUs filed separate responses opposing the motion. The court
denied the motion.

On July 21, 2009, Bonneville issued a record of decision at the conclusion of its 2010 Wholesale Power and
Transmission Rate Case (the “2010 Wholesale Power and Transmission Rates ROD”), which incorporated certain
decisions from Bonneville’s Fiscal Year 2002 and 2009 Supplemental Rate Cases. Certain parties then filed petitions
for review with the Ninth Circuit Court challenging certain decisions in the 2010 Wholesale Power and Transmission
Rates ROD to the extent they involve non-ratemaking issues that might be subject to the court’s jurisdiction prior to
FERC’s final approval of the 2010-2011 Final Rates. This case also has been stayed. The parties are currently engaged
in settlement discussions.

2010 Final Power Rates Challenge

FERC approved the 2010-2011 Final Rates in August 2010. In early November 2010, certain Regional IOUs,
Preference Customers, and a group of industrial customers filed petitions to challenge the 2010-2011 Final Rates. It is
unclear which aspects of the rates and/or ratemaking process are being challenged. The petitions will likely be
consolidated with earlier petitions challenging Bonneville’s Residential Exchange Program benefits included in the
2010-2011 Final Rates and the record of decision therefor. See “—Residential Exchange Program Litigation.”

Residential Exchange Program Litigation

In Fiscal Year 2000, Bonneville prepared certain pro forma Residential Purchase and Sales Agreements (“2000
RPSAs”) and tendered the form of such agreements to the Regional I0Us for their consideration and possible
execution. The pro forma 2000 RPSAs proposed to define Bonneville’s statutory obligations under the Residential
Exchange Program provisions of the Northwest Power Act for the ten-year period beginning October 1, 2001. See
“POWER SERVICES—~Certain Statutes and Other Matters Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential
Exchange Program.” During the same time-frame, Bonneville negotiated the Residential Exchange Program Settlement
Agreements with Regional I0OUs, which agreements were intended to settle Bonneville’s statutory Residential
Exchange Program obligation under such agreements in lieu of the 2000 RPSAs for the five- and/or ten-year period
beginning October 1, 2001. In October 2000, all six Regional IOUs entered into the Residential Exchange Settlement
Agreements in lieu of the 2000 RPSAs.

In June 2004, Bonneville and two Regional IOUs (Puget and PacifiCorp) entered into agreements intended to affect
such Regional IOUs’ Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements. Among other things, these additional agreements
were intended to reduce Bonneville’s obligation to sell power to meet loads of Puget and PacifiCorp and to reduce by
one half certain payments in the aggregate amount of $200 million that Bonneville otherwise then owed to the two
subject Regional IOUs in Fiscal Years 2005 and 2006 under the terms of their Residential Exchange Settlement
Agreements.

Bonneville also entered into agreements with respect to the other four Regional IOUs. Under these agreements,
Bonneville intended to obtain reductions in financial payments to such Regional IOUs of about $3-$4 million in
aggregate, per year.

Beginning in 2004, a number of Bonneville’s customers and customer groups filed petitions with the Ninth Circuit
Court seeking review of the 2000 RPSAs and the Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements and the related records
of decisions prepared by Bonneville. Among those participating in the litigation were a group of DSIs, all six Regional
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IOUs, and a number of Preference Customers and Preference Customer groups. The litigation challenging the
Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements is referred to as the “PGE Proceeding.” See “—2002 and 2007 Final
Power Rates Challenges.” The petitions for review challenging certain aspects of Bonneville’s final power rates for
Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006 are referred to as the “Golden Northwest Proceeding.”

Public Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County, Washington (“Snohomish”), a large Preference Customer, filed an
additional petition for review in the Ninth Circuit Court challenging Bonneville’s record of decision, dated October 21,
2003, wherein Bonneville determined it would offer to settle multiple lawsuits in hopes of reaching a global settlement
of many related lawsuits. The proceeding is referred to herein as the “Snohomish 2 Proceeding.” The settlement offer
was ultimately rejected. On October 11, 2007, the court issued a memorandum opinion dismissing the Snohomish 2
Proceeding for lack of jurisdiction.

On April 27, 2004, Snohomish filed a petition for review in the Ninth Circuit Court (the proceeding is referred to herein
as the “Snohomish 3 Proceeding”) related to the Snohomish 2 Proceeding. In the Snohomish 3 Proceeding, as in the
Snohomish 2 Proceeding, petitioner challenged aspects of Bonneville’s record of decision, dated October 21, 2003,
supporting Bonneville’s litigation settlement proposal, and also challenged related contracts between Bonneville and
certain Regional IOUs. On October 11, 2007, the court dismissed the Snohomish 3 Proceeding for lack of jurisdiction.

Public Utility District No. 1 of Grays Harbor County, Washington, challenged Bonneville’s record of decision on its
“Financial Settlement Agreement And Amendment To Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreement With
PacifiCorp,” and Bonneville’s record of decision for its “Amended Residential Exchange Program Settlement
Agreement With Puget Sound Energy.” On October 11, 2007, the court issued a memorandum opinion dismissing the
case as moot.

On May 3, 2007, the Ninth Circuit Court issued (i) an opinion with respect to the petitions for review in the PGE
Proceeding challenging Bonneville’s decision in 2000 to enter into the Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements in
connection with the Residential Exchange Program, and (ii) an opinion with respect to petitions for review in the
Golden Northwest Proceeding challenging certain aspects of Bonneville’s final power rates for Fiscal Years 2002
through 2006. The court in the PGE Proceeding held that Bonneville failed to properly implement the Residential
Exchange Program provisions of the Northwest Power Act when it entered into the Residential Exchange Settlement
Agreements, and that such agreements are “inconsistent with the Northwest Power Act.” The court in the Golden
Northwest Proceeding held, among other things, that consistent with its holding in the PGE Proceeding, Bonneville
improperly allocated to Preference Customers’ rates, the costs of providing Residential Exchange Program benefits to
the Regional IOUs under the Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements. See “—2002 and 2007 Final
Power Rates Challenges.” The Regional I0Us filed petitions for rehearing of the ruling in the PGE Proceeding. The
motions were denied.

In 2004, three parties, including Snohomish, filed petitions for review in the Ninth Circuit challenging Bonneville’s
record of decision, dated May 25, 2004, entitled “Proposed Contracts or Amendments to Existing Contracts with the
Regional Investor-Owned Utilities Regarding the Payment of Residential and Small-Farm Consumer Benefits under the
Residential Exchange Program Settlement Agreements FY 2007-2011,” (“Exchange Settlement Payment ROD”) and
the related contracts and amendments. On October 11, 2007, the court issued an opinion stating that it could not
determine how Bonneville would treat the 2004 contract amendments in light of the ruling in the PGE Proceeding, and
remanded that determination to Bonneville.

By orders dated October 11, 2007, the court remanded to Bonneville for consideration in light of the PGE Proceeding
and the Golden Northwest Proceeding the 2004 amendatory agreements to the Residential Exchange Program
Settlement Agreements and certain other provisions. Bonneville ceased making payments under the Residential
Exchange Program Settlement Agreements and Bonneville has addressed and is addressing the foregoing court rulings
with regard to the Residential Exchange Program. See “POWER SERVICES—Certain Statutes and Other Matters
Affecting Bonneville’s Power Services—Residential Exchange Program.”

In response to the court’s rulings regarding the Residential Exchange Settlement Agreements and Bonneville’s 2002
Final power rates, Bonneville initiated the 2009 Supplemental Power Rate proceeding in February 2008 and separately
initiated processes to establish new long-term and interim RPSAs and to revise the Average System Cost (ASC)
Methodology that is a key element of the Residential Exchange Program. A record of decision on new RPSAs was
issued September 4, 2008 and new RPSAs were signed in the fall of 2008 with the five regional IOUs that expected to
qualify for Residential Exchange Program benefits in Fiscal Year 2009. The 2009 Supplemental Power Rate Proposal
proceeding concluded with a record of decision dated September 22, 2008. This record of decision addressed the
court’s Residential Exchange Program rulings by determining the amounts overpaid to the IOUs under the Settlement
Agreements (Lookback Amounts) and initiated the return of overpaid amounts to Preference Customers. It also
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established Fiscal Year 2009 power rates and Residential Exchange Program benefits for utilities participating in the
Residential Exchange Program. Bonneville customers and other parties have initiated legal challenges to the Lookback
Amount determinations, power rates, long-term and interim RPSAs and related matters. FERC granted final approval
of Bonneville’s 2009 Supplemental Power rates on July 16, 2009 and granted final approval of the revised ASC
Methodology in September 2009. The litigation over the Residential Exchange Program is continuing in the Ninth
Circuit Court. Ongoing settlement discussions among litigants continue after having reached an agreement in principle
on the value and construct of a resolution of the issues. Bonneville is participating in these settlement negotiations and
currently expects the settlement to be reached by the end of December 2010. If the settlement negotiation is successful,
Bonneville expects to consider the settlement in an administrative process held concurrent with the Fiscal Year 2012-
2013 rate adjustment proceeding during Fiscal Year 2011.

In July 2009, Bonneville concluded the Final 2010 Power and Transmission Rate Proposal. See “CERTAIN
DEVELOPMENTS RELATING TO BONNEVILLE—Power Loads and Related Contracts and Power Rates through
Fiscal Year 2011.” Parties have filed or are expected to file legal challenges to Bonneville’s Residential Exchange
Program benefits included in the 2010-2011 Final Power and Transmission Rate Proposal decision on how to recoup
prior overpayments and PF Rates. Because FERC has approved these rates, Bonneville expects these challenges to be
consolidated with the challenges to the 2009 Supplemental Power Rates.

Southern California Edison v. Bonneville Power Administration

Southern California Edison (“SCE”) filed three separate petitions for review against Bonneville in the Ninth Circuit
Court. The cases all challenge actions taken by Bonneville regarding the implementation of a 1988 power sale contract
(“Sale and Exchange Agreement”) between Bonneville and SCE.

In the first petition for review, SCE challenged Bonneville’s decision to convert the contract from a sale of power to an
exchange of power as provided for under the terms of the contract. In the second petition for review, SCE challenged a
Record of Decision issued by Bonneville in a rate adjustment proceeding. That proceeding (“FPS-96R”) amended
Bonneville’s FPS-96 rate schedule to establish a posted rate for a capacity product SCE may purchase as part of an
option feature of the Sale and Exchange Agreement. SCE alleges that the rate adjustment violates its power sales
contract. In the third petition for review, SCE challenged Bonneville’s letter to SCE terminating service under its power
sales contract due to SCE’s nonperformance. All three petitions for review were dismissed by the Ninth Circuit Court
for lack of jurisdiction and were transferred to the United States Court of Federal Claims. Subsequently, SCE
voluntarily dismissed the claims at the United States Court of Federal Claims and filed administrative claims for relief
with Bonneville. The two following claims have yet to be resolved completely.

Conversion from Sale to Exchange Mode (“Conversion Claim”). SCE filed an action in the Court of
Federal Claims on December 26, 2002, based on its assertion that the claim should be “deemed denied” by
Bonneville. SCE sought damages in the amount of approximately $186,000,000.

Termination for Default (“Termination Claim”). In July 2001, Bonneville terminated the Sale and
Exchange Agreement for default, citing SCE’s failure to make timely energy returns and deliveries while the
contract was in exchange mode. SCE filed a complaint in November 2004 seeking $22,000,000 in
termination for convenience damages.

On June 5, 2006, Bonneville and SCE executed an agreement to settle the Conversion Claim and the Termination
Claim, whereby Bonneville will make a settlement payment of $28.5 million plus interest to SCE in exchange for
SCE’s dismissing the two claims. The settlement agreement identifies two conditions precedent to final resolution: (i)
SCE must obtain approval of the settlement from the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”); and, (ii)
Bonneville must complete a public review and comment process, and subsequently reaffirm the settlement. Payment by
Bonneville is due when it receives a final resolution of its refund liability, if any, in the California refund proceedings.
(The California refund proceedings are described in “POWER SERVICES—Customers and Other Power Contract
Parties of Bonneville’s Power Services—Effect on Bonneville of Developments in California Power Markets in 1999-
2001.”) SCE filed the proposed settlement with the CPUC and it has approved the settlement. Bonneville has
completed its public review process, and reaffirmed the proposed settlement on August 2, 2006. As such, Bonneville
accrued a liability of $28.5 million during Fiscal Year 2006. However, payment has yet to be made pending resolution
of the California refund proceedings and any related litigation. Once final resolution of Bonneville’s refund liability, if
any, has been determined, Bonneville will pay SCE $28.5 million plus interest.
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Rates Litigation

Bonneville’s rates are frequently the subject of litigation. Most of the litigation involves claims that Bonneville’s rates
are inconsistent with statutory directives, are not supported by substantial evidence in the record or are arbitrary and
capricious. See “MATTERS RELATING TO POWER SERVICES AND TRANSMISSION SERVICES—Bonneville
Ratemaking and Rates.”

It is the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel that if any rate were to be rejected, the sole remedy accorded would
be a remand to Bonneville to establish a new rate. Bonneville’s flexibility in establishing rates could be restricted by
the rejection of a Bonneville rate, depending on the grounds for the rejection. Bonneville is unable to predict, however,
what new rate it would establish if a rate were rejected. If Bonneville were to establish a rate that was lower than the
rejected rate, a petitioner may be entitled to a refund in the amount overpaid. However, Bonneville is required by law to
set rates to meet all of its costs. Thus, it is the opinion of Bonneville’s General Counsel that Bonneville may be
required to increase its rates to seek to recover the amount of any such refunds, if needed.

Lease-Purchase Program Property Taxes

On May 6, 2010, the United States of America and Bonneville filed a complaint in District Court challenging the
assessment of real property tax by the Oregon Department of Revenue against transmission assets located in several
Oregon counties and leased by Bonneville under capitalized lease-purchase agreements. Under the related leases,
Bonneville contracted with the respective asset owners to pay the cost of any associated property tax liability. The
Oregon Department of Revenue issued a formal declaratory ruling in January 2010 concluding that such assets are
subject to real property taxation in Oregon. The Oregon Department of Revenue agreed to toll assessment pending final
resolution of this matter. Bonneville estimates that the tax at issue in calendar year 2009 and 2010 is approximately
$938,000. Depending on the outcome of the litigation and related events, Bonneville may have to pay the costs of these
and future potential tax assessments for lease-purchased facilities in Oregon. See “TRANSMISSION
SERVICES—Bonneville’s Federal Transmission System.”

Miscellaneous Litigation

From time to time, Bonneville is involved in numerous other cases and arbitration proceedings, including land,
contract, employment, Federal procurement, and tort claims, some of which could result in money judgments or
increased costs to Bonneville. The combined amount of damages claimed in these unrelated actions is not expected to
exceed $50 million.

A-62



APPENDIX B

PRICEAVATERHOUSE(COPERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1300 S.W. Fifth Ave.

Suite 3100

Portland OR 97201-5687
Telephone (971) 544 4000
Facsimile (971) 544 4100
WwWw.pwe.com

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Administrator of the
Bonneville Power Administration,
United States Department of Energy

In our opinion, the accompanying combined balance sheets and the related combined statements of
revenues and expenses, of changes in capitalization and long-term liabilities and of cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Federal Columbia River Power System
(FCRPS) at September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years ended September 30, 2010, and the changes in its capitalization and long-term
liabilities for each of the two years ended September 30, 2010, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility
of FCRPS' management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

R‘ \ce much\)oub&Cmoe&fL L 'P

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Portland, Oregon
October 28, 2010
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Financial Statements

Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Balance Sheets

As of Septermber 30
2010 2009
Thousands of Dallars

Assets
Utility plant
Completed plant $ 14,362,387 $ 13,883,626
Accumulated depreciation (5,247 ,971) (5,106,384)
9,114,416 8,776,742
Construction work in progress 1,105,165 985 624
MNet utility plant 10,219,581 9,762,366
MNonfederal generation 2,449,865 2,520,245
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,078,671 1,357,019
Short-term investments 65,783 14,554
Accounts receivahle, net of allowance 122,400 112,251
Accrued unhilled revenues 197,603 172,842
Materials and supplies, at average cost 85,797 T7E12
Prepaid expenses 25,832 24 652
Total current assets 1,576,086 1,758,830
Investments and other assets
Fegulatory assets 4,983,142 2,112,346
Investments in LS. Treasury securities 82,328 83,041
Monfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts 188,850 167,232
Deferred charges and ather 169,318 235,119
Total investments and other assets 5,423,638 5,597,738
Total assets $ 19,669,170 $ 15,639,279

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System

Combined Balance Sheets

As of Septermber 30

2010 2009
Thousands of Dallars
Capitalization and Liabilities
Capitalization and long-term liabilities
Accumulated net revenues $ 2,428,691 $ 2,556,272
Federal appropriations 4,238,167 4392 405
Borrowings fraom LS. Treasury 2,188,440 1,765,440
MNonfederal debt 6,015,585 §,244 5954
Total capitalization and long-term lighilities 14,870,883 14,958,071
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Current liabilities
Federal appropriations 21,232 3,784
Borrowings fraom LS. Treasury 325,000 365,000
Nonfederal debt 306,175 319,980
Accounts payable and other 613,052 474 348
Total current liakilities 1,265,459 1,163,113
Other liabilities
Regulatory liahilities 2,494,019 2,867,271
DU exchange henefits 85,017 893,655
Asszet retirement ohligations 170,334 162,943
Deferred credits and other 783,458 703,226
Total other liahilities 3,532,828 3,617,085
Total capitalization and liabilities $ 19,669,170 $ 19,639,279

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Statements of Revenues and Expenses

Far the Years Ended
September 30
2010 2009 2008

Thousands of Dollars
Operating revenues

Sales $ 2,861,097 ¢ 2742770 % 2897 347
Derivative instruments 14,800 (34677 (30,564}
IS, Treasury credits far fish 123,090 95499 100,382
Miscellaneous revenues 66,144 G2 692 G8.443
Total operating revenues 3,055,131 2,870,284 3,036,618
Operating expenses
Ciperations and maintenance 1,589,171 1587341 1,256,213
Purchased power 381,468 317 543 450,035
Monfederal projects 600,360 201 367 473493
Depreciation and amartization 368,371 355574 358,064
Total operating expenses 2,939,370 2752805 2,543,805
Iet operating revenues 115,761 117379 492 813
Interest expense and (income)
Interest expense 331,255 326494 340 658
Allowance for funds used during construction (32,867) (3071 (32,087
Interest income (55,046) (77,359) (80633
INet interest expense 243,342 218428 227 968
Met (expenses) revenues (127,581) (101,050} 264 845
Accumulated net revenues at October 1 2,556,272 2 664 460 2402 565
Irrigation assistance - (7,138) (2,950

Accumulated net revenues at September 30

©r

2,428,691 ¢ 2586272 ¢ 2,664,460

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System

Combined Statements of Changes in Capitalization and Long-Term Liabilities
Including Current Portions

Accumulated Borrowings
Net Federal from Nonfederal
Balance at Septermber 30 Revenues Appropriations U.S. Treasury Debt Total
Thousands of Dallars
2008 $ 2 664 460 % 4267861 % 2185900 % 6466872 % 15,576,083
Federal construction appropriations:
Increase - 176,887 - - 176,887
Repayment - (38,559 - - (38,559
Borrowings fram LS. Treasury:
Increase - - 338,000 - 338,000
Repayment - - (353 460) - (353 460)
MNonfederal debt:
Increase - - - 287 544 287,944
Repayment - - - (189832} (189,384)
lMet expenses (101,050) - - - (101,050)
Irrigation assistance (7133 - - - (7133
2008 $ 2556272 % 4,396,189 % 2130440 % 6,564 934 % 15,647,835
Federal construction appropriations:
Increase - 68,039 - - 68,039
Repayment - (204,829) - - (204,829)
Borrowings from U.S. Treasury:
Increase - - 638,000 - 638,000
Repayment - - (255,000) - (255,000)
Nonfederal debt:
Increase - - - 27,351 27,351
Repayment - - - (270,525) (270,525)
Net expenses (127 ,581) - - - (127 ,581)
2010 $ 2,428,691 $ 4,259,399 $ 2,513,440 $ 6,321,760 $ 15,523,290

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Federal Columbia River Power System
Combined Statements of Cash Flows

Far the Years Ended
September 30
2010 2009 2008

Thousands of Dollars
Cash provided by and (used for) operating activities

Met (expenses) revenues $ (127,581) $ (101,050) $ 264,845
MNon-cash items:
Depreciation and amaortization 368,371 355574 358,064
Amortization of nonfederal projects 270,525 185 882 142423
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments (14,800) 34,708 30,535
Changes in:
Receivables and unbilled revenues (30,109) 32 561 6,721
Materials and supplies (8.185) (1,893) (7,389
Prepaid expenses (1.180) (2.870) (1,744
Accounts payable and other 91,915 (133548) 240,692
Regulatory assets and liahilities (164,775) 35,897 345 541
Other assets and liabilities (13,813) (136,690) (1.054.411)
MNet cash provided by operating activities 370,368 268 4649 829,181

Cash provided by and (used for) investing activities
Investment in:

Utility plant (including AFUDC) (683,680) (575,083) (412,085)
IS, Treasury Securities:

Purchases (100,000) (110,000} -

Maturities 44,683 9891 -
Monfederal nuclear decommissioning trusts (8.753) |2 (7,300
Special purpose carporations' trust funds:

Deposits to (4,646) (1958.916) (74.474)

Feceipts from 39,780 108081 B5.779

MNet cash used for investing activities (712,616) [ 775,238) (428,050)

Cash provided by and (used for) financing activities
Federal construction appropriations:

Increase 86,470 176 887 70,929
Repayment (204,829) (38.559) (150,665)
Borrowings fram LS. Treasury:
Increase 638,000 338,000 350,000
Repayment (255,000) (393 460) (404 ,600)
Monfederal deht:
Increase 4,646 195 916 74474
Repayment (270,525) (189,882) (142.423)
Customers:
Advances for construction 92,786 3492 70,356
Reimbursements to custamers (27.,648) (16,708) (10,854}
Irrigation assistance - (7,138) (2,950
et cash provided by and (used for) financing activities 63,900 132 530 (145437)
MNet (decrease) and increase in cash and cash equivalents (278,348) (374219) 255 6934
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear 1,357,019 1,731,238 1475544
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,078,671 § 1,357.019 ¢ 1,731,238

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized $ 365773 ¢ 362305 § 345,980

Significant noncash investing and financing activities:

Accrued capital expenditures $ 46,247 ¢ 33328 ¢ 7.999
Federal construction appropriations $ (18,431) $ - $ -
Monfederal deht $ 22,705 ¢ 85028 ¢ (16,232}

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Combination and consolidation of entities

The Federal Columbia River Power System (FCRPS) financial statements combine the accounts of the
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA), the accounts of the Pacific Northwest generating facilities of the U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) and the Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) as well as the operation and
maintenance costs of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for the Lower Snake River Compensation Plan
facilities. Consolidated with BPA are “Special Purpose Corporations” known as Northwest Infrastructure
Financing Corporations (NIFCs), from which BPA leases certain transmission facilities (see Note 9, Nonfederal
Debt).

BPA is the power marketing administration that purchases, transmits and markets power for the FCRPS. Each
of the combined entities is separately managed and financed, but the facilities are operated as an integrated
power system with the financial results combined as the FCRPS. While the costs of Corps and Reclamation
projects serve multiple purposes, only the power portion of total project costs are assigned to the FCRPS
through a cost-allocation process. All intracompany and intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated from the combined financial statements.

FCRPS accounts are maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of the United
States of America and the uniform system of accounts prescribed for electric utilities by the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC). FCRPS accounting policies also reflect specific legislation and directives
issued by U.S. government agencies. BPA is a component of the U.S. Department of Energy; Reclamation and
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service are part of the U.S. Department of the Interior; and the Corps is part of the
U.S. Department of Defense. U.S. government properties and income are tax-exempt.

Revisions

During fiscal year 2010 management modified its method for presentation of nonfederal projects transactions in
the Combined Statements of Cash Flows. The revised method eliminates the presentation of noncash
nonfederal projects transactions and modifies the presentation of debt repayments that are included in
Nonfederal projects expense. The Combined Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal years 2009 and 2008 have
been revised to conform to the new methodology. The change in methodology and the revisions to fiscal years
2009 and 2008 had no impact on total cash flows.

The revised cash flow method impacted cash provided by or used for operating, investing and financing
activities as follows:

As of Sept. 30 — thousands of dollars 2009 2008
Cash provided by operating activities $ 60,427 $ (43,648)
Cash used for investing activities 27,600 27,415
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities (88,027) 16,233

Net impact to total cash flows $ — $ —
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Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Rates and regulatory authority

BPA establishes separate power and transmission rates in accordance with several statutory directives. Rates
proposed by BPA are subjected to an extensive formal review process, after which they are proposed by BPA
and reviewed by FERC. FERC's review is limited to three standards set out in the Pacific Northwest Electric
Power Planning and Conservation Act (Northwest Power Act), 16 U.S.C. 839, and a standard set out by the
Energy Policy Act of 1992, 16 U.S.C. 824. Statutory standards include a requirement that these rates be
sufficient to assure repayment of the federal investment in the FCRPS over a reasonable number of years after
first meeting BPA'’s other costs.

After final FERC approval, BPA’s rates may be reviewed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth
Circuit (Ninth Circuit Court). Action seeking such review must be filed within 90 days of the final FERC decision.
The Ninth Circuit Court may either confirm or reject a rate proposed by BPA.

In accordance with authoritative guidance for Regulated Operations (see Note 4, Effects of Regulation) certain
costs or credits may be included in rates for recovery over a future period and are recorded as regulatory assets
or liabilities. Regulatory assets or liabilities are amortized over the periods they are included in rates. Costs are
recovered through rates during the periods when the costs are scheduled to be repaid. Amortization is
computed using either the straight-line method or is based upon specific amounts included in rates each year.
When the straight-line method is used, it is based upon either the estimated service lives or the periods the
costs are included in rates. Since BPA's rates are not structured to provide a rate of return on rate base assets,
regulatory assets are recovered at cost without an additional rate of return.

In fiscal year 2010, BPA began applying Regulated Operations accounting treatment to the unrealized gains and
losses related to certain power purchase and power sale contracts. This was the result of changes in BPA’s forward
energy procurement process in 2010 whereby BPA began entering into forward electricity contracts to meet Tier 2
energy requirements under the new Long-Term Regional Dialogue Final Policy and Record of Decision in effect
beginning on Oct. 1, 2011. Many of these contracts are considered derivatives and recorded at fair value. Concurrent
with this operational change, BPA evaluated all contracts that are subject to mark-to-market accounting to determine
if the related contract costs are included in BPA'’s rate structures in effect for fiscal year 2010 and beyond. As a resullt
of this reassessment and evaluation, management determined that all such contracts are included in BPA’s cost of
service and are recoverable in future rates. Under this accounting treatment, future changes in the unrealized fair
value of derivative assets and liabilities will have no impact on the net revenues of BPA.

Utility plant

Utility plant is stated at original cost and includes generation and transmission assets. Generation assets were
$7.8 billion and $7.6 billion, and transmission assets were $6.6 billion and $6.3 billion at Sept. 30, 2010, and
2009, respectively. The costs of substantial additions, major replacements and substantial betterments are
capitalized. Cost includes direct labor and materials; payments to contractors; indirect charges for engineering,
supervision and similar overhead items and an allowance for funds used during construction. Maintenance,
repairs and replacements of items determined to be less than major units of property are charged to
maintenance and operating expense as incurred. The cost of retiring utility plant units less any salvage
proceeds is charged to accumulated depreciation when removed from service.

Depreciation

Depreciation of the original cost of generation plant is computed using straight-line methods based on
estimated service lives of the various classes of property, which average 75 years. For transmission plant,
depreciation of original cost and estimated net cost of removal is computed primarily on the straight-line group-
life method based on estimated service lives of the various classes of property, which average 40 years. The
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net cost of removal is included in depreciation rates; however, in the event there is negative salvage, a
reclassification of the negative salvage reserve not associated with asset retirement obligations is made from
accumulated depreciation to a regulatory liability.

Allowance for funds used during construction

Allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) represents the estimated cost of interest on financing
the construction of new assets. AFUDC is based on the construction work in progress balance and is charged
to the capitalized cost of the utility plant asset. AFUDC is a noncash reduction of interest expense.

FCRPS capitalizes AFUDC at one rate for Corps and Reclamation construction funded by congressional
appropriations and at another rate for construction funded substantially by BPA. The rates for appropriated
funds are provided each year to BPA by the U.S. Treasury, whereas the BPA rate is determined based on
BPA’s weighted-average cost of borrowing. The respective rates were approximately 0.4 percent and 4.8 percent
in fiscal year 2010, 2.0 percent and 5.2 percent in fiscal year 2009, and 4.3 percent and 5.4 percent in fiscal
year 2008.

Nonfederal generation

BPA has acquired all of the generating capability of Energy Northwest’s Columbia Generating Station (CGS)
nuclear power plant. The contracts to acquire the generating capability of the project require BPA to pay all or
part of the annual project budget, including operating expense and debt service. BPA also has acquired all of
the output of the Lewis County PUD’s Cowlitz Falls Hydroelectric Project and pays all operating expense and
debt service. BPA recognizes expenses for these projects based upon total project cash funding requirements.
The nonfederal generation assets in the Combined Balance Sheets represent intangible assets equal to the
related nonfederal debt associated with those generation assets. These intangible assets are amortized as the
principal on the outstanding bonds is repaid (see Note 9, Nonfederal Debt).

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, amounts include cash in the BPA fund with the U.S. Treasury and
unexpended appropriations of the Corps and Reclamation. Cash equivalents represent short-term U.S.
Treasury market-based special securities with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of investment. Although
BPA began investing in market-based special securities in fiscal year 2009, fiscal year 2010 is the first year that
BPA has held such securities with maturities of 90 days or less (see Note 3, Investments in U.S. Treasury
Securities). The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Concentrations of credit risks
General credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the FCRPS to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
BPA accounts receivable. Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognized if counterparties fail to
perform as contracted.

BPA’s accounts receivable are spread across a diverse group of public utilities, investor-owned utilities (IOUs),
power marketers, wind generators and others that are located throughout the western United States and
Canada. The accounts receivable exposure results from BPA providing a wide variety of power products and
transmission services. BPA’s counterparties are generally large and stable and do not represent a significant
concentration of credit risk. During fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008, BPA experienced no significant losses as
a result of any customer defaults or bankruptcy filings.

Credit risk is mitigated at BPA by reviewing counterparties for creditworthiness, establishing credit limits and
monitoring credit exposure on a daily basis. In order to further manage credit risk, BPA obtains credit support,
such as letters of credit, parental guarantees, cash in the form of prepayment and deposit or escrow from some
counterparties. Counterparties are monitored closely for changes in financial condition and credit reviews are
updated regularly.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts

Management reviews accounts receivable on a monthly basis to determine if any receivable will potentially be
uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts includes amounts estimated through an evaluation of
specific accounts, based upon the best available facts and circumstances of customers that may be unable to
meet their financial obligations and a reserve for all other customers based on historical experience.

The largest risk relates to the California power markets that were in turmoil during 2000 to 2001 when they
experienced historically high power prices and volatility, along with continued uncertainty related to deregulation.
The California Independent System Operator and California Power Exchange were customers with whom BPA
had contracts for power and transmission delivery during that period and they have been unable to fully pay
BPA for their purchases. BPA has recorded an allowance for these accounts, which in management’s best
estimate is sufficient to cover potential exposure. Net exposure after this allowance is not significant. BPA has
continued to pursue collection of amounts due.

Post-retirement benefits

Federal employees associated with the operation of the FCRPS are participants in either the Civil Service
Retirement System (CSRS) or the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS). Both federal employers and
their employees contribute a percentage of eligible employee compensation toward funding these post-
retirement benefit plans. Based on the statutory contribution rates, retirement benefit expense under CSRS is
equivalent to 7 percent of eligible employee compensation and under FERS is equivalent to 11.2 percent of
eligible employee compensation. For fiscal year 2010, the combined employee and employer contribution levels
for CSRS and FERS do not fully cover the cost to the federal government to provide the plan benefits.
Therefore, the programs are considered underfunded (see Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies).
Employees also may participate in the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program and/or the Federal
Employees’ Group Life Insurance Program, which are similarly underfunded. Retirement benefits under the
federal retirement systems are payable by the U.S. Treasury.

Derivative instruments

BPA follows the Derivatives and Hedging accounting guidance that requires every derivative instrument be
recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability measured at its fair value and also requires that a change
in the derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are
met.

Itis BPA'’s policy to document and apply as appropriate the normal purchases and normal sales exception under the
Derivatives and Hedging accounting guidance. Purchases and sales of forward electricity contracts are
generally considered normal purchases and normal sales if they require physical delivery, are expected to be
used or sold by BPA in the normal course of business and meet the definition of capacity described in the
Derivatives and Hedging accounting guidance. These transactions are not required to be recorded at fair value
in the financial statements. Recognition of these contracts in Sales or Purchased power costs in the Combined
Statements of Revenues and Expenses occurs when the contracts settle.

In fiscal year 2010, BPA began applying Regulated Operations accounting treatment to its derivative instruments that
do not qualify for the normal purchases and normal sales exception and are recorded at market values. As such
these unrealized gains or losses associated with derivative instruments are recorded on the Combined Balance
Sheets under Regulatory assets or Regulatory liabilities.

Fair value

BPA'’s carrying amounts of current assets and current liabilities approximates fair value based on the short-term
nature of these instruments. In accordance with authoritative guidance for Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures, BPA uses fair value measurements to record adjustments to certain financial assets and liabilities
and to determine fair value disclosures. When developing fair value measurements, it is BPA’s policy to use
quoted market prices whenever available, or to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when quoted market prices are not available. Fair values are primarily developed using
industry standard models that consider various inputs including: (a) quoted forward prices for commodities;
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(b) time value; (c) volatility factors; (d) current market and contractual prices for underlying instruments;
(e) market interest rates and yield curves; and (f) credit spreads, as well as other relevant economic measures
(see Note 11, Risk Management and Derivative Instruments and Note 12, Fair Value Measurements).

Revenues and net revenues

Operating revenues are recorded when services are rendered and include estimated unbilled revenues.
Because BPA is a federal government power marketing administration, net revenues over time are committed to
repayment of the U.S. government investment in the FCRPS, the payment of certain irrigation costs (see

Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies) and the payment of operational obligations, including debt for both
operating and nonoperating nonfederal projects.

Interest income

Interest income represents both interest earned on BPA'’s fund balance with the U.S. Treasury in the form of
interest credits and interest earned on investments in market-based special securities. BPA earns interest on
cash balances in the fund at the weighted-average interest rate of its outstanding U.S. Treasury borrowings
and reduces its monthly debt interest payments by the interest earned. BPA began investing in market-based
special securities in October 2008. Interest earnings on investments are dependent on the performance of the
market-based special securities and interest earned is a cash receipt.

U.S. Treasury credits for fish

The Pacific Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act of 1980 obligates the BPA administrator to
make expenditures for fish and wildlife protection, mitigation and enhancement for both power and nonpower
purposes on a reimbursement basis. The Northwest Power Act also specifies that consumers of electric power,
through their rates for power services, “shall bear the costs of measures designed to deal with adverse impacts
caused by the development and operation of electric power facilities and programs only.” Section 4(h)(10)(C) of
the Northwest Power Act was designed to ensure that the costs of mitigating these impacts are properly
accounted for among the various purposes of the hydroelectric projects. As such, BPA reduces its cash
payments to the U.S. Treasury by an amount equal to the mitigation measures funded on behalf of the
nonpower purposes.

Residential Exchange Program

In order to provide qualifying regional utilities, primarily I0Us, access to benefits from the FCRPS, Congress
established the Residential Exchange Program (REP) in Section 5(c) of the Northwest Power Act. Whenever a
Pacific Northwest electric utility offers to sell power to BPA at the utility’s average system cost (ASC) of
resources, BPA purchases such power and offers, in exchange, to sell an equivalent amount of power at BPA’s
Priority Firm (PF) Exchange rate to the utility for resale to that utility’s residential and small farm consumers.
REP costs are forecast for each year of the rate period and included in the revenue requirement for
establishing rates. They are collected in rates with program costs recognized when incurred net of the
purchase and sale of power under the REP.

In fiscal year 2008, BPA filed the 2007 Supplemental Wholesale Power Rate Case (WP-07 Supplemental Rate
Case) to resolve outstanding claims and associated judicial rulings related to prior REP billings. In connection
with that filing, Lookback Amounts due to and due from BPA customers were identified and recorded as
regulatory amounts. Such Lookback Amounts are being collected from identified IOU customers and are being
returned to the consumer-owned utilities (COUs) over time. In each succeeding rate case, the BPA
administrator designates the amount to be recovered from the I0Us and returned to each qualifying COU.
These amounts do not reduce rates, but are reflected as credits to qualifying COUs’ bills as designated in the
corresponding Final Rec